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HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year-on-year %

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Increase

Assets F3 70 f6.1b £10.1b £16.4b E21.6b +32%
Depaosits from customers f29b £5.1b £8.0b F11 70 £157b +34%
Net average deposits per store per month f49m £5.3m £5.7m £6.3m £5.9m -6%
Loans and advances t¢ customers £1.6b f£35b £5.9b £96D £14.2b +48%
Underlying profit/{loss) before tax! £{48.9Im £{46.6Jm £(11.7)m £20.8m £50.0m +140%
Statutory profit/(loss) before tax £{48.6)m E(56.8)m F(17.2)m £187m £40.6m +117%

Underlying profit before taxt Statutory profit before tax Loan to deposit ratio

£50.0m £40.6m 91%

Up 140% from £20.8 million in 2017 Up 117% from E£18.7 million in 2017 Increased from 82% in 2017

STRATEGIC

+ Record increase in customer accounts from 1,217,000
to 1,620,000

+ Came top in the Competition and Markets Authority
{'CMA) customer service results for retait current accounts?

+ Delivered our promise to provide £1 billion of net lending
to small businesses for the second year running

+ Completed a £303 million capital raise at market value
and inaugural debt issuance of £250 million

Number one service for personal customers...
Personal Current Accounts Overall Quality of Service

OPERATIONAL

Ten new store openings, bringing the Revolution further
west to Bristo! and Bath, and to the East Midlands with
the opening of cur Northampton store. Our 66th store
opened in January 2019 in Moorgate, London

Welcomed 800 colleagues, bringing cur total number
to over 3,500

Five star rated mobile app

Launch of ‘Insights’ on our app for personal customers
- using artificial intelligence to help them better
understand how they are using their money

... and well positioned for the top spot in SME
Business Current Accounts Overall Quality of Service

1. Underlying profit/(loss} before tax excludes Listing Share Awards, costs associated with listing, impairment of property, plant and equéipment and intangible assets and costs relating
to RBS alternative remedies package application. We use this measure to better reflect the ongoing performance of the business. Further details are available on page 165

2. CMA results from FeBruary 201%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Vernon W. Hill, I, Chairman

Just eight short years after we opened the doors to our

first store in central Londan, we have brought the Revolution
to 66 communities, welcomed 1.6 million accounts and
created 3,900 jobs. This is a phenomenal achievement from
a standing start,

Our success has been built on:
+« A differentiated, value-~added MODEL
« Apervasive and reinforcing CULTURE

+ And FANATICAL EXECUTION which AMAZES our
customers and EXCEEDS their expectations.

Ouir relentless focus on delivering the absolute best in
customer service across every channel has been at the
heart of our success. Every day we are attracting new
customers — FANS — to join our brand, experience our
service and they recommend us to their friends.

This unique appreach has benefited us again in 2018, and
we have delivered another record year. We have delivered
this record growth at a continued low cost of risk, which fell
to 0.07% {2017: 0.11%).

As we continue to grow, we remain committed to improving
and expanding our mode| and customer experience.
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Customer deposits grew

34% .£15.7b

Gndarl);iﬁg_ profit before tax grew

140% ..£50.0m

Statutmﬁrdﬁt before tax grew

M7% ..£40.6m

Creating a Revolution presents challenges and opportunities,
each of which we embrace as our commitment to our FANS
and communities remains cur constant goal.

Many thanks to our FANS, colleagues and investors.
Vernon W. Hill, il ;
Founder and Chairman - 5 7

A v
10 April 2019 L & M &



CHIEF EXECUTIVE

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OFFICER’S STATEMENT

Craig Donaldson, Chief Executive Officer

2018 was another successful year of strong growth for
Metro Bank. Despite a challenging operating environment,
especially in the fourth quarter, the model continued tc go
from strength to strength. We've delivered this growth while
continuing to make substantial investment in our digital and
physical infrastructure and maintaining our unique culture.

| am particularly proud that our achievements were recognised
in the CMA customer satisfaction survey that was published in
February 2019, with us coming top for personal and second

for business banking for overall quality of service. Delivering
this exceptional level of customer service while growing our
balance sheet by 32% year-on-year is truly impressive.

Our success in securing the top award of £120 million from
the Capability and Innovation {{C&1) Fund as part of the
RBS Alternative Remedies Package is recognition of our
commitment to the underserved small and medium
enterprise ('SME’} banking market. These funds will allow
us to build on our plans to bring much needed competition
to SME hotspots in the North of England, while also
investing in our digital capabilities.

Although the business is performing well, the back half

of the year, particularly the fourth quarter, saw us face
headwinds from the wider macroeconomic environment
and particularly in the form of net interest margin {'NIM')
compression, as despite a further base rate rise, yields fell.
This is primarily due to excess market liquidity following the
introduction of ring fencing for our larger competitors.

Looking forward, we remain committed to our core strategy of
creating FANS, attracting low-cost deposits and lending at low
risk through our integrated customer experience of ‘bricks and
clicks’ banking. However, we are conscious of the need to
adapt to the challenging conditions in the wider economic,
commercial and regulatory environment. To that end we are
implementing a range of strategic initiatives to deliver the next

phase of our growth. Our key objective is to balance

growth with profitability and capital efficiency, which means
moderating our rate of growth in response to the prevailing
margin environment. Furthermore, we will diversify our
lending mix to access attractive segments and optimise our
consumption of capital. Revenue growth will be accelerated by
expanding our fee income through new value-added services,
especially for SMEs supported by our C&l award. Finally, we
rmust accelerate our cost efficiency by driving our operating
teverage now we are achieving scale throughout the Bank.

Together these initiatives will place us in a better position
to continue to deliver high growth in a capital efficient way,
and | look forward to reporting on progress,

in January 2019 we announced that we had adjusted the

risk weighting of certain commercial loans secured on
commercial property and certain specialist buy-to-let loans
that had the combined effect of increasing our RWAs by £9500
million. Whilst the risk weightings have been adjusted, there
is no deterioration in the credit quality of the affected assets.
On 26 February 2019, we received notification that the PRA
and FCA are investigating the circumstances and events that
led to the RWA adjustment announced on 23 January 20195.
We will cooperate fully witl the PRA and FCA.

We are learning the lessons from this and will continue
to improve our systems and controls around capitat and
risk-weighted assets.

Finally, | would like to thank everyone at Metro Bank
including our customers, colleagues and shareholders,
without whom buiiding the revolution in British banking
would not be possible.

Craig Donaldson
Chief Executive Officer
10 April 2019
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OUR INTEGRATED APPROACH

Our investment in an integrated approach
continues, delivering the best in store,
online and app customer experience

ONLINE

Qur simple and secure online banking allows
customers to manage cards and savings,
browse transactions, open new accounts -
all from the comfort of the sofa. Customers
can even open current accounts online,
irrespective of where in the UK they live.

If they live near a store, they can alsc opt

to pop in and have their card printed on the
spot. Just one of many examples of how we
are seamlessly integrating 'bricks and clicks”.

Best Digital
Onboarding strategy
Global Retail Banking

Awards 2018

IN STORE

Qur stores are open early until late, seven days
a week, 362 days a year with friendly colleagues
ready to help. They are built around the
philosophy of delivering instant fulfilment to
customers. Whether that be free coin counting
for customers and non-customers alike through
to the introduction in 2018 of a ‘walk out trading’
service to businesses, allowing them to leave our
store with their account fully set up and the ability
to instantly take electronic payments.

No.1 for ‘service in branches’
in the February 2019 CMA
independent Service
Quality Survey
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STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ON THE APP

QOur award-winning mobile banking app allows
customers to make payments and manage
their accounts and cards on the go. This year
we've introduced ‘Insights”. By looking at a
customer’s account history, ‘Insights’ can
identify patterns, trends and upcoming
payments. |t then creates personalised reports
and breakdowns to show how a customer is
using their money, providing them with more
control over their finances.

Five star rating of our
app in the App Store

OVER THE PHONE

Qur call centres are based in the communities
we serve and our friendly colleagues are
available 24 hours a day, seven days a week,
365 days a year. We are focused on giving
customers a choice of how they interact with
us and not forcing them into digital-only
channels. Being able to speak to a human day
or night remains central to our approach.

Highly commended
best current account
provider for call
centre service

METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPCRT AND ACCOUNTS 2018 05



OUR MARKET

An evolving marketplace offering exciting opportunities

Consumer trends

Digital

The trend towards digital banking continues to accelerate,
across all segments of the market. Qur investment in
simple, scalable technology is now a clear advantage

as we offer a level of choice and service that others

simply cannot match.

This is demonstrated by our online personal current account
opening experience, launched at the beginning of 2018.
With the help of ‘selfie’ |D verification, new customers can
open a ready-to-use account in less than 10 minutes, with
debit cards delivered the next day or available for immediate
collection from any of our stores. This market-leading
proposition extends our reach throughout the UK and

to a significant proportion of customers that now choose

to open new accounts online.

Our mobile app is the centrepiece of cur digital strategy,
now adding over 40,000 customers and exceeding 10
million logins a month. Cver 50% of Instant Access Savings
Accounts are now opened inside our app. ‘Insights’ — our Al
powered mobile financial assistant — is a first among UK high
street banks and helps to simplify customers’ financial lives
by providing a new level of visibility over their transactions.

06 METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018

Changing landscapes

Fintech is opening up a new world of opportunity, which we
are already integrating into cur proposition. Qur investment
in a developer portal, which supports ocur compliance with
the second payment services directive {{PSD2’), makes it
easier than ever for fintech start-ups and others to create
innovative integrations that offer our customers new
convenience and functionality. We expect small businesses
to most benefit from the new Open Banking revolution and
our investment in market-leading online banking and API
platforms positions us extremely well.

Demand for better

Customers are increasingly voting with their feet and
initiatives such as the current account switch guarantee
scheme are encouraging competition and making it easier
for customers to move banks. It has never been so easy for
consumers to benefit from the wide variety of choice in the
deposit and lending markets. This comes at a time when
consumers are wanting more out of their bank. In an age
of ‘click and collect’ seamlessly integrating the digital and
physical worlds, people are demanding the same of their
financial service needs.

Our integrated approach and capability are aligned to this
trend. For example, when one of our FANS has lost their
debit card they can block it on our mobile app and walk into
store, seven days a week, to print a new one straight away.
We are deploying technology in ways that delight customers
and offer true instant fulfilment.



Industry trends

Branch closures

Traditional players within the industry continue their
programme of branch closures. 2018 saw another series
of branch closures announced.

Only ourselves and one other player have bucked this trend
through additional openings. We are opening our stores in
major centres and therefore even when our network is fully
established we will still have a significantly more focused
footprint than most of our high street competitors.

Due to our new technology stack we are uniquely able to
¢combine physical and digital banking to unlock the value of
our customers in a way other providers in the market cannot.
2018 saw us launch our ‘walk out trading’ proposition where
SMEs can open a new bank account and leave the store with
a connected merchant services terminal, allowing them to
take card payments on the same day.

Competitive pressures

The UK retail banking space remains highly competitive and
despite a further Bank of England base rate rise during 2018
lending yields reduced, driven largely by excess liquidity held
by certain organisations.

Additionally, the entrance of a number of new players into
the wider deposit market has driven deposit pricing higher.
However, our strategy of attracting low-cost deposits, in the
form of current accounts continues to give us a structural
advantage. In addition our interest rates on savings accounts
are less market sensitive as we aim to attract deposits on the
basis of service and convenience, rather than price.

Macro trends

Capital and funding

Capital markets towards the end of 2018 were subdued,
largely driven by global economic uncertainty and
quantitative tightening.

The current capital regime combined with our strong
growth means at present we are not capital self-supportive.
We successfully completed a £303 million capital raise

and a £250 million debt issuance in 2018 to support our
growth. Over the coming year we will need to raise further
growth funding including up to c.£500 million of MREL
qualifying debt.

In addition to raising external capital we are working on
ensuring maximum capital efficiency, further details of
which can be found in the Finance Review on page 27.

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Global uncertainty

2018 saw increasing uncertainty around macroeconomic
policies as well as downward revisions to growth estimates,
both in the UK and globally. This was driven by several
factors including China and US trade tensions, subdued
growth in some key Eurozone economies and continued
uncertainty surrounding Brexit.

Despite these uncertainties we have successfully delivered
significant growth across the Bank. We have achieved this
by leveraging the inherent strengths in our business model.
A focus on providing unsurpassed levels of personal and
business service has seen us capture an increasing
percentage of the deposit market, enabling us to grow
lending prudentiy despite increased levels of competition.
Lending growth has in turn allowed us to make investments
in automation and straight through processing in our back
office functions in order to start to reduce the costs and
increase the speed with which we are able to deliver new
products, services and experiences to customers. It all adds
up to a self-reinforcing model that puts creating FANS at the
heart of what we do.

Growth of SMEs

Structural changes in the economy combined with more
flexible ways of working are leading SMEs to fast become
the driving force of growth in the UK. Our unique SME
proposition is benefiting from this trend. We have the fastest
growing market share of business current accounts {'BCAs’)
in the UK. From a standing start in 2010, we have now
captured 2.1% of the SME market, growing faster than any
other bank in the UK at a 31% compound annual growth rate
('CAGR’). In the coming years we will likely be able to surpass
5% of market share threshold (the threshold at which the
CMA define a bank as being a credible market competitor).

Qur impact is greatest where we have established stores.
Qur market share in London is 3.2% and growing rapidly.

For the 12 months to the end of Q3 2018, we attracted 4%

of new BCAs nationally, 5% in the South East and 11% in
London. Additionally we attracted 17% of all business based
in London that chose to move their accounts. Some 88% of
these switchers were from the largest five banks. Our growth
is more than just BCAs. We have a 1.7% market share of total
SME deposits and captured a 15% share of new SME deposits
in 2018.

Find out about cur SME offering on pages 18 and 19
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BUSINESS MODEL

Creating FANS by generating exceptional
customer experiences

Our unique, integrated, disruptive
INPUTS approach to UK banking

Metro Bank brand

2018 saw brand
860/ awareness at 86%
(o] in London and 54% INVESTING IN

brand recognition nationally. This, for

in London a company that has
never spent a penny on
large-scale advertising.

Integrated store network

At 66* stores and

66 growing, if we aren't
in your area, we will

stores be soon. Our stores + AMAZEING behaviours
are integrated with UNIQUE .
the latest technology CULTURE
to ensure we are also

evolving to meet cur
customers’ needs.

Everyone’s an owner

*Including Moorgate which
opened in January 2019

OUR
PURPOSE
Skilled and passionate colleagues IT'S ALL
_ : ABOUT
We hnre_ for attlﬁude . CREATING
and train for skill, This
3,900
5 approach ensures we

colleagues have experienced and
dedicated colleagues
committed to
helping us meet our
customers’ needs. INTEGRATED + Instant fulfilment

TECHNOLOGY + Choice of channels

Easily accessible
Our stores are open
362 362 days a year early
‘til late and our AMAZE
days a year our direct call centres
stores are open and digital banking
offerings never sleep. « Open 362 days a
Accounts can be year, early 'til late STORE

opened in minutes in
store or online. Joining
the revolution has
never been so easy.

« Instant fulfilment — EXPANSION
‘walk out working’

o1:] METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018



LONG-TERM
VALUE

Reliable growth for the
long term

Focused on creating and
supporting FANS

« Simple and fair products

» Low risk and diversified
* Across retail, commercial,

LOW-RISK
LENDING

business and private

GENERATING
LONG-TERM
VALUE FOR
EVERYBODY

« lLow cost and diversified

« Across retail, commercial,

LOW-COST
DEPOSITS

business and private

CREATES
FANS AND

FANS BRING...

Refer friends and family
Bring more of their business

OUTPUTS

Profitability

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

+140%

increasein
underlying profit
before tax

Lending

Our underlying profit
increased 140%

to £50.0 million,
demonstrating that
the business model
works and delivers
increasing profitability
as we achieve scale.

£14.2b

net lending

We delivered a record
increase of £4.2 billion
in net lending in 2018,
doing so at a continued
low cost of risk.

Deposits
Qur deposit base
£15 7b remains diverse. At
u an average cost of
deposits deposits of 61bps for
2018, 14bps below the
year end base rate,
these continue to be
won at a low cost.
FANS

No.1

for overall customer
service

Accounts

We are proud to have
come top in the latest
CMA ranking for overall
service quality for our
personal accounts®, as
well as second for
business accounts too.
*February 2019 CMA survey

1.6m

customer accounts

With over 1.6 million
accounts and growing,
we are winning
customers, creating
FANS and increasing
market share in every
area we operate in.

METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018 09



STRATEGY

Growing our business profitably by creating FANS

Initiatives

Progress

INTEGRATED MODEL

We create FANS by 'surprising and
delighting’ custormers across every
channel - through integrating physical
and digital channels through our
technology and AMAZEING colleagues.

Read more on page 12

We opened ten new stores in 2018, expanding our network
to new communities including Southampton, Oxford
and Bristol.

We've continued to launch game-changing new
technological capability including Current Account Online
which went live in January 2018. This allows accounts to
be opened in a matter of minutes using ‘selfie’ identification
and verification. It brings the era of ‘click and collect’ to
banking with the option of collecting debit cards and
cheque hooks straight away from any of our stores.

We also launched 'Walk Out Trading’ for business
customers; this allows instant trading including accepting
debit and credit card payments, without having to wait
weeks for a point-of-sale machine to arrive.

UNIQUE CULTURE

We recruit, train and lead our colleagues to
deliver our unigue value-added model and
create FANS in each of our communities.

Read more on page 13

During the year we welcomed 800 new colleagues and
celebrated 730 promotions as the business grew. We also
ranked in the top 25 ‘2019 best places to work’ by
Glassdocr, the only bank recognised.

In October we also taunched an MSc in digital banking in
partnership with Cranfield University. This is the first
partnership of its type in the UK and will ensure colleagues
from across the organisation have the skills and confidence
to be able to continue the banking revolution in the

years ahead.

DIVERSIFIED LOW-COST
DEPOSITS

We attract deposits through our integrated
maodel and unigue culture, which creates FANS.

Read more on page 13

We grew our total deposits by 34% to £15.7 billion at
31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: £11.7 billion).

We continue to enjoy a diversified deposit base with 53% of
deposits coming from commercial customers (2017: 53%).

Cost of deposits rose during the year to 0.61% up from

a record low of 0.54% in 2017 following another base
rate rise. The deposit market has become increasingly
competitive following the arrival of hew entrants into

the marketplace. As 30% of our deposits are from current
accounts (2017: 32%), the impact is limited such that our
cost of deposits fell to below the Bank of England base
rate in the year.

LOW-RISK DIVERSIFIED
LENDING

We offer simple lending products that meet the
personal and husiness needs of cur customers.
Qur customer-centric underwriting process
aims to ensure a low-risk loan book, which

is the foundation of long-term growth.

Read more on page 13
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We grew our total loans by 48% to £14.2 billion at

31 December 2018 {31 December 2017: £9.6 billion).
Lending growth continued to be primarily organic but was
supplemented by the purchase of a seasoned UK mortgage
portfolio in March 2018.

Cost of risk fell to 0.07% (2017: 0.11%} driven by a strong
lending portfolio consisting of 67% retail mortgages and
27% well-secured commercial term loans. Cur debt to
value ('DTV') on retail mortgages is 61% (2017: 60%) and
on commercial term loans is 59% {(2017: 58%).

We once again delivered £1 billion in net lending to
businesses, further supporting the UK economy.



KPis

Evolution of our strategy in 2019

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See more See more
on page 31 on page B5
Risk Remuneration

1.6m.....

number of customer accounts

N 0.1 {2017 n/al

Overall quality of service for personal
accounts in latest (February 2019)
CMA results

Open eight new stores including
our new store at Moorgate which
opened in January

Open twe additional stores in the
North as part of our successful
Cé&l fund bid

Maintain investment in our digital
and physical infrastructure as well
as integration between the two to
ensure we are leading the market
and delivering the needs of new
and existing FANS

A Customer
accounts
{financial)

C Customers

96% {2017 96%)

of colleagues think Metro Bank is a great
place to work in our annual voice of the
colleague survey

Continue to develop colleagues

Expand opportunities
outside London

Build upon the success of our
apprenticeship programme,
including continuing

cur partnership with
Cranfield University

2 Operational D People

7 Conduct

£5.9m......

deposits per store per month

%
0.61 °(2017 0 54%}

cost of deposits

Continue to win business and
commercial customers from
incumbent players. This includes
RBS, from which SMEs will be
incentivised to switch from under
the Alternative Remedies Package

Continue to attract new deposits
through new store openings

Continue to build upon the success
of Current Account Cnline as well
as the continued performance of
the existing network

Deepen the relationships with our
existing custometrs, servicing more
of their financial service needs and
attracting associated fees

3 Funding and
liquidity

A Deposit
performance
{financial}

4 Market

5 Financial
crime

6 Regulatory

2 l67% (2017 2 69%)

customer net interest margin plus fees

0-1 5% (2017.0 27%)

non-performing loans ratio

0.07% (2017 0.11%)

cost of risk

Continue to focus on low-risk
mortgages which are both cost
efficient and deliver a higher return
on equity

Use C8&l funding to broaden
lending to SME and commetrcial
trading businesses

Grow unsecured lending

business as the risk-reward

trade off improves

1 Credit A Lending
performance
4 Market {financial)

6 Regulatory B Risk

8 Model
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OPERATING REVIEW

Putting our strategy into action

Our strategy
We are a high-growth retailer delivering best-in-class
banking. We do this by:

= creating FANS with our integrated customer
experience model;

« fostering our unique culture;
= growing our low-cost deposits; and
+ offering low-risk and diversified lending.

Over the course of 2018 we have continued to deliver
progress in all of these areas, despite a challenging operating
environment in the second half of the year. As well as
delivering year-on-year balance sheet growth of 32% we
have been rated first for overall quality of service for
personal banking in the latest CMA survey and also awarded
£120 million from the Capability and Innovation Fund of the
RBS Alternative Remedies Package, which will accelerate our
SME offering.

Read more about our strategy on pages 10 and 11.

A truly integrated model

2018 has seen us deliver record investment in both our
digital and physical offerings, as well as the integration
of the two, in order to make our customers’ lives easier.

As well as the rollout of ‘Current Account Online’ opening
for our retail customers we also launched our ‘Walk Out
Trading' service for business accounts. ‘Walk Cut Trading' is
revolutionising SME banking, allowing businesses to receive
a card terminal in store, so that they can accept debit and
credit card payments as soon as they open their account.

12 METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCCOUNTS 2018

We understand that running a business can be time
pressured enough and, therefore, we aim to make our
business banking services as convenient and streamlined as
possible. Business Current Accounts can be set up on the
spot in store without an appointment in a matter of hours,
rather than days or weeks. Itis services like this that are
leading us to win 15% of business switchers in the

London area.

During the year, we continued to expand our store network
by opening ten new stores. This included the opening of a
flagship store in Bristol. Alongside the banking hall, the site
also houses a Metro Bank University site as well as space
for a back office team to support our growth in the West
Country and Wales in the years ahead.

In January, we opened our 66th store in Moorgate in London
and have a further seven stores in build. We will openin

new locations and markets including Enfield, Cardiff and

the Midlands during 2019. The £120 million award from the
Capability and Innovation Fund will accelerate the pace of
our growth into the North of England.

Our digital capabilities also continue to expand at pace

and in October we launched our artificial intelligence tool
— 'Insights’ — on our mobile app. 'Insights’ can identify
patterns, trends and upcoming payments in customers’
accounts and then create personalised reports and analysis
to allow them to better understand how they are using their
money. The feedback we have received in the few months
this has been live has been phenomenal. Looking ahead we
have plenty more exciting projects under development to
continue to improve our integrated customers’ experience
across 'bricks and clicks’.



Culture is at the heart of what we do

Out of everything we do at Metro Bank, our culture is at our
heart. Creating a truly differentiated approach to banking
cannot be achieved without the right people and attitude.

During the year we welcomed over 800 new colleagues

to the Bank. In addition, we continued to develop our
colleagues, promoting more than 730 to roles with greater
respensibility. In October, we launched an MSc in Retail and
Digital Banking, designed in partnership with Cranfield
University. By investing in our colleagues across the Bank
through initiatives such as this, we are ensuring that we

will continue to be a disruptive force in UK retail banking.

2018 also saw us expand the work we do within our
communities. During the year we hosted 3,500 community
and charity events in our stores as well as taking over 41,000
school children through our financial education programme,
Money Zone. We also continued to suppert our two charity
partners, Place28e and Alzheimer’s Society, and colleagues
have raised over £140,000 for these important causes during
the year.

Deposit-led banking

in 2018 we created more FANS than ever before, whoin turn
each trust us to deliver exceptional service at every point of
contact. Despite an increasingly competitive marketplace for
savings, we grew our deposits by 34% to over £15 billion and
continued to do so at low cost. This was assisted by the
expansion of our network by another ten stores, with new
markets including Southampton, Oxford and Bristol.

At the start of the year we launched ‘Current Account
Online’, allowing people all over the country to join the
revolution. This technology is truly game-changing, allowing
retail customers to open an account in less than ten minutes,
using ‘selfie’ identification technotogy. it also allows people
who live near our network to order online and pick up their
card straight away in store, finally bringing the era of ‘click
and collect’ to banking.

STRATEGIC REPORT
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Low-risk lending

The UK mortgage landscape remains challenging as despite
a further base rate rise, mortgage yields rernain broadly flat.
In spite of this headwind our lending engines continued to
deliver gains in market share, largely driven by organic
lending growth.

For the second year running we met our pledge to provide
£1 billion of net lending to businesses. Given our own
entrepreneurial beginnings, we understand the important
role that access to finance plays for all organisations.
Delivering this pledge has allowed thousands of businesses
to grow, recruit and innovate, benefiting their communities
and contributing to the success of the UK economy.

We continue to have local business managers in store
and on the phone whenever customers need them and
remain committed to offering simple and fair products
to our customers.

METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018 13



OPERATING REVIEW conTinuED

Strong capital base

Our balance sheet continues to be underpinned by our
strong capital position, supported by a further equity capital
raise of £303 million in July 2018,

We also completed our first-ever Tier 2 debt issuance,

to support our growth. We are grateful to our investors, both
existing and new, who believe in our model and supported
these transactions.

Locking forward, maintaining a strong capital position while
having the resources to support further capital efficient
growth remains a key focus for us. We plan to raise equity
of ¢.£350 million in 2019 and have a committed standhy
underwrite to support the transaction. The Chairman

and Executive Directors also intend to participate in this
fund raise.

It remains our intention to maintain a minimum Common
Equity Tier 1 (CETY') ratio of 12% and a requlatory leverage
ratio above 4%. Our capital planning also includes the
issuance of up to c.£500 million of MREL-eligible securities
in 2019 to meet our transitional MREL requirement by

1 January 2020.

Awards and recognition

2018 saw our work recognised across the board, including
being named as one of the UK's 25 best companies to work
for by Glassdoor.
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We were also ranked top for overall service quality in
personal banking in the second Competition and Market
Authority's {CMA']) Service Quality Survey released in
February 2019. We also came secend among business
account holders. We were the only bank to achieve a top
five spot for all qualifying business and personal services.

Strategic priorities

Our integrated customer experience model is working well
and we remain committed to our core strategy of creating
FANS, attracting low-cost sticky deposits and lending at low
risk. However, we are conscious of the need to adapt to the
conditions in the wider economic, commercial and
requlatory environment. To that end we are implementing
four strategic initiatives to deliver the next phase of our
growth: i) balancing growth with profitability and capital
efficiency; ii} rebalancing the lending mix to optimise capital
allocation and returns; iii) expanding our range of services
to create new sources of income; and iv) improving cost
efficiency. Each of the initiatives is set out in greater

detail below.

In order to balance growth and profitability we will moderate
deposit growth to the ¢.20% per annum range, with a
concentration on relationship current accounts and variable
accounts, white reducing the proportion of higher-cost term
deposits. We will also manage our loan to deposit ratio to
the 85-90% range over time, thereby balancing lecan growth
to optimise capital efficiency and profitability. The expansion
of our physical store network and digital footprint to deliver
an integrated customer experience will remain at the core of
our model.



Our lending will be built around low-risk mortgages, which
are both cost-efficient and deliver a higher return on equity.
In addition, we will use the C&I funding to broaden business
services, creating opportunities for further SME and
commercial trading business lending, whilst reducing the
proportion of lower return on equity (ROE'} commercial
real estate loans. As the risk-reward trade-off in consumer
unsecured lending improves, we will also grow in
unsecured lending and credit cards.

We will drive expansion in fee income through launching
new value-added services, especially for SMEs. The initiatives
we expect to launch include developing our digital offering,
particularly in relation to online business accounts, We will
partner with companies that can work with our customers to
make running their business more convenient across a range
of issues from tax to payroli.

Part of ensuring the model is in the right shape for the
broader environment will mean reducing our cost base.

We recognise that the pace of improving operating leverage
has been too slow and requires back-office transformation
to scale appropriately with our growth. We have therefeore
identified a programme of initiatives that will enable us to
achieve a 55-60% costiincome ratio in the medium term.
These cost actions will enable us to scale more efficiently
with our pace of growth, with digitisation and automation
improving efficiency across our operations.

Finally, our application with the Prudential Regulation
Authority {('PRA’) regarding Advanced Internal Ratings-Based
('AIRB’) migration for residential mortgages is ongoing but
accreditation is not expected before 2021.

STRATEGIC REPORT
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Guidance

Medium-term gudance

c 20% pet annum, c.?% share of the
rnarket by 7023

C.8 new stores a year plus C&l funded
store growth (2 stores in 2019)

Deposits growth

Store growth

Average deposits per

store per month >£4 million

Loan to deposit ratio 85% - 90%

Cost of risk 15bps - 30bps through the cycle

Costiincome ratio 55%-60% by 2023

12% minimum CET1 ratio
and leverage ratio >4%

Low double digit ROE by 2023

Capital

Return on equity

Summary

2018 has seen us pass another set of incredible milestones.
We have expanded our reach further than ever before,
enabling more pecple to save for their future, buy their own
home or support the growth of their business with us.

We have been rewarded in these endeavours by a 140%
increase in underlying profitability to £50.0 million. Our
statutory profitability increased by 117% to £40.6 million.

2019 will see us continue to focus relentlessly on creating

FANS. We will also continue to invest in all areas of our
business whilst balancing growth, profit and cost efficiency.
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ONLINE
ACCOU NT RETAIL FANS

“It's really important for me to have a bank

that supports my busy lifestyle. Metro Bank
makes everything simple, convenient and
quick. | was particularly impressed at how

easy it was to open my current account
online, which took less than ten minutes.”

Holly

Holly's busy work schedule and active social
life mean that she is constantly on the go.
She wanted a new bank that gave her
flexibility in when and how she managed her
finances, and technology to help her keep on
top of her income and outgeings. She was
attracted to Metro Bank by our opening
hours and the 'Insights’ feature on our
mobile app. Using cutting-edge ‘selfie’
identification and verification, Holly was able
to open her new account at home in less
than ten minutes. She then had the option

of collecting her new card immediately in
her local Metro Bank store or having it
posted to her the next day.
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“We put creating FANS at the heart of
everything we do, which drives us to
create innovative services to help
them with all their banking needs.”

Chinwe — Head of Technical Analysis
and Deasign, Banking Solutions

Qur Integrated model in action

Chinwe’s role is focused on delivering
game-changing new services that our
customers really love, such as Current
Account Online. She works with our
Technotogy, Products and Business teams
to design and deliver innovative, resilient
and secure banking solutions. Her team
provide support for all customer-facing
channels, as well as back office operations
teams to continue surprising and
delighting our FANS.

Qur Current Account Online is a great
example of our integrated physical and
digital customer experience, It combines
the strengths of our flexible technology
architecture with our growing store
network. We give customers a choice

of how they open and operate their
accounts, truly bringing ‘bricks and
clicks' to UK banking.

Best Digitai Onboarding Strategy

Global Retail Banking
Awards 2018

Best All Round
Personal Finance Provider

Moneynet Personal Finance
Awards 2018
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ACCOU NT SME FANS
OPENING

"We are not just a number to Metro Bank and
that matters a lot! They are always friendly,
welcoming and even know us by nhame.,
Anything which takes a month to get done
eclsewhere, Metro Bank does in just a few hours
or days. Without them we would not be where
we are today, and thatis a fact.”

Sapna Caterers

Muhammed's family-run business, Sapna
Caterers, has grown to become one of the top
Asian food caterers in London. Muhammed
attended one of the regular business networking
events hosted by Metro Bank at his local store in
Slough. He was impressed by the unigue
customer service he experienced and chose to
open a business current account with us. Our
local business manager met with Muhammed
the following day — and he's not looked back
since. What he loves most about Metro Bank is
the service he receives, 24/7, 365 days a year.



“Qur physical network and digital footprint
deliver an integrated customer experience,

which supports our business banking

customers in a way that suits them best.”

Sanjeev — Local Director, Ealing

Our Integrated model in action

We believe SMEs are one of the most
underserved communities in the UK.

In Sanjeev's role as a Local Director, he
acts as a personal contact point for the
business customers we serve, focusing on
providing relationship banking. Combined
with our expanding digital capabilities in
business banking, our focus on having a
local presence supports our growing store
network across the UK, as we work
towards becoming the community bank
of choice. lit's all about making banking
easy, straightforward and hassle free.
That's why 15% of SME switchers in
London join Metro Bank.

Best Business Account
British Small Business Awards 2018
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‘“‘Metro Bank’s unique culture and quality
customer service is what sets them apart
from other banks. They demonstrate a
pragmatic, down-to-earth and can-do
approach in fulfilling our business
requirements.”

Slicker Recycling

Slicker Recycling is a market-leading specialist

in the collection and recycling of waste oils

and hazardous workshop waste. They were
introduced to Metro Bank as part of their search
for a long-term partnership bank that would add
value and be flexible enough to support their
growth aspirations. Metro Bank's entrepreneurial
approach to understanding their business and
financing requirements was a great match for
Slicker's philosophy and culture.



“We find AMAZEING individuals to come
and join the revolution in British banking;
people who are as passionate about
delivering great customer service and
creating FANS as we are.”

Carly — Head of Recruitment

Our Integrated model in action

Culture is at the heart of our business and
begins on day one for new colleagues
joining Metro Bank. We recruit, train and
lead our colleagues to deliver great
customer service as part of our unigue
business model. At Metro Bank, we believe
in hiring for attitude and training for skill.

Carly's role is crucial in ensuring that we hire
great people. Her team oversee the end-to-
end recruitment process and take an
inclusive approach that attracts fantastic,
diverse people who are aligned to our
purpose and culture.

Finalist
British Bank Awards 2018
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PRIVATE
BANKING
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PRIVATE BANKING
FANS

“Metro Bank has been very helpful and easy
to work with. | like that the team are really
on the ball. They understand my needs well
and act efficiently to provide the right
solutions. Nothing is ever too much trouble
for them.”

Simon

Simon is a successfut entrepreneur who is highly
relationship driven. Unhappy with the level of
service at his previous bank, he decided to make
the switch to Metro Bank for the "high touch”,
personalised service that cur Private Banking
teams offer. He loves that his dedicated Private
Banker is easily accessible at all times and also
understands the needs of his business interests,
including Future Energy Soluticns, a global
provider of lighting as a service.



“Qur customers really appreciate having a
dedicated Private Banking Director - they
trust us to look after them.”

Etiksha — Lead Private Banking Director, Private
Banking — Professionals and Seniors

Our Iintegrated model in action

We're here to deliver a seamless 24/7
service. Our customers appreciate the
continuity of service offered by their
dedicated contact in our Private Banking
teams, such as Etiksha. We combine
quality, around-the-cleck personal
service with award-winning technology to
make banking simple for cur customers.

We take time to understand our
customers’ requirements, supporting
both their business and personal banking
needs. Our Private Banking model offers
simple products that are transparent and
easy to understand, supported by a
bespoke service model. We focus on
traditional banking and lending, rather
than offering investment management
products and our customers appreciate
this straightforward approach.

Best All Round Personal
Finance Provider

Moneynet Personal
Finance Awards 2018
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

David Arden, Chief Financial Officer

Since joining Metro Bank in the spring of 2018 | have been
particularty impressed by the passion and dedication
everycne at Metro Bank has towards our shared purpose
of delivering a revolution in UK banking.

2018 has been another year of double-digit volume growth
and we delivered a strong financial performance. The
continued expansion of our store footprint to ten new
locations, integrated with market-leading technology, is
helping to strengthen our unique offering and in turn drive
customer acquisition. During the year we added over
400,000 customer accounts which underpinned our 34%
deposit growth, 48% lending growth and a statutory profit
before tax increasing by 117% to £40.6 million.

Despite the strong year, we faced some headwinds in the
second half of the year, as despite a further base rate rise,
tending yields, particularly within the mortgage market,
fell leading to income compression,

In January 2019, we announced that we had adjusted the
risk weighting of certain commercial loans that had the
combined effect of increasing our RWAs by £300 million.
This doesn’t impact the operational performance of the
business and overall we remain well capitalised with a
CET1 ratio as at 31 December 2018 of 13.1%.

To help our capital efficiency in 2019 we will be seeking to
raise c.£350 million of equity, which will support our growth
and provide continued certainty over our capital robustness.
Our future growth will be at a slower rate than historically
and we will focus on balancing profitability and capital
efficiency to ensure we grow in the most optimal manner.
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Deposits
2018 2017
£'millien E'rmillion Growlth
Depostts 15,661 11,669 24%
Customer accounts 1,620,000 1,217,000 33%
% current accounts 30% 2%
g;';‘;?fg;i”e‘a” 53%47%  53%47%
Cost of deposits 0.61% 0.54% 7bps

During the year deposits from customers increased by 34%
to £15.7 billion (2017; £11.7 billion).

Growth was primarily driven through customer acquisition,
with the number of accounts growing from 1,217,000 to
1,620,000 at year end. This was supported by our new store
openings, the launch of Current Account Online as well as
the continued strong performance of our existing network.

Cost of deposits rose during the year to 61bps owing to
combination of a further base rate rise, combined with a
competitive deposit market. Qur broad deposit mix which
is made up of 30% current accounts helped cushion the
impact of these factors and should continue to provide
an advantage if and when base rates rise further.

We remain focused on being a deposit-funded bank and
made our final drawdown from the Bank of England’s Term
Funding Scheme ("TFS’) before it closed in February 2018,
Qur total borrowings under the scheme are £3.8 biilion
{2017: £3.3 billion}, due for repayment from 2021.



Assets
2018 2017

£'milben £'million Growth
Loans and advances 14,235 9620 a8%
to customers
Total assets 21,647 16,555 2%
Commercia.retal 31%.69% 239%67%
wending spht
Loan to deposit ratio 91% 82% 9pps
Cost of nsk 0.07% 011% (4lbps

Net loans and advances increased by 48% to £14.2 billion
{2017: £9.6 billion).

This was driven primarily through organic growth in
mertgages and commercial loans and was supplemented by
the purchase of a portfolio of UK mortgages. The portfolio
has a weighted average seasoning of c.13 years and has a
similar credit risk and profile to our current mortgage book.

Although volumes have increased, the pricing of mortgages
continues to be very competitive. The impact on income
from this was slightly mitigated by the loan to deposit ratic
increasing to 91% at the year end (2017: 82%). Pressure on
mortgage yields looks set to continue into 2019 as excess
market liquidity persists. Despite these challenges we remain
well placed to capitalise on the opportunities ahead. We
expect rates to normalise in due course.

2018 saw the introduction of IFRS 8 which, among other
changes, impacted the level of credit impairment provision
we recognise, which rose £22.7 million upon transition.
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Despite the introduction of IFRS 9 cost of risk remains low at
0.07%, a 4bps decrease from 2017. Overall, the credit quality
of the book remains strong, with average debt-to-values on
residential mortgages and commercial term lending of 61%
and 59% respectively (31 December 2017: 60% and 58%
respectively). Consumer lending continues to remain a small
part of our business, at 4% of gross lending. Looking ahead,
well collateralised, low-risk SME and residential lending will
continue to be our focus with an increasing presence in
unsecured lending as the market normalises.

Income
2018 2017
£'millicn £'miltion Growth
Net interest income 3301 2410 7%
Other income 74.0 528 404
Total income 4041 2938 38%
Net interest margin o 5
CNIMY) 1.81% 1.93% (12)bps
Customer NIM 2.21% 2.19% 2bps

Qur income grew 38% year-on-year to £404.1 million,
driven by increasing lending volumes and a higher loan to
deposit ratio. NIM fell by 12bps year-on-year due to yield
compression, primarily due to front book lending pricing,
driven by excess market liquidity caused by the introduction
of ring fencing. NIM was also impacted by £7.2 million of
interest costs related to our tier 2 debt, which we issued in
June. Customer NIM, which strips out the costs of tier

2 debt interest as well as the effect of the Bank of England
Term Funding and Funding for Lending schemes rose

by 2bps.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW conTinuED

Other income, which consists primarily of fees and
commissions, rose 39%, reflecting both the growth in
volurmes as well as the continued development and
deepening of our relationships with customers. Looking
forward, these additional sources of revenue represent an
opportunity to increase income as our relationships with
our customers deepen and we launch a broader ranges
of services.

Operating expenses

2018 2017

E'milhen £million Growth
Depreciation and 451 374 255
amortisation
Tota. operating 3555 2669 33%
expense
Costiincome ratio 88% 91%

Operating expenses grew by 33% during the year to £355.5
mitlion, reflecting the continued growth of the business and
network expansion. We continue to experience positive
operating jaws helping drive the cost:income ratic down to
88% (2017: 91%), although we recognise there is more work
to do.

We are currently working on streamlining our operations to
ensure we continue to grow in a cost-efficient manner.

Depreciation and amortisation grew at a faster rate
compared to overall cost, up 35% year-on-year. This reflects
our ongoing investment in our integrated offering and
spending on projects to maintain our cyber resilience.

As we continue to grow we need to ensure our cost base
is optimal and our processes are scalabte to gain maximum
efficiencies as volumes increase. Over the course of 2019
we will be looking to transform and re-engineer many of
our functions to ensure this is the case.

For our next stage of growth we will use targeted initiatives
to move towards our costiincome target, including making
our back office functions more efficient. This will be done
through a process of streamlining and automating processes
combined with moving some of our support functions to
shared service locations outside of London as we further
increase our presence outside of the South East.

Stores

In 2018, we opened a further 10 stores taking our total
footprint te 65 locations. At the end of the year, 56 sites
were making a positive contribution including all stores
open 12 months or more,

Going forward, we will be putting a greater emphasis on
optimising our store roll out to ensure this appropriately
balances capital, growth and efficiency.

In February 2019 it was announced we had been successful
in securing £120 million of Capability and Innovation funding
as part of our RBS Alternatives Remedies Package
application. This funding will be used to accelerate our
expansion into markets in the North of England. We will
open our first stores utilising these funds later in 2019,
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Taxation

We recognise the benefits to society that arise from futl
participation in the tax system. As with everything we do,
we are committed to acting with integrity and honesty as
set out by the tax strategy, policies and practices we adopt.
We made a total tax contribution in 2018 of £120.3 miltion,
which comprised £78.4 million of taxes we paid and a
further £41.9 million of taxes we collected.

Cur net deferred tax asset fell from £54 million as at

31 December 2017 to £40 million as at 31 December 2018.
This was primarily driven by the utilisation of brought
forward tax losses of E4 million and the required release
of £9 million of our share-based payment deferred tax
asset due to a fall in the Metro Bank share price over the
reporting period.

In 2018 our tax expense recognised in the income statement
was £13.5 million (2017: £7.9 million). Our effective tax rate
for the year was 33.2% (2017: 42.2%).



Capital

We are committed to maintaining a strong capital base in
excess of regulatory minimums. As a fast-growing bank our
profits are not yet sufficient to support the level of growth in
qualifying regulatory capital we require. During 2018 we
raised an additional £303 million equity via an accelerated
book build. The raise was supported by both existing and
new shareholders alike and completed at full market price.

Our capital position was further supported by a £250 million
inaugural Tier 2 debt raise. This was a significant event

far the Bank as we prepare to start raising minimum
requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (' MREL')
debt in 2019. The MREL framework outlined by the Bank of
England determines the minimum amount of loss absorbing
resources banks require. The transitional MREL requirements
will apply from 1 .January 2020 and will see us need to raise
c.£500 million of MREL during 2019.

2018 2017

E'million E£'millien Growth
CETi capita 1,171 89/ 31%
Risk-weighted assets
('(RWASsT) 8,936 5882 52%
CEllratio 13.1% 15 3% (220)bps
Total regu.atory
capital ratio 15.9% 15.3% 60bps
Requlatory leverage
ratio 5.4% 5 5% {1Mbps
Leverage 6.4% 67% (30}bps

The introduction of the new leasing standard, IFRS 16,

will bring £3132 million of additional RWAs onto our balance
sheet. We will be adopting IFRS 16 in the most capital
efficient manner; however, as a growth organisation with a
young lease portfolio the impact will be more pronocunced
for us compared to many of our peers.

Over the medium term we expect to achieve greater capital
efficiency from AIRB migration for residentiat mortgages.
Qur application with the PRA is ongoing but accreditation
is not expected before 2021.
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In January 2019, we announced that we had adjusted the
risk weighting of certain commercial loans secured on
commercial property and certain specialist buy-to-let loans
that had the combined effect of increasing our RWAs by
£900 million. RWAs are calculated by applying an
appropriate percentage of the value of a loan or other asset,
according to the type of asset and some risk factors. There
are two principle changes we have made in this process; to
change the weighting placed on certain commercial loans
secured by commercial property from 50% to 100%, and to
change the weighting on certain PBTL assets from 35% to
100%, either where the underlying security is complex or
part of a larger portfolio. While this adjustment had an
impact on the capital surplus we hold, we remain well
capitalised and hold surpluses to both regulatory
requirements and management appetite.

We are learning the lessons from this and will continue
to improve our systems and controls around capital and
risk-weighted assets.

Looking ahead

2018 has been a strong year for us, despite the increasing
headwinds in its latter half; however, | am excited for the
growth to come in 2019. Although we will continue to face
significant headwinds we will continue to focus on delivering
our strategy and maximising the beneficial effects of our
network. 2019 should also provide clarity around key
macreoeconomic uncertainties including Brexit.

We will also utilise the money from our successful bid for
Capability and Innovation funding to help deliver continued
support of SME businesses. This will include the opening of
our first stores in the North. Alongside this we will continue
to grow the rest of the business and move closer towards
our targets.

David Arden
Chief Financial Officer
10 April 2019

tha
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RISK REPORT

Aileen Gillan, Chief Risk Officer

Safety and soundness: doing the right things

the right way

Our unigque culture aligns our peaple, processes and systems
to the way we manage the risks inherent in our business
activities. This ensures that our operations are carried out

in a safe and compliant way, balanced with the superior
customer service that enables us to create FANS.

Qur approach to risk management consists of:

e putting our AMAZEING culture at the heart of everything
we do;

« investment in growth capability: and

+ enabling colleagues to focus on controls by doing the
right things the right way.

We believe a culture that truly focuses on creating FANS by
exceeding customers’ expectations will deliver consistently
great outcomes.

Overview

All colleagues are responsible for managing risk as part
of their day-to-day role. Customer-facing colleagues are
at the forefront of risk management, along with their line
managers. The Risk team oversees risk management
activities. It also supports other colleagues in their risk
management work, for example, by providing centralised
‘bump-up’ support contacts for more complex
requirements, freeing up customer-facing colleagues

to focus on creating FANS.

The risk and control framework is designed to ensure that:
all principal and emerging risks are identified, assessed,
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mitigated, monitored and reported; risk appetite is clearly
articulated and policies aligned to it; appropriate processes,
systems and controls are in place to support all colieagues
in performance of their roles within risk appetite; and
ongoing analysis of the environment in which we operate
takes place to ensure we identify emerging risks and
regulatory requirements.

Our unigque, pervasive culture supports risk awareness by
encouraging every colleague to think about the relationship
between their role and our goal of creating FANS whilst
growing safely and sustainably; and to be comfortable
asking questions when they are not clear about policy

to ensure their actions do not result in financial loss,
reputational damage or customer detriment.

In January 2019, we announced that we had adjusted the
risk weighting of certain commercial loans secured on
commercial property and certain specialist buy-to-let lcans
that had the combined effect of increasing our RWAs by
£900 million. Whilst the risk weightings have been adjusted,
there is no deterioration in the credit quality of the affected
assets. Asset quality remains strong overall, consistent with
our prudent approach to lending, and reflected in our low
cost of risk and non-performing locans ratio. We have now
completed a review of the commercial loan book as at

31 December 2018 supported by a major professional
services firm and we are satisfied that the risk weightings
have been assigned appropriately. We are continuing to
work on further enhancements to our systems.



Board role

The Board is responsible for setting strategy, corporate
objectives and risk appetite. The strategy and risk appetite
considers the interests of our customers, shareholders and
other stakeholders. On the advice of the Risk Qversight
Committee ([ROC’), the Board approves the level of risk
acceptable under each principal risk category, whilst
providing oversight to ensure there is an adequate
framework in place for reporting and managing those
risks. The Board has delegated responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of this framework to the ROC.

It is also responsible for maintaining an appropriate control
environment to manage risk effectively, and for ensuring that
the capital, liquidity, and other resources are adeguate to
achieve our objectives within our risk appetite.

The Board has delegated responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of internal controls to the Audit Committee.
This committee monitors and considers the internal control
environment, internal and external audits and risk assurance,
and is assisted in its oversight role by our Internal Audit
function. Internal Audit carries out both regular and ad-hoc
reviews of risk management controls and procedures and
reports the results to the Audit Committee. Internal Audit
and the Audit Committee will review the commercial RWA
controls enhancement programme in 2019. The Director of
Internal Audit’s reporting line is to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee, with a dotted line to the CEQ, and therefore
supports the function’s independence.

Board role:
Setting risk
appetite,
approval of risk
management
framework and risk
principles.

Executive leadership committees:
Oversight of risk management
consistent with appetite,
recommendations of risk strategy
changes to Board

Palicy framework and three lines of defence:
Policies which are aligned with risk and robust
monitoring, oversight and assurance.

Culture, capability and processes:
Procedures and processes are aligned to risk
and colleagues are trained and highly aware in terms of risk
categories, controls and mitigation responsibitities
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Chief Risk Officer and the Risk function

Our Chief Risk Officer { CRO’) leads the Risk function, which
is independent from operational and commercial functions.
She is responsible for ensuring that appropriate risk
management processes, policies and controls are in place,
that they are sufficiently robust, that key risks are identified,
assessed, monitored and mitigated, and that we are
operating within our risk appetite.

The Risk team provides specialist knowledge and support to
colleagues, acting as a reference point for advisory queries,
whilst also overseeing colleagues and the risk management
and controls in place. |t operates themed, targeted and
ad-hoc reviews to provide assurance to the leadership team,
and ultimately to the Board, that risks are properly managed,
controls are effective, and that we are not exceeding our
risk appetite.

Risk management policies

We've established our risk management policies to identify
and analyse the risks we face, to set appropriate risk limits
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.
The Risk team regularly reviews these policies and
controls to verify compliance and to reflect changes

in market conditions and our activities. We use training
and management standards and procedures to develop

a robust and effective control environment - one where
all colleagues understand their roles and obligations.

Risk appetite

Our approach to risk appetite is to set relevant quantitative
and gualitative measures against which risk management
performance can be reviewed for each of our principal
risks. Risk appetite is set by the Board, based on the
recommendation of the ROC, and implemented by the
Executive Risk Committee. Our risk appetite has been
developed in line with our business plan, strategy and vision,
and is underpinned by a culture in which all colleagues
embed risk considerations in decision-making and are
rewarded accordingly.

Risk Oversight Committee

The ROC assists the Board in providing leadership,
direction and oversight with regard to risk governance

and management, and also assists the Board in fostering

a culture that emphasises and demonstrates the benefits
of a risk-based approach to risk management and internal
controls when creating FANS. It works closely with the
Audit Committee. It is chaired by a Non-Executive Director
and meets at least quarterly. Its responsibilities include:

+ recommending to the Board our risk appetite;

= regularly reviewing risk exposures in relation to the risk
appetite;

« reviewing risk policies, and approving or recommending
to the Board for approval; and

« monitoring the effectiveness of risk management
processes and procedures put in place by management.
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Executive leadership committees

The CEQ, supported by the Executive Leadership Team, is
responsible for executing the strategy and managing risk
exposures and making decisions and recommendations
to the Board, as appropriate, via the following executive
risk committees:

Credit Risk Policy and Appetite Committee ((CRPAC') —
The Committee is chaired by the CRO, meets monthly
and is responsible for: oversight of credit risk policies;
reviewing proposals on risk appetite; monitoring portfolio
performance against risk appetite; along with the CFO,
approving the impairment levels; and, approving all
material aspects of IRB rating systems, including all
material models.

Credit Approval Committee — The Committee is chaired
by the CRO or Director of Commercial Credit and is
responsible for: sanctioning of higher value lending
requests, and any exceptions to policy; monitoring
overdue accounts; and granting and reviewing
delegated lending authorities.

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO’) — The Committee
is chaired by the CFO, meets monthly and is responsible
for: ensuring that an appropriate balance is maintained
between funding and lending activities; ensuring that we
meet internal liquidity targets as set out in the Liquidity
Policy; analysis of Capital Market trends, considered along
with actual and projected business performance to assess
the adequacy of funding to meet the projected targets;
agreement of pricing decisions te ensure visibility of
trading and capital impact; and monitoring interest

rate risk

Enterprise Risk Committee — The Committee is chaired by
the CRO, meets monthly and is responsible for: reviewing
enterprise, regulatory and compliance risk management
issues with regard to risk appetite; oversight of the
Enterprise Risk Management framework and perfcrmance
of the Key Risk Indicators ('KRIs’}; reviewing Assurance
reports and findings; and, making recommendations

for adjustment of policies to the Board.

Board of Directors

Ii

Risk Oversight

) Nomination Committee
Committee

Audit Committee

Chief
Executive Officer

Remuneration
Committee

Credit Risk Policy and
Appetite Committee

Credit Approval
Committee

Asset and Liability
Committee

Executive Leadership
Team

Executive Risk
Committee

This graphic illustrates the key committees of the Bank with risk responsibility — to keep it simple, not all are shown.
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The first line of defence is operational management, who manage risk by maintaining appropriate systems and controls that
are operated and effective on a daily basis. The second line of defence comprises the risk management function, providing
advice and oversight through specialist support teams and the risk committees. The third line of defence is Internal Audit,
providing independent assurance through internal reviews and reporting the results to the Audit Committee.

Board of Directors

Board establishes risk appetite and risk strategy

Approves frarmeworks, methodologies, policies and responsibilities

Operational Risk Internal
management management Audit
First line Second line Third line
of defence of defence of defence

+ Line management in each business area

« Primary responsibility for system
and risk managerment

* Create FANS

Principal risks

« Independent risk management function

= Provides specialist advice,
governance and oversight

= Supports and challenges the
first line

« Internal Audit functicn

* Independent assurance
and reporting line

Cur principal risks represent defined groupings that we use to help consistently identify, assess, manage, monitor and report
risks. Using consistent risk categories enables risks to be aggregated to determine their overall impact to the organisation.

The principal risks are designed to be both comprehensive and mutually exclusive,

Our principal risks are detailed below. In addition to the eight risks listed we also have ninth principal risk in the form of
strategic risk. Strategic risk is a manifestation of material instances, or a combination of the other eight principal risks.
As such strategic risk is assessed in line with those principal risks.

Credit

Liquidity and
risk funding risk

()
! ——0)

Financial
crime risk

o—0

Conduct
risk

(6) /17\ 8

®

Operational
risk

T
Market
risk

These are detailed further on pages 32 to 40

\.lf NS
Regulatory
risk risk

Model
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1. Credit risk

Definition

Credit nsk is the risk of financial loss due te a borrowers failure to meet the terms of any contract or otherwise

fail to perform as agreed.

For more information on our strategy please see pages 10to 11

Change since 2017:
No change

Link to strategy:
Low-risk diversified lending

Appetite and mitigation

Appetite

The credit risk appetite and policy is owned and approved by the Board
annually. Portfolic-level policies and credit risk appetite are recommended
by the Fxecutive to the Board via the Credit Risk, Policy and Appetite
Committee ({CRPAC") and the Risk Cwversight Committee ('ROC'L. The
credit nisk appetite s specified as a set of key performance indicators
{'KPIs'), concentration measures, capital and impairment components.
Poiicy and appetite are based on sound credit risk principles.

Lending and collateral

Our forernost exposure to credit risk is through the loans and advances we
make to cur customers. We primarily mitigate credit risk through halding
collateral against our residential mortgage and commercial term loan
portfalios. Cofllateral is usually held in the form of real estate, guarantees
and other tiens that we can call upon in the event of the borrower
defaulting. All real estate assets taken as security are supported by an
external valuation with a first fixed charge registered at the land registry.
At 31 Decemnber 2018 94% of our ioans consisted of retail mortgages and
comrerciat term loans secured on ¢coliateral with average debt-to-value
of 61% (2017. 60%) and 59% (2017 58%) respectively.

Our exposure to loans of greater than 100% remains low at less than 1% of
retaill mortgage lending (31 December 2017: 1%) and 11% of commercial
term lending (31 Decernber 2017 12%). On the retail mortgage lending
portfolio, these loans have principally been part of porticlios we have
acquired. On the commercial term lending, additionally forms of collateral
{such as debentures, unsupported guarantees providing recourse to our
customers) are excluded from these debt-to-value DTV figures, so the
true credit risk exposure on these loans is lower and is underwritten on
the strength of all types of collateral.

The approval for consumer lending and retail mortgages is autormated and
underpinned by scorecard and policy rules. The end-to-end process is
averseen by our colleagues in the first ine and approved in accordance
with agreed delegated lending authorities.

Undrawn commitments

We have additional limited credit exposure to committed and undrawn
amounts, such as unused overdraft limits and facilities. At 31 December
2018 we had £242 million (31 Cecember 2017: £138 million) of undrawn
credit card and overdraft facilities. We mitigate credit risk in respect of
these undrawn balances by reqular customer monitoring to allow undrawn
limits to be removed if we observe credit guality deterioration.
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Interest-only lending

We have exposure to refinance risk. This is the risk from ipans to customers
who are subject to a bullet or balloon payment at contractual matunty but
wha find themselves unable to refinance or otherwise make this payment.
This risk arises principally in the mortgage book where the exposure to
interest-only loans stands at £4.4 billon, There is further exposure to refinance
risk in the Commercial Book of £1.6 billlon from interest-only loans and a
portion of nan-fuily amortising term loans.

We manage this risk by ensuring the borrower has an appropriate repayment
plan in place or would be able to refinance the lending at the end of the term.
Also by ensuring these loans are appropriately collateralised (see lending and
collateral section above we would have first charge in the event of default by
the borrower.

Geographical and sector exposure

We manage the level of credit risk concentration based on individual
borrowing entities, deal type and sector. We have specialist sector lending
teams including in healthcare, hospitality, property and not for profit.

We also manage our lending exposure by region. Qur current residential
mortgage and commercial term lending is concentrated within London and
the South East. which is representative of our current customer base and store
footprint. As we expand our footprint over time we envisage our geagraphical
exposure of lending will change. All of our current loans exposures are secured
on UK based collateral.

Investment securities

As well as our loans and advances, the cther main area where we are exposed
to credit risk is within our Treasury portfolio. At 31 December 2018 we held
F4.1 hillion of investment securities which are used for balance sheet and
liguidity management purposes, of which £3.4 billon 1s eligible as collateral
at the Bank of England,

We have a robust securities trading and investment policy which requires us to
invest in high-quality liquid debt instruments. At the 31 December 2018 81% of
our investment securities were rated as AAA (31 December 2017: 79%) with a
further 15% (31 December 2017, 13%} rated AA- or higher with minimal use of
derivatives for hedging purposes.

Additionally we hold £2 5 tilion (31 December 2017: £2.2 billion) in cash

balances, which is either held by ourselves or at the Bank of England, where
there 1s minimal credit exposure.

Understand more about our credit risk exposure on pages 136 to 149
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Measurement and monitoring

Measurement

We measure credit quality for impairment purposes using a suite of IFRS 9
maodels. We have a strong suite of credit risk models and have invested
heavily in credit risk madel development in support of enhancing our
IFRS 9 calculaticn, stress testing capability and IRB programme.

Our IFRS 9 models incorporate the impact of a range of possible future
econamic scenarios we have placed a higher probability on our Downside
scenario ([a worsening economic cutcome}, largely to reflect e greater
likelinood of a worse cutcome for the UK economy due to exting the
European Union. The models used are subject to the internal model
governance, are validated by an independent team, reguiarly monitored
and annually reviewed.

Key Performance Indicatars ('KPIs') are defined, reported against and
escalated through to the Risk Oversight Committee. KPis an portfolio
concentrations are included in the monitoring reviewed by the Executive
and Board Committee as part of our risk appetite.

We monitor lending policy exceptions and their subsequent performance.

Our stress testing capability has been enhanced sigrificantly over the last
12 months in order to account for the introduction of the IFRS 9 maodels.

Credit risk quality assurance reviews are performed regularly and cover
portfolics and sector exposure. The reviews cover top exposures, portfolio
trends, concentration and key risk areas.

As of 31 December 2018 all exposures are measured under the
standardised approach for credit risk for requlatory capital, we are parallel
running the IRB rating system for residential mortgages and a slotting
solution for commercial real estate will be implermented dunng 2018

Maonitoring
Credit risk is overseen by the Chief Risk Cffice (CRO'}, Credit Risk, Policy and
Appetite Committee {CRPAC’} and the Risk Oversight Committee (ROC').

Three functions support the management of credit risk and report to the CRO:

« Our Cormmercial Credit Underwriting team supports the creation of
commercial credit policies, ensures the business has suitable credit
assessment tools and procedures and provides an independent review
of individuatl commercial credit proposals and renewals.

+ Our Credit Risk and Analytics team develops credit risk policies in
accordance with the risk appetite, develops appropriate frameworks to
comply with regulatory and statutory requirements and works with
other areas of the Bank to ensure credit nsk control practices are
effectively implemented throughout the Bank. It monitors aggregate
exposures and reviews portfolio performance and cencentrations,
providing comprehensive reports to senior management and the ROC.
It also develops and monitors models used for automatic credit
decisioning, portfolic management and impairment, and develops
stress test methodologies.

« Our Treasury Risk team supports the development and implementation
of applicable policies and procedures and monitors the credit risk
aspects of the Treasury portfolio.
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2. Operational risk

Definition

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss from falled or inadequate
processes, people or systermns, or exposure to external events.

For more information on our strategy please see pages 10 to 11

Change since 2017:
No change

Link to strategy:
Unigue culture

Appetite and mitigation

Measurement and monitoring

34

Appetite

We aim to maintain robust operational systems and controls and seek
alow level of operational risk. We have detailed pclicies, procedures and
controls in place which are designed to evaluate, monitor and report
these risks as well as, where appropriate, develop mitigation plans to
minimise the impact of lesses suffered in the normal course of business
{expected losses) and to avoid or reduce the likeliheed of suffering a large
extrerne (or unexpected) loss,

Investment in our systems and technology

We continue to invest in the ongoing maintenance and development
of our key controls, which combine system and process measures

to mitigate risk or to mimmise any impact on us or our customers,

The pace of our growth has the potential to increase the execution risks
associated with delivery of consistently AMAZEING service to our
customers, Therefore, in 2018, we continued to invest heavily in our
systems. This included ongoing development of our end-to-end
technology frastructure to provide a single customer view, enabling
better customer service. Where possible, we have invested in fully or
semi-automated controls to support us inmanaging within risk appetite,
white freeing up colleagues to focus on our customers.

We continue to grow our omnichannel presence, offering customers a
choice in how they interact with us to suit their needs. This increases our
digital risk, in an environment where onling and mobile tachnologies are
changing the way banks interact with custorners. To mitigate this risk we
are investing even more in our digital platforms to build resiient and
secure technologies. The current era of evolving technology requires

us to maintain a secure digital infrastructure, This 1s central to our vision
of creating FANS, by protecting their data.

Culture and training

As we continue our growth journay, we do so safely through continued
investment in our colleagues and training so that we can continue

to support them in delivering consistently AMAZEING service to

our customers, whilst maintaining a safe, reliable and resilient

banking operation.

Operational resilience

Cperational resilience has been a central part of our risk management
aclivity throughout 2018. This includes assessing a number of top
operational risks, including: business continuity; technotogy, cyber:
inforrmation security; payments; and third-party suppliers and ensuring
we continue to appropriately mitigate these,
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Measurement

We measure operating risk using a number of quantitative and qualitative
metrics. These KPIs are defined, reported against and escalated to

the ROC.

Monitoring

We continucusly develop and embed our approach to the management
of operational risks with the aim of maintaining robust operational
processes, systems and controls. In 2018 we enhanced our nsk and
control framework threugh the further development of our tools and
processes for identifying, assessing, managing. monitering and reporting
operational risks. Key developments included: aperational lincluding IT)
resibence, the deployment of new automated controls to mitigate the
fraud risk expenenced widely by the industry: operational disruption
event response planning, and, enhanced cperaticnat risk scenario
analysis, particularly as part of the our Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process (ITCAAP).
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Definition

Liquidity risk is the risk that future financial obligations are not met or future
asset growth cannot occur because of an inability to obtain funds at a
reasonable pnice within a reasonable time.

For more information on our strategy please see pages 10 to 11

Change since 2017:
No change

Link to strategy:
Diversified low-cost deposits

Appetite and mitigation

Measurement and monitoring

Appetite

The purpose of our liquidity poticy is to ensure that we maintain liquidity
resources which are sufficient, both as to amount and quality; to ensure
that liabilies can be met as they fall due; and to ensure that we maintain
a prudent funding profile, appropnately diversified within the context of
adeposit-led bank. Cur approach 1s to ensure that we can both meet
payments as they fall due and suppart asset growth in line with plan,

in both normalt conditions and in the event of a liguidity stress, and

that we can survive a severe liquidity stress event and continue as
aqgoing concern.

Depaosit-funded approach

Qur mid-term guidance as set out on page 15 underlines our approach
of having a long-term loan-to-depaosit ratio of 85-90%. Cur deposit-led
approach means we do not have reliance on wholesale funding to enable
our ongoing lending.

Cur deposits are diverse and are generally low cost This means they are
less sensitive to competition within the deposit market, especially in a
rising base rate environment. At 31 December 2018 53% of our deposit
came from commercial customers (31 December 2017: 53%) with the
rermaining 47% {31 Decernber: 47%) coming from retail custorners.
Additionally 30% of deposits at year end (31 December 2017: 32%) were
in the form of current accounts, with the remainder split between a
combmation of instant access and fixed-term savings products. In 2018
our cost of deposits was 0.61% (2017: 0.54%) below the current Bank of
England base rate of 0.75%.

Liquidity management

We aim to hold a prudent level of iquidity to cover unexpected cutflows,
ensuring that we are able to meet financial commitments for an
extended period. We recognise the potential difficulties in monetising
certain assets, 5o set higher-quality targets for Llquid assets for the earlier
part of a stress period. We have assessed the level of liquidity necessary
to cover both systemic and idiosyncratic risks and maintain an
appropriate liguidity buffer at all imes. Our Liquidity Coverage Ratio
I'LCR’) ensures that we comply with our own risk appetite as well as
regulatory requirements.

Cur liquidity portfelio consists of cash and balances at the Bank of
England as well as high-quality liquid assets (HQLAS') that are available
to be sold to raise funding in the event of stress. We are conscious of the
cost implications of holding high levels of liquid assets and seek to avand
holding a "buffer over a buffer”,

Contingency planning

The Contingency Funding Plan {CFP) details a series of indicators which
would tend to suggest a liquidity stress event may be in train. [t assigns
responsibilities and actions to key individuals, specifies time frames, and
establishes the Contingency Funding Committee ('CFC') chaired by the
CFO which sits as required in the event of a liquidity stress.

Understand more about our liquidity risk exposure on pages 149 to 151

Measurement

Our asset and liability management 'ALM’} model is used to capture all
positions across the Bank and evaluate their liquidity. We calculate our
L.CR and perform stress testing of our liquidity daily. Forward-locking
short-range forecasts are produced at least monthly.

Early warning indicators (' EWIs'} are set cut in the Liquidity Policy.
Colleagues monitor these and bump up any triggers. A cost of funds
model is used help colleagues account for Lgquidity, capital and interest
rate risk in pricng.

We perform an Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process {ILAAP’)
every year for the identication, measurement, management and
monitoring of liquidity. having due regard for the PRA Rulebook section
‘Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment’. Treasury seeks ILAAP input
from a range of teams including Finance and Products.

The conclusions of the ILAAP are reviewed anc approved by the Board,
assisting i

« identification of our material liquidity risks;

« deciding the management of material liquidity risks; and

= determining the Board's risk appetite.

For liguidity nisk, we assess against internal and external requirements.
The chief external requirement 1s the LCR, and a series of internal
requirements are set and maintained through our ILAAP.

Monitering

Treasury risk has responsibitity for our compliance with hquidity policy
and strategy. The Regulatory Reporting team monitors compliance with
LCR. The ALCO 15 responsible for lguidity and funding risk. Liquidity and
funding cannot be considered in isolation, and we have regard to Lquidity
risk, profitability, and capital optimisation when considenng funding
sources. We issued subordinated debt for the first time tn 2018, prnimanly
as a capital management measure.

Our liquidity mismatch chart is in note 24 to the financial accounts.

Ouwr liquidity position has remained stable over the year with our LCR
remaining strong at 139% (2017: 1412}
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4, Market risk

Definition

Market risk is the risk that earnings or the economic value of equity will
underperform due to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates,
or cther financial market asset prices. Our ability to manage market risks
cantributes to our overall capital management.

For more information on our strategy please see pages10to 11

Change since 2017;
Risk increased

Link to strategy:
Low-risk diversified tending

Appetite and mitigation

Measurement and monitoring

Appetite

As maturity transformation is one of the primary roles of a bank, we are
exposed to interest rate risk by many of our activities. Our Market Risk
Policy is set with a view to ensuring that our funding resources are
nvested in assets that satisfy our earmings nsk and economic value

risk appetites.

Interest rate risk

We benefit from natural offsetting between certain assets and liabilities,
which may be based on both contractual and behavioural characternstics
of these positions. Where natural hedging 1s insufficient we hedge net
interest rate risk expasures appropriately, inciuding, where necessary,
with the use of interest rate derivatives. We enter into denvatives only

for hedging purposes and not as part of customer transactions or for
speculative purposes.

Our Treasury and Treasury Risk teams work closely together and ensure
that risks are managed appropriately — and that we're well positioned

to avoid losses outside our appetite, in the event of unexpected

market moves,

Foreign exchange exposure

We have very limited exposure to fareign exchange risk. Foreign
exchange assets and liabilities are matched off closely in each of the
currencies we operate and less than 5% of our assets and liabilities are

in currencies cther than pounds sterling, We do not have any operations
outside the United Kingdom. We offer currency accounts and foreign
exchange facilities to faciltate customer requirements but do not
perform speculative trading activities.

We have hedge accounting sclutions in place to reduce the volatility
in the income statement anising from these hedging activities.

Treasury management

We are mindful of upcoming regulatory changes, such as ring-fencing, as
we shape the investrment portfolio in 2019 and beyond — and are working
to reduce the propertion of our assets that are ineligible for a nng-fenced
entity. As our loan to deposit ratio approaches its long-term target,
natural roll-off of ineligible assets is expectad to continue, and we wili
cease to acquire assets which a ring-fenced entity may not hold.

Understand more about our market risk exposure on pages 151 to 152
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Measurement

We measure interest rate risk exposure using:

+ economic value sensitivity. calculating repricing mismatches
across our assets and liabilities and then evaluating the change
invalue arising from a change in the yield curve. Our risk appetite
scenaric is based on a parallel rate movement of 2% to all interest
rates, but we evaluate based on a series of other parallel and
non-parallel rate changes The scenarios are designed to replicate
severe but plausible econemic events and to have regard to
risks which would not be evident through the use of parallel
shocks alone.

« interestincome sensitivity: the impact on 12-month future
income arising from various interest rate shifts. Our risk appetite
scenarics are based on parallel rate moverments of 2% and of
divergences of up to 1.15% between Bank of England base rate
and LIBOR against a constant balance sheet. We also evaluate
a series of other parallel, non-parallel and non-instantanecus
rate changes.

« interest rate gaps: calculating the net difference between total
assets and total liabilities across a range of time buckets.

The frequency of calculating and reporting each measure varies from
daily to quarterly appropriate to each sk type.

We use an integrated Asset and Liability Management (ALM'} system
which consolidates ali our positions and enables the measurement and
management of interest rate repricing prefiles for the entire Bank The
model takes into account behavioural assumptions as specified in our
Market Risk Paolicy. Material assumptions can be updated more frequently
at the request of business areas, in response to changing market
conditions or customer behaviours.

We measure and monitor our exposures to foreign exchange risk daily
and da not maintain net exposures overnight in any currency ather than
pounds, beyond de minimis amounts.

Maonitoring

Interest rate risk measures have limits set against them through the
Market Risk Palicy, and these are monitored on a reqular basis by the
Treasury Risk team. Measures close to the limits are escalated to Treasury
in order ta enable prompt action, and limit excesses are escalated to the
ALCO. Adigest of interest rate risk measures and details of any excesses
are presented maonthly at the ALCO.
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Definition

Financial crime risk is the risk of financial loss or reputational damage due to
regulatory fines or penalties, restriction or suspension of business, or cost of
mandatory corrective action as a result of faling to comply with prevailing
legal and regulatory requirements relating to financial crime {which we
define to include internal or external fraud, ant-money laundering/counter
terrorist financing, bribery and corruption and sanctions compliance}.

For moreinformation on our strategy please see pages 10to 11

Change since 2017:
No change

Link to strategy:
Diversified low-cost deposits

Appetite and mitigation

Measurement and monitoring

Appetite

The Risk team define our risk appetite and recommend this to the Board
for approval. In order to monitor the effectiveness of aur control
framework and the alignment with our risk appetite, KPls are defined,
reported against and escalated to the ROC.

Investment in our systems and technology

We invest in and refine our financial crime technology such as customer
screening, payment profiling and customer authentication systems
where we have evolved the effectiveness of these technology capabilities
to reflect our risk appetite. We have alsc invested in enhanaing our data
analytics capabilities to further enhance our fraud prevention, detection
and investigaticn controls.

In 2018 we saw fraudsters taking advantage of external operational
disruption events impacting customers and financial institutions. We
continue to invest in our operational resilience capabilities to ensure that
we are proactively avoiding, responding, recovering and learning from
internal and external operational incidents to minimise the impact on
our custormers

Improving customer awareness

We launched our "Be Your Cwn Herg” campaign designed to provide cur
customers with new fraud trends as well as hints and tips to enable thern
to protect themselves from becoming a victim of fraud.

We anticipate that in 2019 we will continue to see an increase in more
sophisticated social engineering cases iImpacting our customers, with
fraudsters adapting and very closely mimicking the Bank. This is making
L harder for customers to identify targeted fraud atternpts and protect
against them even with targeted customer fraud awareness
communications and campaigns. There is an interacticn with our
cyber security, data privacy and cyber risk awareness in this area.

Colleague training

A key focus of 2018 was strengthering our dedicated financial crime
specialist resource and equipping this resource and our colleagues
across the Bank with specific training. We increased our headcount
across both tines of defence and invested substantially in equipping
a number of our colleagues with industry recognised financial crime
qualifications. We rolled out further training and education to key
colleagues in our stores.

Horizon scanning

We actively conduct honzon scanning activity to identify emerging
trends and typologies as well as to identify and prepare for new
legislation and regulation. As required, we will update our control
framework to ensure alignment with these risks.

Measurement

The Financial Crime Risk team own our control framework with
accountability for execution owned by our colleagues across the first
line. The Risk team define our risk appetite and recommend this to the
Board for approval. In order to monitor the effectiveness of our controt
framewaork and the alignment with our risk appetite, Key Performance
Indicators are defined, reported against and escalated through to the
Risk Oversight Committee. We report manthly on our Bank wide account
opening pass rates, fraud volumes and associated operational losses
through this process.

Monitoring
Our policy framewark also sets out key requirements which must be
cormplied with consistently to manage our nisk.

We have risk-based audit and assurance plans to monitor the
effectiveness of our controls. Dedicated and skilled resources are in place
to complete these reviews with findings and recommeandations tracked
through our financial crime governance structure.

We maintain policies and minimum standards, atigned tc our legal and
regulatory obligations which also articulate cur sk appetite.

Each year we cornplete a financial crime risk assessment to ensure that
olr financial crime control framework 15 commensurate and robust to
manage our inherent business risks across each of the four areas.

We participate in external industry forurns including being an active
member of the Cyber Defence Alliance and liaise with government
bodies such as the Home Cffice, HMRC, Financial Conduct Authority
{'FCA) and law enforcement to support our identification of new and
evoiving risks.
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6. Regulatory risk

Definition

Regulatory risk is the risk of financial loss or reputational damage due to
regulatory fines or penalties, restriction or suspension of business, or cost
of rmandatory corrective action as a result of failing to adhere to applicable
laws, regulations and supervisory guidance,

For more information on our strategy please see pages 10 to 11

Change since 2017
Risk increased

Link to strategy:
Low-risk diversified lernding
Diversified low-cost deposits

Appetite and mitigation

Appetite

We have no appetite for regulatory risk. We aim to comply with the
relevant rules, regulations and scurcebocks. We have policies and
procedures in piace to ensure complance with the regulatory
obligations, and robust oversight ang monitcring to evidence
campliance. Alongside this we regularly engage with the PRA,

the FCA, and other industry bodies to proactively manage ths risk.

Avoidance

Our mitigation strategy favours risk avoidance through ensuring
compliance with our relevant rules and requirements. We seek to achieve
this through the allocation of appropriate resources for requiatory
compliance advisory and cversight activities. In instances which
challenge our ability to comply or remain compliant with a particular rule,
we seek 1o collaborate and engage early with our regulatory supervisors
to reduce the risk to an acceptable level.

Cur Board, ROC and Executive Leadership Team {via the Executive Risk
Committee) continue to monitor and cversee our focus on maintaining
regulatory comphance. This includes periodic reporting on regulatory
themes, regulatory changes on the honzon and the regulatory
environment, alongside supporting key risk measures and Board-
approved policies and standards
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Measurement and monitoring

Measurement

We have policies, procedures and standards in place to ensure
cormpliance with our regulatory obligations. This is supported through
our Enterprise Risk Management Framework by oversight and monitoring
activity to evidence compliance.

As part of our cngoing supervision by the PRA, the PRA helped us identify
potential inconsistencies in our reguiatory reporting. Fotlowing this, we
conducted an internal review of our risk-weighting of certain commercial
loans, supported by one of the big four professional service firms.

This work identified that some adjustments were required to our RWAs,
On 26 February 2019, we received notification that the PRA and FCAis
investigating the circumstances and events that led to the RWA
adjustment. We are satisfied that the nsk weightings have now been
assigned properly. We are continuing to work on further enhancements
to our systems and controls.

Monitoring

As anindustry we are increasing regulatory obligations incituding
minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities {MREL),

IFRS 16, IFRS 9, the second Payment Services Directive (PSC I}, Open
Banking and General Data Protection Regulation {{GDPR'). The Board and
Senior Management are focused on responding in a timely and effective
way to these changes including ensuring we are appropriately resourced
and have sufficient capability in these areas.
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7. Conduct risk

Definition

Conduct risk is the nisk of treating customers unfairly, and deltvering
inapprapriate cutcomes that lead to customer detriment.,

For more information on our strategy please see pages 10to 11

Change since 2017:
No change

Link to strategy:
Unique culture

Appetite and mitigation

Measurement and monitoring

Appetite

We have no appetite for conduct risk. We provide customers with simple,
fairly priced products delivered with unparalleled tevels of service and
convenience and we are committed to avoiding materially unfair
cutcomes for cur customers.

Simple and transparent products

Gur simple, transparent product range and activities continue tc help
ensure that customer outcomes are fair. Our colleagues are fully trained in
all relevant products and services and these are delivered to our customers
through all channels, with openness and transparency. We believein
looking after our existing customers and will never offer teaser rates or
better rates for new customers that aren't also available to our existing
customers. Our praducts are reviewed regularly to ensure they continue to
meet customer needs and operate as expected. We do not undertake any
financial promotions or marketing and are commiitted to ensuring that our
communications are clear, fair and nat misleading. Sales incentives in
stores neither exist nor are perceived by colleagues ta exist.

Make every wrong right

Our service-led business model and absence of legacy issues give us an
inherent advantage. We are committed to doing the nght thing for our
custorners and to making every wrong right.

Measurement

We measure and monitor conduct risk through product governance
activity, compliance monitoring, analysis of expressions of dissatisfaction,
roct cause analysis and reporting through customer treatment fora

We also use our 'Voice of the Customer’ surveys ta inform continuous
improvement activity. Key performance Indicators are also defined,
reported against and escalated to the ROC.

Monitoring

The simplicity of our offering drives a low level of reportable complaints,
below the industry average. As well as monitoring the trends in the
metrics outlined above we constantly analyse the roct cause of
complaints and any underlying trends, to identify cpportunities to
improve service provision while detivering consistently fair outcomes
for customers.
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8. Model risk

Definition

Model nsk 1s the potential for negative outcomes frem random or systematic
errors in model development, input, calculation or use of outputs, Models
are always approximations and never perfect and there are therefore risks
associated with using them. These risks range from their thearetical basis,
the data and methods used in their construction, the economic conditions
under which they are developed, and their use.

For more information on our strategy please see pages 10 to 11

Change since 2017:
New risk

Link to strategy:
Diversified low-cost deposits

Appetite and mitigation

Measurement and monitoring

Appetite

There is a low appetite for model risk. This s defined as part of our overall
risk appetite and is regularly monitored by the CRPAC and ROC. All
maodels are evaluated on the basis of our model governance framewaork
and detailed procedures and target operating models are in place to
manage the risk,

Governance

CRPAC is the designated committee for the management of model
risk. The Model Governance Committee ((MGC'} is the technicat
committee overseeing the model risk lifecycle. Any material model
15 presented to the CRPAC for approval ahead of implementation
or model changes.

The CRPAC defines and approves the policies and procedures
relevant tc madel risk and approves the model risk appetite on an
annual basis. The MGC owns the minimurm standards and target
operating models to mitigate model risk and also defined roles
and responsibilities, with clear ownership and accountability.

The model governance function maintains a model inventory which
records key features of models including ownership and review
schedules. The model governance function also tracks model risk
and actions.

Independent review

An independent model validation function is part of the Enterprise
Risk Function. This team is independent from the Modet
Development team and is responsible for reviewing the model
development submissions and maintains a model validation action
log to track model risk mitigation plans. Models are also subject to
internal and external audit.
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Measurement

A set of KPIs are regularly reported and discussed at the MGC, CRPAC,
RCC and Board. On a monthly basis the CRPAC reviews any material
validaticn actions and tracks their completion.

Monitaring

A dedicated Model Monitoring team are responsible for assessing the
ongoing performance of models against pre-specified tolerances
approved by the CRPAC as part of the model monitoring standards.
Model manitonng is regularly performed and results are discussed at the
MGC and CRPAC where achons are agreed and tracked for completion.
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In addition to our principal risks, we monitor other
potentially significant or emerging risks

Credit cycle/cyclical risk

The credit cycle is the expansion and contraction of access to credit over time.
Credit cycle nsk s the risk of our customers not being able to access creditin
adeguate gquantities when required, causing pressure on their cash flow and
ability to meet credit obiigations when due.

Cycle risk is systemic, affecting a number of providers of finance, but alsc
idiosyncratic, affecting specific individuals, businesses and sectors. [t typically
does not have a tangible measure.

Credit cycles tend to drive the econamic cycle which, over a period of time,

has four distinct stages.

« Economic growth when credit is readily available

+ {ycle peak when credit availability exceeds the underlying market
demand causing over-gearing

« Economic contraction when credit availability 15 restricted

« Cycle trough when credit is severely restricted preventing
econcmic growth

It is widely accepted m the absence of a more direct measure that the impact
of credit cycle risk 15 instead reflected in the value of real estate assets.

Management and mitigation are achieved through our robusttending pelicies
ensuring apprepriate customer gearing levels are maintained throughout

the credit cycle. Additionally, the performance of individuai exposures and
the quality of supporung real estate assets and other tangible assets are
monitared regularly.

Portfolio monitoring and analysis are governed by a set of credit risk appetite
metrics measuring key areas such as performance and sector concentrations,
Portfolo monitoring reports are provided monthly for review and challenge at
senior management and Board level.

Cyberrisk

Cyber nisk management continues to be an area of key focus. We aim to
maintain robust cyber security systems and control measures, and seek
alow level of risk in both of these areas.

To mitigate the risk we combine traditional information security controls with
a cyber intelligence capability, and a proactive partnership with law

enfarcement. We continue to develop and embed our appreach to managing
cyber risk across the Bank, learning from intelligence sources and industry
peers to identify new and emerging cyber risks. We use a combination of
automated tooling metrics with intelligence-led insight to manage our cyber
risk profile, enabling us to stay ahead of the continuously evolving threat of
cyber threats in order to protect our customers and the Bank.

Operational resilience

Recent disruptive events acress the financial services industry, and beyond,
evidence the importance of safe, resilient operations. Increasing external
complexities compound the risk exposure across the industry. In response
we are committed to investing in the continued enhancement of resilience
controls and capabilities, so that we can continue to deliver consistently
excellent service to our customers.

These areas of resilience are likely to remain high on the regulatory agenda,
alongside changes in the macroeconomic environment. The FCA has
highlighted to retail banking firms its view of the need to focus onincreased
technology-related resilience risks, while the PRA requirements on
Operational Continuity in Resclution came into effect on 1 January 2019,
We expect that this will lead to additional regulatory supervision activity

in 2019 and beyond.

Culture

A culture that truly focuses on creating FANS and exceeding customer
expectations will deliver great outcomes for custamers. This focus on
exceeding customers’ and colleagues’ expectations by delivering unparalleled
service creates an emotional attachment to our brand... it creates FANS!
Several years of successful growth, market-leading net promoter scores and
fantastic customer retention demonstrate how our culture sits at the heart of
cur business model,

We are one team aligned to a single purpose: creating FANS. Embedding our
culture, and reinforcing the behaviours that support it, is what sets us apart.
Our cultureis the fabric of who we are, and it is why we are different. A group
of people creating FANS by daing the right thing for customers.
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Economic conditions: Brexit

The UK economy continues to face uncertainty resulting from the UK decision
to leave the EU {'Brexit’). Brexit poses a risk to the UK economy in the short,
medium and long term It includes the risks of withdrawal from the EU,
negctiating new trade agreements and foreign investment,

Underlying economic perfarmance across the UK has, since the referendum,
been better than initially projected in 2018 employment levels have improved
and wage growth has outpaced inflation. There have been some property
price decreases in London and the South East and we expect house prices to
remain subdued with low turncver. The overall picture supports a view that
conditions for lending in the consumer markets are stable, albeit with head
winds for reduced growth.

Business investment continues to wane and there are continuing structural
changes to the retail sector and some healthcare sectors. We continue to
monitor external projections. Gur impairment provision outlook includes an
additional scenanc and higher weighting that reflects a worsening cutlcok
for the economy. Using these and more severe outlooks we have stressed the
lending portfelics to provide a view on how the business may perform and
thus ensure sufficient levels of capital and liquidity.

Direct operational impacts on us from EU exit are imited but we are aware

of indirect effects on our colleagues and customers We believe the UK's
continued provision of INnovation and high-value services, the weaker pound
and the relatively flexible labour market should enable the UK to prosper
longer term.

UK exrt from the EU creates a largely binary economic outlook. Our
assumptions on credit losses attempt to reflect this on a probability basis.
Whilst there is a risk of greater volatility in the first two quarters of 2019,
we expect a ingering drag on the UK economy for some time,

Regulatory change

The range and complexity of regutations with which the Bank is required to
comply has increased, and this continues into 2019.

Duning 2018, several key initiatives to implement regulatory changes were
significantly progressed or completed. Notabiy, these included GDPR, PSD2
and the impterentation of new measures required by the Caompetition and
Markets Authority [CMAT, including the CMA inaugurai service quality results.

QOur culture, built on transparency, fairmess and customer focus, sits at the
heart of how we deliver our vision and strategy, and this is implicit in our
approach to delivering regulatory change. It 15 the essence of who we are, and
it helps us to meet our legal and regulatory commitments,

Technology and infrastructure

We continue to evolve our ability to deliver superior service to our customers
through cur integrated technology stack. Continuous improvement of our
technelogy infrastructure is essential to our effective management of the
risks associated with our rapid growth and the expansion of our physical

and digital footprint.

In 2018, we have invested heawvily in our continued relationships with key
technology partrers alongside our investment in cur mobile and digital
capability, which we alsc use to support our colleagues to exceed customer
expectations in our Steres. In recognition of this, we delivered significant
enhancement to our vendor management tooling and capability, with a
particular focus on automating our risk-based approach to managing key
contrels for core operational activities, such as onboarding, contracts and
security.

We are uniquely positioned by combining a streamlined approach tc the
number of systermns we operate, and cur lack of legacy technology. Looking
to the future, our agility will be further increased with investments in upgrades
to our core banking platform and a single Operational Data Store ({ODS).

This accompanies the delivery of in-flight work to build new architecture
aligned with our customer journeys and touch points

Data privacy

GDPR came into force on 25 May 2018 and introduced new requirements
on data protection and privacy to transform the way in which personal data s
collected, shared and used.

Cur GDPR programme was established in 2016, with the clear objective of
achieving compliance through the delivery of a series of proportionate
risk-based changes. Cur policies now inciude data privacy principles; we have
invested in systems to store our records of pracessing activities, manage our
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supplier risk and enhance our information security capabilitres, we have
invested in building capability in cur people and created the key colleague
roles to fulfil our obligations, end enhanced colieague training and expert
support on data privacy embeds in our philosophy to protect our customers,
as we continue to service our FANS tiy ensuring we keep their personal data
safe and secure.
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MREL

The Bank of England (BOE') promulgated MREL in 2016. UK firms will become
subject to intenm MREL requirerments from 1 January 2020 prior to the final
requirements coming inte force in 2022,

Holding MREL is a requirement placed on larger firms to ensure that in the
event of their failing and requirmg resolution by the BOE, their customers
continue to have access to their funds, and the operation of their accounts
will not be affected.

This requirement will mean that our MREL requirement will be above its
regulatory capital requirement and the Bank is therefore working to ensure
1t will be compliant m good time.

Strategic

Risk to delivery of Metro Bank's strategic objectives is influenced by a number
of competing external factors. These include: the need to deliver performance
consistent with stakehclder expectations against a backdrop of significant
regulatory change, which drives increased cost and cperaticnal burden,
ongoing regulatory and macroeconcmic uncertamty that requires reqular
review of planning assumptions; and a disruptive market environment
characterised by signihcant technological change that requires angoing
investment in digital platforms to enable us to fulfil customer expectations
across all channels. To manage these influences, we seek to identify any
linkages and overlaps between each of our principal risk categories and the
relevant emerging nsks; and then develop appropriate action plans to ensure
we deliver and sustain:

+ cur unique differentiated culture,

« our integrated model;

« diversified low-cost deposits; and

« low-risk diversified lending; whilst creating FANS for life

Viability statement

In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the revised UK
Corporate Governance Code, the Board has assessed the
prospects of the Group and Parent Company over a longer
period than the 12 months that has in practice been the
focus of the ‘going concern’ provision.

While the Bank prepares a forecast spanning a seven-year
period, the Directors concluded that a four-year period
was appropriate for the assessment, as it is the period
over which the financial forecasts have greatest certainty.
These forecasts are updated annually and reflect the
Group’s established strategy of creating FANS through
our unique culture and integrated model of stores and
technology, in order to raise low-cost deposits and
low-risk diversified lending.

Key assumptions included in the model include store,
deposit and lending growth, as well as remaining
appropriately capitalised. Over the forecast period, we
expect to raise capital and qualifying debt to fund our
anticipated growth and to meet regulatory requirements.

We have a well-established annual plannming process. The annual business plan
is developed in the context of a seven-year plan that sets out the longer-term
growth trajectory of the Bank. Both documents are presented to the Board

for discussion and approval. Execution against the annual plan is frequently
mcnitored by management and the Board to assess performance aganst

the stretching targets we set curselves. Additional oversight is provided by the
Risk Oversight Committee, which considers the Bank’'s growth and strategic
delivery plans within the context of our risk appetite statement, and the
resulting risk profile. Our strategic goals are described on pages 10 and 11

The raising of qualifying debt to meet regulatory minimum
requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities {"MREL")
will require some changes to the organisational structure
of the group, as well as various regulatory approvals in the
medium term.

Forecasts were subject to appropriate downside stress
and sensitivity analysis over the assessment period, taking
account of the Group's current position, the Group's
experience of managing change and the impact of a
number of severe yet plausible scenarios, based on the
principal risks outlined in the risk factors and management
section of this report.

Based on the results of this analysis, the Directors have
a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall
due over the period of their assessment.
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Applying our AMAZEING values to everything we do

Creating and maintaining FANS is at the heart of everything
we do, so our approach to environmental, social and
governance {'ESG’) policy at Metro Bank is simply about
doing the right thing. We focus on putting FANS first,

making Metro Bank a great place to work, supporting our
communities and managing other impacts such as on the
environment. OQur AMAZEING culture is aligned to this and of
course we are open and transparent about our responsible
business activities.

Qur priorities

In 2017 we worked with Deloitte to assess our material ESG
pricrities to inform our reporting on responsible business,
and to highlight potential risks and opportunities that might
inform the decisions we make. The pricrities for this year
remain unchanged:

Priorities Description More info
1 Our FANS Providing excellent service each and p.46
every ime
2 Our Creating FANS by providing excellent p.47-48
colleagues service to each and every customer
3 Qur Engaging with the communities we p.49
communities proudly serve
4 Data privacy Protecting our customers’ data just as p.50
and security  we do ther money
5 Our planet Being aware of our impact on the p.50
environment
6 OQur suppliers Working with suppliers whose vatues p.51

and behaviours are aligned to ours
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Materiality matrix

The ESG landscape is evolving rapidly and we will need to
adapt proactively in order to remain a sustainable business.

Oversight of ESG is at a Board and Executive team level, who
approve the policies and procedures by which we operate.
In addition, the Board is responsible for setting the Bank's
strategic direction, which has a major impact on our ESG
pricrities and how we manage them.

Ultimately, our AMAZEING behaviours underpin our belief
that we should act with integrity, putting our customers
and stakeholders first, whilst being the most professional
bankers. We know that by living by our AMAZEING
behaviours, we will continue to do the right thing by

our stakeholders every single day.



How we engage with our stakeholders
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Our long-term success depends on creating value for our customers and wider stakeholders. Knowing what matters to
stakeholders helps us to evolve our vision and approach, keeping them at the heart of what we do. In light of incoming
statutory reporting requirements and the revised UK Corporate Governance Code, during 2019 we will review the
stakeholder engagement activities we undertake, how we use this information in Board decision-making and our

reporting on stakeholder engagement.

Stakeholder group

Customers and the
communities we serve

Why they are important to us

Our business model depends upon attracting
customers and turning them into FANS. Our
reputation and creating FANS is at the core of
our values.

How we have engaged with them during 2018

‘Voice of the customer’ surveys

Expressions of dissatisfaction responses
and analytics

New store grand openings

Money Zone, our educational programme
MNetworking and community events

Days to AMAZE volunteerning

Colleagues

As a fast-growing business we constantly need
to attract new talent. We also want tc ensure our
existing colleagues are happy and engaged.

"Voice of the colleague’ surveys

Have your say café, colleague meetings
with leaders

Online QBA with leadership [Yam Jams)
Internal news (Revolution Updates)
Metrc Bank University

Investors

Qur equity and fixed-income investars are
fundamental to cur growth. They continue to
support the Bank, helping us bring the revolution
to mere and more FANS.

Annual General Meeting
Quarterly results meetings
Investor roadshows and conferences

Proxy adviser and institutional
investors meetings

Governance breakfasts

Annual Report

Regulators

Foltowing our Regulators’ Principtes, Rules and
Guidance helps us to make sure we put
custormer outcomes at the heart of everything
we do.

Meetings with the Prudential Regulation
Authority, Financial Conduct Authonty.,
Payment Systems Regulator and Bank
of England

Suppliers

We pride ourselves on doing the nght thing and
maintaining the highest values in everything
we do and this extends to the suppliers we
waork with,

Procurement
Meeting with suppliers
Site visits

METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018 45



ENVIRONMENTAL AND
SOCIAL SUMMARY CcoNTINUED

OUR
FANS

At Metro Bank we are committed to customer service and
creating and maintaining FANS is at the heart of everything
we do. We offer simple products that meet the personal and
business needs of our customers.

Our business is built on our FANS recommending us to their
friends, family and colleagues, so it’s really important to us
that we provide great service every day. This year Metro Bank
was proud to achieve the top spot in the Competition and
Market Authority's {CMA’) Service Quality Survey among
personal current account holders for its overall service.

We also came second among business current account
customers for overall service quality and were ranked in

the top five for all qualifying business and personal services.
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We monitor our customer service through our ‘Voice of the
Customer’ survey and analytics programme to make sure we
are surprising and delighting all our FANS and delivering the
best customer service every singte day.

We want all cur customers to be FANS and we recognise and
value our diverse customer base. We support our vulnerable
customers and we work hard to train our colleagues to make
sure they give the best advice and support, with customers
at the heart of everything we do.



OUR
COLLEAGUES

Qur culture and our AMAZEING behaviours are at the heart
of our business. It is so important that it's the first thing our
colleagues learn about when they join the Bank in our
two-day cultural immersion programme, Visions.

We want Metro Bank to be a place where everyone can be at
their best, and our inclusive approach celebrates diversity.
Our colleagues represent the communities we serve and the
locations where we're based. This year we are proud that
Glassdoor announced that we were the best bank to work
for in the UK and that we ranked in the top 25 of all UK
businesses. Glassdoor also named Craig Donaldson as

one of its top 10 UK CEOs of 2018, as part of its 'Employees’
Choice Awards’.

Colleague networks

Our colieague networks, include Women on Work ({ WOW'),
Mpride for our LGBT+ colleagues and Mbrace for our Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic 'BAME’) colleagues. All groups are
open to all colleagues, regardless of race, gender or sexual
orientation and all have the aim of helping everyone be their
very best.

Our AMAZEING behaviours

Attend to every detail

Make every wrong right

Ask if you’re not sure - bump it up!
Zest is contagious, share it!
Exceed expectations

Inspire colleagues to create FANS!

Nurture colleagues so they grow

@Z-mMmN>» XD

Game-change because this is a revolution
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The networks hold a variety of internal and external events
that provide support to network members and raise
awareness across our business. For example: MPride held an
event on 'LGBT+ Myth Busting’; MBrace held cne on "Why is
diversity in the workplace important?’; and WOW held a
number of ‘Confidence in the Workplace' events.

Each network is supported by an Executive Sponsor, providing
a link between the inclusion networks and senior management.
Qur Inclusion Committee oversees the activities of our three
inclusion networks and facilitates an intersectional approach
to our diversity and inclusion activities.

Through the work of MPride, we've received a number of
awards and nominations. Most recently we have been:

« shortlisted for ‘Most Inclusive Organisation’, British LGBT+
Awards 2019

+ shortlisted for ‘National Top 10 LGBT+ Network’, British
LGBT+ Awards 2019

Ethnic diversity at Metro Bank

Asian British 24.5% Mixed Other 2.3%
Asian Other 1% White British 41.0%
Black Brtish 8.1% White Irish 07%
Black Other 22% White Other 8.6%
Mixed British 2.4% Undisclosed 31%
Gender representation by grade
Directors Senior All
managers colleagues
2 (17%) 3{38%) 1,790 (46%)
10 {83%) 5(62%) 2,109 (54%})

All figures are as at 31 December 2018. Senior managers consists of colleagues who have
responsibility for pianning. directing or controlling Metro Bank or a strategically
significant part of it. We define this to be members of the Executive Leadership Team
excluding Executive Directors {who are included within the Director figurel.

We are a sighatory of the Women in Finance Charter and

are working towards achieving a target for 35% of our senior
management population to be female by 31 December 2020,
in line with the Hampton-Alexander review. Variable
remuneration at Metro Bank features incentives linked

to the diversity of our senior management population.
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During 2018 we published our gender pay gap figures for the
first time, in line with the Equality Act 2010 {Gender Pay Gap
Information} Regulations 2017. Further information on our
gender pay gap figures can be found in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 81 to 97.

We have a range of initiatives focused on supporting women
into leadership roles, As well as our Women on Work
network {see above), we run mentoring programmes and
leadership training and provide diverse candidate lists to
hiring managers. We also offer flexible working
arrangements and 14 weeks' parental leave for all new
parents, regardless of gender.

Cur latest Gender Pay Gap Report can be found
at metrobankonline.co.uk

Listening to colleagues

We work hard to understand how our colleagues feel about
Metro Bank as an employer, as a place to work and as a
provider of banking services. Every year we run a 'Voice of
the Colleague’ engagement survey. In our 2018 survey, over
30% of colleagues tock the time to share their views. We use
the results to help us to continuously improve our
colleagues’ experiences.

Woe partner with a text analytics company to give us deep
insight around the free text questions we ask every
colleague as part of the survey.

Headlines from this year's survey:

» 94% of colleagues feel Metro Bank is an inclusive
employer and that they can be themselves at work

« 96% of colleagues understand how their role contributes
to the overall success of Metro Bank

« 95% of colleagues feel encouraged to escalate an issue,
or ‘bump it up’

+ 96% of colleagues think that Metro Bank is a good place
to work

We also hold regular 'Have your say Café’ sessions to allow
colleagues the chance to raise any concerns they have with
senior members of the Bank. During 2019, we intend to
review our workforce engagement activities to ensure we are
engaging with the workforce, and using colleague feedback
in a manner consistent with the reievant principles and
provisions of the revised UK Corporate Governance Code.

Developing careers

During the year, we created over 800 new jobs and
promoted more than 730 colleagues. We're committed to
supporting colleagues and investing in their careers, and
over the past 12 months have helped 90 new leaders ‘Learn
to Lead', supported over 280 colleagues on fast-track
schemes and specialist studies, and enabled 445 colleagues
to gain professional banking qualifications.
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Also in 2018, we partnered with leading business school
Cranfield University, to launch an MSc in Retail and Digital
Banking, which provides the Chartered Banker Diploma
on completion. We are thrilled to be supporting over

30 colleagues from across the Bank to complete this
qualification as well as continuing to support the
apprenticeship programme already on offer at Metro Bank.
This programme has seen over 70 apprentice cashiers join
since we became an accredited Employer Provider at the
end of 2017.

By empowering colleagues and creating the conditions for
them to exceed customers’ expectations, we allow them
to thrive.

Rewarding and retaining our colleagues

We know that our colleagues are integral to growing cur
business. OQur reward principles, which reflect this and apply
to all colleagues, are designed to reward our colleagues for
high performance and retain the talent upon which our
business depends:

+ Pay fair salaries and offer strong career and growth
opportunities in an AMAZEING culture

* Make everyone an owner, aligning them to the Bank's
long-term vision

+ Reward colleagues based on Metro Bank's culture and
performance and how they behave and deliver, both as
part of the team and as an individual

» HKeep reward as simple as possible, with one approach
for all

+ Take a retail approach to variable reward: no excessive
cash bonuses or linear incentives which can skew
behaviours and encourage unnecessary risk taking

Health, safety and wellbeing

All colleagues benefit frormn health and safety training

when they join Metro Bank. Colleagues are encouraged to
participate in mental health awareness training and also have
access to Employee Assistance and the independent and
confidential Bank Workers Charity contact line that provides
information, advice and expert support services.

Our Health and Safety policy protects our customers and
colleagues and ensures we are compliant with our statutory
duties and responsibilities.

Policy

The Board's Nomination and Remuneration Committees set
policy and monitor implementation relating to their areas
of responsibility,

Our Whistleblowing Policy ensures that all colleagues are
encouraged to raise any concerns they may have about the
conduct of others in the business or the way in which the
business is run in good faith and without fear of unfair
treatment. This protects our colleagues and customers both
of whom are integral to the continued success of the Bank.



OUR
COMMUNITIES

We are proud to be an integral part of the communities we
serve. Stores are key to our unique model and we strive to
make a positive difference: through the local colleagues we
employ, the local businesses we lend to and the causes we
support. By helping our communities thrive we believe our
business will do too.

This year Metro Bank has opened 10 new stores, contributing
to the revitalisation of high streets and their local
communities in the UK and giving customers access to
face-to-face banking, while our competitors are
progressively closing their branch networks. Metro Bank
opens each new store with a grand opening, where we invite
the local community to come and see our new store and
meet our colleagues. We believe that Kids Rock! and Dogs
Rule! and we want to make sure everyone can come and visit
us in store, s0 we have customer toilets with baby changing
facilities in every store as well as dog treats and water bowls
for our canine FANS.
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We are passionate about working with the kids in our
communities. As well as hosting free Halloween, Easter and
Christmas craft events, we also engage with kids through our
free financial education programme, Money Zone. Money
Zone introduces pupils to financial skills, helping them
understand how money, saving and banking work. Our
ses5ions are incorporated into the school curriculum, and are
linked to the wider government curriculum guidelines. In 2018
over 41,000 young pecple have been through the scheme,

Metro Bank's official charity partners for 2018 are
Alzheimer's Society and Place2Be. Our colleagues have
taken part in various fundraising events through the year,
raising over £140,000, and our customers have helped us
support these charities through donations via our Magic
Money Machines.

We also clocked up hundreds of hours of volunteering in our

‘Days to Amaze’, where our colleagues give time out of their
working day to support the causes close to their hearts.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND
SOCIAL SUMMARY CoNTINUED

DATA PRIVACY
AND SECURITY

Protecting our customers’ data, just as we do their money,

is central to building the trust of our customers and creating
FANS. Our business is built on our FANS recommending us
to their friends, family and colleagues and we know how
important trust is to them.

We do everything we can to keep our customers’ details safe
and to reduce the risk of financial crime, both against us

and our customers. This includes using market-leading
technology, which gives us confidence we are speaking

to a genuine customer.

We worked hard to make sure we were ready for the
implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation
on 25 May 2018 and this included a full review of the
Metro Bank Data Policy.

Fraud prevention

At Metro Bank we take the protection of our customers, their
money and the bank extremely seriously. We apply a multi-
layered approach to fraud controls in the majority of areas.
An example of this is where we have ihvested heavily in
leading technology to allow the risk assessment of sessions
for our Remote Channels, providing strong protection.

To raise fraud awareness with our FANs we've undertaken

a number of campaigns to share how they may be targeted
by fraudsters and the actions they can take to protect
themselves. We continue to support the Take 5 industry-wide
fraud campaign.

OUR PLANET

We know that climate change will bring unprecedented
change for our FANS and the global economy. That's why
we want to make sure that we make it easy and convenient
for our FANS to reduce their environmental impact and
minimise our own impact on the planet as we bring the
revolution in British banking to more and more FANS.

As we've increased our network of stores and more FANS
have joined us, we've seen a 2.7% increase in absolute GHG
scope 1 and 2 emissions in 2018 from the baseline year, 2016
{see below). But this hides the improvements we've made on
carbon intensity: our emissions have reduced by 34.7% per
full-time equivalent employee over the same period.
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We're continually looking for ways to reduce our energy
consumption as we open new stores. Some of our
initiatives include:

+ new store designs, featuring additional solar filament
to reduce heat gain, thereby reducing the need for air
conditioning;

« implementing a tool to reduce the power usage of
desktop computers if they are left on overnight;

» installing energy efficient LED lighting in our stores;
= turning some store signage off overnight;
+ adjusting store door heating; and

= operating a small fleet of company vehicles, the majority
of which are hybrids.

We also have a number of initiatives seeking to reduce levels
of waste and water usage, including:

« engaging a supplier that sends zero waste to landfill to
handle over 90% of our waste;

« installing hand dryers in store washrooms and installing
single-leaf dispensers to reduce paper waste: and

= installing percussion taps, where possible, in bathrooms
to minimise water usage.

As outlined on pages 8 and 9, enabling our FANS to manage
their finances online, on our app and over the phone, is
integral to our business model. The development of these
services has not only reduced excess waste by enabling
paperless banking, but also has reduced the need to come
into stores to access our services, thus helping to reduce the
carbon footprint of our FANS.

We believe our straight-forward business model increases
our resilience to climate-related risk. Our focus on
supporting small and medium-size enterprises, exclusively
based in the UK, helps to mitigate our exposure to material
international environmental risks. We consider a variety of
issues when working with new customers, including
exposure to high-risk industries. Such industries include
mineral extraction, where for example, any decision
regarding the account would require further investigation
and escalation to management,

We ncnetheless recognise that the transitional risks posed
by climate change will impact our FANS and the markets we
operate in. We are committed to undertaking further work
to understand the risks and opportunities for Metro Bank
arising from climate change.

We've reported on our emissions in line with the
requirements of the Companies’ Act 2006 (Strategic and
Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2013.



Summary table for GHG emissions
2016

(CO.e}

2018 2017 baseline

GHG emissions (CO.e) (CO.e) year
Scope 1 emissions 2306 1312 1,180
Scope 2 emissions 4,064 4668 5044
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions 6,369 5980 6204
Full-ime employees (FTE) 3,803 32002 2417
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions per FTE 167 189 257

The assessment period is aligned with our financial year —
1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Details of the reporting criteria can be found in our separate
ESG document which is available at metrobankonline.co.uk

We selected operational control as our consolidation
approach, and our boundary includes all entities and
facilities either owned or under our control.

The table above includes restated figures for our total annual
emissions for 2016 (baseline year). These figures were
published correctly in the 2016 Annual Report and Accounts,
but then restated in 2017 Annual Report and Accounts using
2017 emissions factors. The figures published last year in
relation to 2017 are unaffected. We have restated these
figures here to accurately reflect our emissions in each period.

OUR SUPPLIERS

Our business model is built on creating FANS, and actions by
our suppliers that are not in keeping with our values expose
us to reputational damage and risk through association. We
manage this by reviewing the controls put in place by our
suppliers to prevent and detect bribery, corruption, modern
slavery, child trafficking, unfair wages, unacceptable working
conditions and labour rights abuse.

Metro Bank is committed to introducing responsible
business practices that make it easier for our suppliers to do
business with us. We are a member of the Financial Services
Supplier Qualification System ('FSQS’), a collaboration
between UK financial institutions (buyers) to provide a
standard and simplified process for suppliers to give detail
about the control environment they operate. FSQS helps our
suppliers by reducing duplication of effort in responding to
buyer due diligence requests, and benefits us by sharing
resource and best practice with other buyers.

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are committed to maintaining the highest standards
of ethics and integrity. Any act of bribery or corruption
is unacceptable and we take the same approach with
our suppliers.
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We use FSQS to conduct due diligence on our suppliers
before contracting, on a risk basis, as appropriate.

We also protect our customers and the Bank by setting out
and regularly training our colleagues on our Anti-Bribery
and Corruption Policy. This helps us to make sure all our
colleagues are conducting business in an honest and ethical
manner, which reflects our zero-tolerance approach to
bribery and corruption.

Modern slavery

Our philosophy is to conduct all business in an appropriate
manner. Slavery, servitude, forced labour and human
trafficking (modern slavery) is a crime and violation of
fundamental human rights. We have zero tolerance of
modern slavery and continue to be committed to acting
professionally, fairly and with integrity in all our business
dealings and relationships wherever we operate, including
enforcing appropriate systems and controls to ensure, on
a risk basis, that modern slavery is not taking place in our
business or supply chains.

During 2018 we continued to follow and progress our
processes to support our Modern Slavery Policy, including:

« publishing Metro Bank's second Modern Slavery
Statement, approved by the Board and signed by
Craig Donaldson, CEQ, on our website in June 2018
{metrobankonline.co.uk);

delivering the first report of the Modern Slavery
Champion, to the Board in May 2018, updating on
progress against the Modern Slavery Statement and
the Action Plan established in 2017;

« further developing FSQS to conduct due diligence
on suppliers before contracting, on a risk basis, as
appropriate. In addition, through FSQS, we are engaging
with suppliers to identify those who have modern slavery
guidelines in their policies and standard terms, those who
conduct regutar risk assessments in relation to modern
slavery, those who undertake modern slavery training and
seeking attestation that they have not been investigated
or convicted of activities relating to modern slavery.
As a result, during 2018, we identified 85 suppliers with
revenue in excess of £36 miltion and, of those, 51 who had
published a Modern Slavery Statement and six who intend
to publish one. In 2019 we will start the process of
following up, on a risk basis, with those suppliers who
have not yet published a statement; and

« signing up to the Home Office contact database for
modern slavery reporting guidance and resources in
November 2018.

Our Modern Slavery Statement is available at metrobankonline.co.uk
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Policy Description ESG Priorities
Treating Customers Fairly The policy reflects our goal to create FANS through the delivery of 1 2
consistently AMAZEING outcomes. This philosophy s embedded in our
culture and is an integral part of our business model and strategy. Cur zero
tolerance for unfair customer cutcomes is underpinned by our Canduct Risk
framework which was approved by the Board.
Lending Policies (including The policies make sure that we're lending in the right way. 1
residential mortgage, retail
unsecured finance, private
banking credit, commercial,
arrears management)
Anti-Money Laundering] The policy sets cut the systems and centrols to identify, assess, monitor 1 2
Counter Terrorist Financing and manage financial crime risks and the pracedures in place to assess
their effectiveness.
Diversity and inclusion The polcy means that we treat our colleagues farrly. It sets out our 2 3
commitment to having a diverse workforce which reflects our customer
base and to employment policies which follow best practice, based on
equal opportunities for all colleagues.
Recruitment and Selection The policy relates to all recruitment-related activities and is relevant for all 2
colieagues and any third-party recruitment partners. The policy outlines
respansibilities for hiring aligned to our Company objectives/ethos and in
accordance with the relevant legislation and regulation.
Board Diversity The policy sets out our commitment to diversity and inclusion for the Board. 2
Which 15 based on our knowledge that a diverse Board, appointed on merit,
with a broad range of skills, backgrounds, knowledge and experience, will be
a more effective and responsible Board.
Health and Safety The policy protects our customers and colleagues. It recognises our 2
statutory dutres and responsibilities under the relevant Health and Safety
and Welfare legislation.
Whist[eblowing The policy encourages colleagues to disclose information, in good faith and 2
without fear of unfair treatment, when they suspect any illegal or unethicat
conduct or wrongdoing affecting the Bank.
Anti-bribery and Corruption The policy outlines our approach to managing the risk of bribery and 2
corruption and to ensure we conduct business in an honest and ethical
way, with a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and corruption.
Conflicts of Interest The policy provides consistent practical guidance to all relevant parties in 2
relation to the identification, recording and maintenance of actual and
perceived conflicts of interest,
Business Continuity The policy makes sure we are able to continue delivering services to our 2 3 4 6
customers at acceptable levels If something unexpected were to happen.
It addresses impacts to the continuity of critical business activities in the
case of man made disasters, natural disasters or other material events.
Data The policy sets out our objectives and expectations in managing data and 1 2 4
data governance practices. It makes sure that data is managed, governed,
accessed, protected, utibsed and disclosed approprately. it also focuses
on the guality of key data elements and their ongoing maintenance.
Procurement & Supplier The policy ensures that when we rely on a on external supplier for key 1 6
Management processes and activities, we take the reasonable steps to identify, monitor
9 and mitigate the external supplier risks.
Modern Slavery The policy describes our approach towards preventing slavery, servitude, 3 6

forced and compulscry labour and human trafficking in any of our operations
or at any of our suppliers and, through them, our supply chains.

1 Cur FANS 2 Ourcolleagues 3 Qur communities 4 Data privacy and security 5 Qur planet 6 Our suppliers

Learn more about our policies in our separate ESG decument, which is available at metrobankonline.co.uk
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Non-Financial Information Statement

This is our Non-Financial Information Staterment, prepared in order to comply with sections 414CA and 414CB of the
Companies Act 2006. We explain here where you can find further information on how we make sure we do the right thing
in relation to wider society and the environment and how we seek to do the right thing in terms of our impacts.

A description of our business model and strategy, as well as the non-financial Key Performance Indicators {'KPIs') relevant to
our business can be found on pages 8 to 11. Additional KPIs in relation to each of the matters listed in the table below have
been disclosed in the corresponding section of the Environmental and Social Summary, where we believe this will assistin
demonstrating the outcomes of our policies and activities during 2018.

Where to find further information necessary for an
Reporting requirement understanding of our business and our impacts,
including cutcomes of qur activities

Relevant policies
{please see page 52 for a description of each policy}

Environmental Our Planet, page 50 Our comprehensive risk rmanagement processes and ESG
matters materiality assessment (see below) have not identified
ervironmentat matters or climate change as a principat nisk
for the business. So, at present, we do not have a bespoke
environmental policy. We do, however, recognise the need
to minirmise our impact on the environment and manage
any material impacts from climate change on our business.
As disclosed in the Our Planet section of this summary,
we have successfully driven progress in cur environmental
performance to date without the need for a bespoke
policy. We will continue to review the appropriateness
of this approach.

Employees Our Colleagues, page 47 - Diversity and Inclusion
« Recruitment and Selection

The Chief Executive Officer’s statement {page 3) and the
« Health and Safety

description of our business model (page 8), articulate
how our colleagues are an essential component of « Whistleblowing
QU SLCCess, « Conflicts of Interest and Related Parties

Society and Our Commupnities, page 49 As outlined in the communities section of this report, we are

Communities proud to be an integral part of the communities we serve.
At present, we do not pursue a bespoke policy regarding our
activities with the wider communities but stores are key to
our urique model and we strive to make a positive difference-
through the local colleagues we employ. the local businesses
we lend to and through the causes we support. By hetping
our communities thrive we believe our business will do too.

Respect for Our Suppliers, page 51 + Modern Slavery
Human Rights « Qutsourcing

Anti-Bribery and Our Supptiers, page 51 = Anti-bribery and Corruption
Corruption

Management of principal risks and due diligence for ESG policies

We manage risk through a comprehensive governance and control framework, as described in our Risk Report on pages

28 to 43. The Risk Report also describes the principal risks to our business. Qur risk management policies and controls are
reviewed regutarly to reflect changes in market conditions, regulations and our activities. Through regular training and
additional standards, guidance and procedures, we aim to develop a robust and effective control environment in which

all our colleagues understand their roles and obligations. The policies disclosed on page 52 form part of our wider risk
management approach. All colleagues are responsible for managing risk as part of their day-to-day role and our AMAZEING
culture is all about our colleagues doing the right thing for our FANS and the business. As such, everyone at Metro Bank plays
a role in risk management.

Management exercises an appropriate tevel of due diligence over the policies and activities referenced in the Environment
and Social Summary and this Non-Financial Information Statement. Our reporting on environmental and social matters is
subject to the oversight of the Audit Committee.

This Strategic Report was approved by the Beard and was signed on its behalf by:

Craig Donaldson Ve
Chief Executive Officer ,/ /7
10 April 2019 / e
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW

David Arden, Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer

Continuing to provide prudent oversight as we grow

| set out Metro Bank's Corporate Governance Statement,
and my first report since being appointed in March 2018.

it's been a busy and rewarding year for Metro Bank, although
not without its challenges. I'm pieased with the progress

we are making as we mature as a listed company.

Metro Bank has a premium listing on the London Stock
Exchange and is required to comply with the 2016 UK
Corporate Governance Code {the ‘Code’) or to explain any
areas of non-compliance. | am pleased to report that during
the period under review, we fully complied with the Code.

Looking forward, we welcome the implementation of the
new 2018 Code (the ‘New Code’}. At Metro Bank we are,

and always have been, a purpose-driven organisation.

Our purpose is to create FANS. We put the customer at the
heart of everything we do and our pervasive culture and
AMAZEING values permeate every area of our business. This
has naturally put us ahead of the curve on some areas of the
New Code. We have spent significant time this year analysing
the New Code and preparing for its implementation.

Progressively refreshing our Board to ensure that it has the
right mix of skills, independence, experience and diversity
to provide oversight of the Bank as it continues to grow in
an evelving and challenging environment is cur top
governance priority.
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We have made significant headway in refreshing the Board
during the year. We appointed two new independent
Non-Executive Directors {'NEDs’), Catherine Brown, on

1 October 2018, and Paul Thandi on 1 January 2019. Their
unigue knowledge and skills complement and refresh our
already strong and experienced Board. For both Paul and
Catherine, we created tailored and detailed induction
programmes to fully integrate them into our business and
enable them to contribute effectively at Board meetings.
Woe will continue to seek high-calibre independent Board
members as part of our ongoing succession plans.

Following nine years of service, Lord Howard Flight retired
from the Board on 1 April 2019 and Keith Carby will retire
from the Board on 30 April 2019. They therefore will not be
standing for re-electicn at the 2019 AGM. The Board would
like to thank Howard and Keith for their significant
contributions to Metro Bank during that time.



As a relatively young organisation, a number of our NEDs
reached nine years' tenure in March 2019 and we no longer
treat those NEDs as independent. The appointment of two
new Non-Executive Directors gave us the opportunity to
refresh the membership and chairs of our Committees and
our Committees are in compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code’s provisions from i April 2019. Our
Committee Chairs are available to shareholders upon
request for any questions they have.

We fully support the recommendations of the Code for
independence on Boards. While cur balance of Independent
NEDs is currently slightly below the 50% minimum, this will
be short lived as Keith Carby retires from the Board on

30 April 2019.

From 1 May 2019, the Board {excluding the Chairman)
will be made up of 10 Directors of which five (50%), are
independent NEDs, in line with the requirements of the
New Code. The Board continues its proactive search for
additional independent NED candidates and we expect
to make another appointment this year.

More detail on the makeup of our Board, Committees and
individual Directors can be found in the Nomination
Committee report on page 79.
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As we reported last year, we carried out an externally
facilitated Board evaluation in late 2017. During 2018, the
Board reviewed the recommendations from the external
evaluation and implemented an action plan to address these.
In addition, we also carried out an internal evaluation during
2018 to ensure our Board and its Committees continue to
operate at maximum effectiveness. More details on the
Board evaluation process can be found on page 65.

I am pleased to report that at the 2018 AGM all resolutions
were passed by a majority of 93% or above. Proactively
engaging with our investors and stakeholders is very
important to us. We met with investors and proxy advisers
during the year and we welcomed their feedback as we
prepared for the year ahead. Our Committee Chairs are
also available to shareholders upon request for any
questions they have.

In 2019 and beyond, Metro Bank will continue to grow

and increase its digital and geographic footprint. As atways,
our focus is on bringing the revolution in British banking
through our exceptional customer service. Our corporate
governance framework will continue to provide prudent
oversight of the Bank on this journey.

David Arden
Company Secretary
10 April 2019

'—f/(a,\
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

These references are to Committee memberships during 2018. Details of Board roles and committee memberships as of 1 April 2019 can be found

on page 79.

1 Vernon W_Hili, I}

Chairman and Founder (\)

Appointed to the Board 18 August 2008

Vernon was the founder and Chairman of Commerce
Bancorp, a start-up bank established in 1973 and sold to
Toronto-Dominion Bank in 2007 for USS$8.5 billion, with
USS50 billion in assets and 440 branches. Vernon is involved
in banking and non-banking related businesses and
voluntary ventures in the US. He is a graduate of the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania. Vernon is Chairman
of Republic First Bancorp, Inc.

2 Craig Donaldson

Chief Executive Cfficer

Appointed to the Board 5 March 2010

Craig was previously Managing Director, Retail Products and
Direct Channels, of RBS UK. He was also Chairman of the
Retail Asset and Liabilities Committee and Retail Product
Board and a member of the Retail Board, Retail Risk
Committee and RBS UK Asset and Liabilities Committee.

He serves on the Board of Directors at TheCityUK as
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee.

3 David Arden

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Appointed to the Board 29 March 2018

Prior to joining Metro Bank, David was CFO at Sainsbury's
Bank and interim MD of Argos Financial Services, following
the successful acquisition of Home Retail Group by

J Sainsbury ple in September 2016. David joined Sainsbury’s
Bank from Shop Direct Financial Services, where he was
CFO. In his 28-year career, he has held a number of senior
positions including MD of RBS/NatWest credit cards and
Finance and Risk Director for Tesco Bank.

4 Stuart Bernau

Non-Executive Director @ @

Appointed to the Board 5 March 2010

Stuart has specialised in financial services for over 40 years,
including 13 years as a main Board Director of Nationwide
Building Society. He was Chairman and CEO of Chelsea
Building Society and has chaired the Council of Mortgage

Lenders and the Financial Services Sector Skills Council.
He was Special Adviser to the Treasury Select Committee
from 2013 to 2015.

5 Catherine Brown

Non-Executive Director

Appointed to the Board 1 October 2018

Catherine holds various ncn-executive roles including:
Non-Executive Board Member at the Cabinet Office, Non-
Executive Director of FNZ (UK) Limited, and Chairman and
Non-Executive Director of Additive Flow Limited and

The Plastic Economy Limited. She is a Trustee of Cancer
Research UK, one of the UK's largest charities. Catherine
has extensive experience in organisational transformation
in financial services and a wide range of experience in
leadership and operations. Her previous appointments
include: Group Strategy Director at Lioyds Banking Group,
Executive Director of Human Resources at the Bank of
England and Chief Operating Officer at Apax Partners.

6 Keith Carby*

Non-Executive Director @ ® @

Appointed to the Board 5 March 2010

Keith was formerly Founder and CEO of the Caerus Capital
Group. He is Co-Founder and Non-Executive Chairman of
both Censeo Ltd and Mill Capital investment Partners
{Dubai), and also Joint Founder and Chairman of AdAlpha
Solutions Ltd. Keith was Joint Founder and Managing
Director of J. Rothschild Assurance {nhow St. James’s Place).
He also co-founded the Financial Services Forum.

7 Roger Farah

Non-Executive Director @ @

Appointed to the Board 1 February 2014

Roger is Chairman of Tiffany & Co. He is a former Executive
Vice Chairman of Ralph Lauren Corporaticon, also its
President and Chief Operating Officer. Roger was previously
Chairman and CEO of Footlocker, President and Chief
Operating Officer of Macy's, Chairman and CEO of Federated
Merchandising Services, and Chairman and CEQO of Rich’s
Department Stores. Reger is a Director of Aetna and The
Progressive Corporation.

Key to Committees ® Audit () Remuneration ® Nomination (2) Risk Oversight

® ®
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8 Lord Flight!

Non-Executive Director (R), ()

Appointed to the Board 5 March 2010

Howard was Conservative MP for Arundel and South Downs,
Woest Sussex, from 1997 to 2005, when he held Shadow
posts, including Shadow Chief Secretary to the Treasury.
He was a member of the Shadow Cabinet from 2002 to
2004. He was appointed to the House of Lords in 2011,

He co-founded Guinness Flight Global Asset Management,
and is Chairman of Aurora Investment Trust, Downing Four
VCT, and Flight and Partners, a Director of Investec Asset
Management and Edge Performance VCT, a Commissioner
of the Guernsey Financial Services Commission and
Chairman of the EIS Association.

9 Alastair (Ben) Gunn

Senior Independent Director @

Appointed to the Board 5 March 2010

Ben was Chief Executive and then Chairman of Friends
Provident Life and Pensions Ltd as well as a Director of
Friends Provident. As Chief Executive, he was responsible for
all aspects of the Friends Provident Group's life and pensions
activities worldwide. More recently, he was the Senior
Independent Director at Aviva UK and Chairman of the

Audit Committee at Avelo.

10 Gene Lockhart

Non-Executive Director @ @

Appointed to the Board 5 March 2010

Gene is Chairman and Managing Partner at MissionOG,

a venture capital firm with significant operational and
investment experience across the financial services and
payments industries. Previously, he was a Special Adviser at
General Atlantic and a Venture Partner at Oak Investment
Partners. Prior to that, he was President of the Global Retail
Bank at Bank of America, President & CEQ at Mastercard
International, and CEQ at Midland Bank plc. He has been on
the boards of many banking institutions including Midland
Group Holdings, First Republic Bank, Bank America Corp.,
Mastercard International, and APACS, amongst others.
Gene has also been the Chairman of the Board of CHAPS
and Director of SWIFT.

1. Howard Ftight retired from the Board on 1 April 2015. Keith Carby will retire from the
Board on 30 April 2019.
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11 Anna (Monique) Melis

Non-Executive Director

Appointed to the Board 20 June 2017

Monique is a Managing Director and the Global Head of
Regulatory Consulting at Duff & Phelps and is a member of
Duff and Phelps’ Luxembourg Management Company Board.
With extensive financial services and regulatory experience
across established and growth markets, her appecintments
have included Executive Board member at Kinetic Partners
and roles at the Cayman Islands Regulator and Stock
Exchange ('CSX'), the Financial Services Authority and

the Securities and Futures Authority.

12 Sir Michaet Snyder

Non-Executive Director @

Appointed to the Board 22 September 2015

Michael was Senior Partner of Kingston Smith between 1979
and 2016, and is now a consultant to the firm. He has advised
the government over many years, including chairing the
National Business Angels Network, and as a8 member of the
Small Business Council and Small Business Investment
Taskforce. He was also founder Co-Chairman of the
government’s Professional and Business Services Council
and chaired the Association of Practising Accountants.

He is Senior Partner of Bramdean Consultants LLP and

an elected member of the City of London Ceorporation,
which he led for five years as Chairman of the Policy

and Resources Committee.

13 Paul Thandi

Non-Executive Director

Appointed to the Board 1 January 2019

Paulis CEQO of the NEC Group in Birmingham where he
has overseen the growth of one of the world's top venue
management companies. He is an experienced CEQ, Chair
and Non-Executive Director with diverse international media
and service-led experience with an emphasis on people,
innovation, data and culture. Paul has over 20 years’
experience in the media industry, including as executive
director at CMP Information (CMPi’). He is also Deputy
Lieutenant of West Midlands Lieutenancy, representing
the GQueen in the region.

More details on the skills and experience of our Directors
can be found in the skills matrix on page 61.

® @ @ @
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of the Company who were in office during the
year and up to the date of signing the financial statements?
(and summaries of their key skills and experience) are set
out on pages 56 to 57.

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual
Report for the year ended 31 December 2018, As set out
rmore fully in the Summary of significant accounting policies
within note 1 to the financial statements, this report for the
consolidated Group has been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as
adopted by the EU and includes the Corporate Governance
Report set out on pages 61 to 67,

The Directors consider the Annual Report for the year ended
31 December 2018, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable, and provides the information necessary

for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and
performance, business model and strategy.

Principal activities

Our principal activities during 2018 were the provision of
banking and related services. Metro Bank is a deposit-taking
and lending institution with a focus on retail and small and
medium-size commercial customers, offering consistent fair
pricing and excellent customer service. We're authorised to
accept deposits under the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000, have a Consumer Credit Act licence and are members
of the Financial Services Compensation Scheme.

Results and dividend
The results for the year are set out in the consclidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 105.

No dividend was declared or paid during 2018 (2017: Enil).
The Directors do not anticipate declaring a dividend in the
near future.

Significant events

Further to the authority granted by shareholders at the 2018
AGM, on 25 July 2018 a further 8,851,304 new ordinary shares
of an aggregate nominal value of £8 51 were issued at £34.22
per share. The issue followed the completion of a non
pre-emptive cash placing of new ordinary shares, for gross
consideration of £303 million. The new shares were admitted
for trading on the London Stock Exchange on 27 July 2018.

During the year we also successfully completed a debt
issuance which raised £250 million of Tier 2 capital and
acquired a portfolio of seasoned UK mortgages for
£523 million.

Articles of Association
The Articles of Association can be found on our website:
metrobankonline.co.uk.

Share capital

Our called-up share capital, together with details of shares
allotted during the year, is shown in note 19 to the financial
statements on page 132.

1. Mike Brierly retired from the Board in March 2018. Howard Flight retired from the
Board or: 1 April 2019. Keith Carby will retire from the Board on 30 April 2019.
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There are no restrictions on the transfer of the Company’s
share capital and there are no shares or stock which carry
specific rights with regards to control of the Company.

The Directors seek annual authority from shareholders to
allot new ordinary shares and to disapply pre-emption rights
of existing shareholders in accordance with the Investment
Association Share Management Guidelines.

Directors’ interests
Details of the Directors’ beneficial interests are set out in the
Annual Report on Remuneration on page 94.

Directors’ indemnities and Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance

Details regarding deeds of indemnity and Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 67.

Major interests in shares

Information provided to the Group by substantial shareholders
pursuant to the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR’) is
published via a Regulatory Information Service.

As at 31 December 2018 and up to the last practical date
before publication of this report, the Group has been
notified under DTR 5 of the interests in its issued share
capital, and these are set out in the table below. All such
shareholders have the right to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings.

Crdinary % of total Direct/
As at 31 December 2018 shares held ordinary shares indirect interest
Cohen Private Ventures 7917 848 985 Indirect
Fidelity Management
and Research 7412 558 /60 Indirect
Ruane, Cunmiff &
Goldfarb L.P 5,020,755 515 Direct
The Spruce House
Partrnership 4,925.000 506 Direct
Hound Partners 4915,285 505 Indirect
Wellington
Management
Group LLP 3641556 453 Indirect

Greenhouse gas emissions

Qur energy consumption and associated greenhouse gas
emissions during 2018 are set out in the Strategic Report
on page 51.

Employee involvement

We encourage employee involvement in the Bank. Increasing
employee awareness of the financial and economic factors
that affect us plays a major role in maintaining our customer
focus. All employees are eligible to participate in our share
option and/or share buy and share pool schemes. More
information on our colleagues can be found on page 47

of the Strategic Report.



Diversity

Our Diversity and Inclusion policy outlines our commitment
to employment policies which follow best practice, based
on equal opportunities for all employees. We aim for our
workforce to reflect the diverse communities in which we
operate and recognise that diversity is not only a key part of
aresponsible business strategy, but also supports a strong
customer experience. We give full and fair consideration

to all applications for employment,

During the year, we published our Board Diversity Policy,
which sets out our commitment to diversity and inclusion

for the Board. At Metro Bank we believe that a diverse Board,
appointed on merit, with a broad range of skills, backgrounds,
knowledge and experience, will be a more effective and
responsible Board. The policy can be found on our website

at www.metrobankonline co.uk/finvestor-relations. Going
forward, we will report annually against the objectives in

the policy.

Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always
fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of employees becoming disabled,
we make every effort to ensure that their employment
continues and that we provide appropriate training and
suppeort. Qur policy is that the training, career development
and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible,
be identical to that of other employees.

Modern slavery

We are committed to supporting the communities in which
we opetrate in order to enable them to develop both socially
and economically. Our policy is to conduct all business in
an appropriate manner and we have zero tolerance for
modern slavery. We continue to be committed to acting
professionally and fairly in all cur business dealings and
relationships wherever we operate, including enforcing
appropriate systems and controls to ensure, on a risk basis,
that modern slavery is not taking place in our business or
supply chains.

The initiatives and how we have developed them through
during 2018 can be found on page 51. We have also
appointed a member of the Board as our Modern Slavery
Champion who with the CEO will monitor ongoing
compliance with the Modern Siavery Policy.

Qur Modern Stavery Statement is available at metrobankonline.co.uk

Risk management

The Directors confirm that they have undertaken a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group. We seek
to manage all risks that arise from our activities. Details

of risk management systems and the processes in place

in relation to financial reporting, and details of risk
management objectives and policies, are shown in the

Risk Report on pages 28 to 43. As a result of normal business
activities, we are exposed to a variety of risks — and the
principal risks and uncertainties that we face are shown

in the Risk Factors and Management Report.
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Going concern

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern
basis, as the Directors are satisfied that the Group and Parent
Company have the resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future.

Viability Statement
Our Viability Statement is set out on page 43.

Auditors

During 2018 we carried out an extensive audit tender
process. Following completion of a detailed and robust
tender process, it was agreed that PwC would be invited to
continue to provide external audit services to Metro Bank.
PwC has indicated its willingness to continue in office and
a resclution seeking to reappoint it wilt be proposed at the
2019 Annual General Meeting. More details regarding the
tender process can be found on pages 71 to 72.

Political donations
We made no political donations in the year ending
31 December 2018 (2017: £nil).

Research and development

We have an ongoing commitment to make banking more
convenient for customers, and in 2018 we continued to
invest in systems, procedures, products and services. As a
result, we have capitalised £70 million of intangible assets.

Post balance sheet events
A summary of the key post balance sheet events is set out
in note 32 to the financial statements on page 159.

Annual General Meeting
Details of this year's AGM can be found in the Shareholder
Information section on page 166.

Future developments
Cur business and future plans are reviewed in the
Operating Review.

Listing Rules disclosures

For the purposes of LR 9.8.4CR, the information reguired
to be disclosed by LR 9.8 4R can be found in the following
sections of the report:

ltem Lotation, where applicable

Remuneration Report, ta the
financial statements note 20

Detail of .ong-term
incentive schemes

Contracts of significance Any contracts of significance
or related party transactions
can be found In note 28 to

the financial statements

Corporate Governance Statement

The Corporate Governance Report on pages 61to 67 in
accordance with Rule 7.2 of the Disclosure and Transparency
Rules and Rule 9.8.6 (5) and (6) of the Listing Rules forms
part of this Directors’ Report.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Qur Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. The Directors have
prepared the Group and Parent Company financial
statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union and applicable law and have elected to
prepare the Parent Company financial statements on the
same basis.

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the
financial staternents unless they are satisfied that they give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors
are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently:

*« make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

+ state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European
Union have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial
staterments; and

= prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company and the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
our transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Company and the
Group, and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safequarding our assets and taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the information included on our website.
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Directors’ statement pursuant to the disclosure and
transparency rules

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are
listed on pages 56 and 57%, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

« the financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union,
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the Group taken as a
whole; and

« the Strategic Report contained in the Annual Report
includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the
Group taken as a whole, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors

Each Director in office at the date of this report, and whose
name is listed on pages 56 and 57%, confirms that to the best
of their knowledge:

« thereis no relevant audit information of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

+ all reasonable steps that they ought to have taken as a
Director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information, and to establish that the Company's auditors
are aware of the information, have been taken.

The confirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

The Directors' Report comprising pages 58 to 60 has been
approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its
behalf by

David Arden

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
10 April 2019

‘T/(k

1. Howard Flight retired from the Board on 1 Apnt 2019, Kerth Carby witl retire from the
Board on 30 Aprit 2019
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Governance framework

The Board has a coherent corporate governance structure with clearly defined responsibilities and accountabilities,
These have been designed to safeguard and enhance long-term sharehoider value and provide a robust framework
in which to deliver our strategy.

Corporate governance structure

S
N

1 I

Chief Executive Officer

L by b b A

Metro Bank Board

Remuneration Nomination Audit Risk Oversight . .
. . . A nt Comm
Committee Committee Committee Committee Executive Management C ittees
Leadership

The role of the Board
The Board is responsible to our shareholders and sets our strategy for achieving long-term success. It is also ultimately
responsible for the management, governance, controls, risk management, direction and performance of the Bank.

The composition of the Board
As at the date of this Report, the Board consists of the Non-Executive Chairman, two Executive Directors (the CEO and CFO)
and nine Non-Executive Directors. Howard Flight stepped down from the Board on 1 Aprit 2019,

Board skills as at 31 December 2018

Skills
Retail Financial Accounting/
financial Credit crime Retailing financial
Role services risk investigation Governance Regulatory experience incl. audit Leadership

Vernon W. Hill, Il
Non-Executive Chairman

® @

Craig Donaldson
Chief Executive Officer

David Arden
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

© O
SICHE,

)

Non-Executive Directors

Stuart Bernau
Non-Executive Director

QNGNS
@ |©©©

Catherine Brown
Non-Executive Director

Keith Carby*
Non-Executive Director

@ ®

© © e

Roger Farah
Non-Executive Director

Lord Flight*
Non-Executive Director

Alastair {(Ben) Gunn
Semaor Ingdependent Director

Gene Lockhart
Non-Executive Directar

Anna (Monigue) Melis
Non-Executive Director

e e G| 060G

©©

Sir Michael Snyder
Neon-Executive Director

COLIeIE OB |©0|G

@ 10 e

Paul Thandi?
Non-Executive Director

SHOHSIHMGHSHSNSHONS,
SHSHANISHANIHIGHS!

1. Howard Flight retired from the Board on 1 April 2019. Keith Carby will retire frem the Board on 30 April 2019.
2. Paul Thandi was appointed on 1 January 2019,
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Division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The Board has formally documented the separate roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
more detail on this can be found on the Company's website at metrobankonline_co.uk/investor-relations.

Each Director has committed to dedicate as much time as is necessary to the Company and the Non-Executive Directors’
letters of appointment set out that they should be prepared to dedicate at least 20 days per year to the Company.

Directors are expected to attend all meetings of the Board, and the Committees on which they sit, and to devote sufficient
time to the Company's affairs to enable them to fulfil their duties. If Directors are unable to attend a meeting, their
comments on papers to be considered at the meeting will be discussed in advance with the Chairman or Company Secretary
50 that their contribution can be included in the wider Board discussion.

Board role and responsibilities

Role Responsibility

Chairman The Chairmmsn wads tr2 Board sn2 s rescansibie forits effectvanass and governacea, He sets e tore for the Comeany,
nclLding overseeirg the development of the Bank s pusivess culiure and standaras in relalion to the conduct of busness and
the behaviour of employees He s responsible for ensuning that there are strong links between the Board ard mMmanagement
and between tne Board ant thare-olders He sets the Board agenda and cnisures that sufnoent arme s alloca'ed 1o mportant
matters, in particular inose relat ng to our sirateg:¢ d rectior He reports to the Board and s responaitle for the leadership
and overall e~ect veness of the Boara

Ancew ralo of Depuly Chairman was created wth effect from 1 Aprie 2019, " he role of the Deputy Chaitmznas to deputise for
and support the Thatrman 1o caryng out hg s2aparsib Lhes ssteader of the Bank's Boars “he Deputy Tharman will act as an
ambassador far Metro Bank, particularly n terms of develzong ard mantziming refasonsfups woeh our sta<a-o ders, includ ng
regulators and indusiry representatives The Deputy Chairman will suoport the Charman as requ red, 10 carrying out the
follow ng responsionities

+ mznaging the busaess of tne Board anc ensanng that the Jcard aperates 2ffect vely,

» keeping under review, with the Board, tre general progress and lang terrm development of the Bane,

+ representing the Bank and the collective views of the Board externally, and

o performirg any add.bonal lask as agreed with the Chairman,

Chief Executive Officer The Chief “xecutve Othcer 2RO 15 resp s nsinle for the cay—o-day maragemat of our ccerat —as, for recom-enzing cur
strategic direclior 1o the Board and for implermentng the strateqic direction agreed by the Board He s supparted in decisior-
maki~g by the Fxecutwve . eaaership Team Crag reports 1o the Charmar: and to the Board directly and s <esponsible for al:
executive management matters of the Bank

Chief Financial Officer Tro Cmef Tinar cial Sfficer (RS Ral wosponsibeity |20 planming mplementnag, manacmia and contr hing all fnancsl-related

and Company Secretary aclvres of Jhe Zormpary, volh say L ooy and (o the lona orm, Heos resporsible or ranaging the Bark's firancial pes bor
including al'ocation and maintenance of capital, funding and higuidity The CFO also has oversignt of the Tredsury, Legal,
Procurernert and Investor Relat ons functions, and s also respensible for producing and ensur~g the integnity of the Bank's
eaccdh mtormatior and regulatury tepot - a0 As Corcany Secretary, wavJde ceapr cowbie for sav s g ated sluporin g 1o
Chairman and the Board on good carparate governance and best beardroorm pracuce He leads the Bank's Company
Sedretdl al tur st o,

Senicr Independent The Senior tndependent Dhrectors {50 role 1s to act as a sounding boaro for the Chairmar and (o serve as an intermediary
Director for Derectars whe= neces ary,

The SID 15 alse avalabie ta shareholders if they have concerns that nave rnot been resolved thrauga the normal channe's of
Crarrman, Ideputy Cha rman, CLO or CFO The SID wili attend meetings wils, and lisler to the views of, ma,or shdreholders
to ~elp "o deve op a balanced uraerstandi~g o trerssues acd concerns if contactwiih the Chs «nan, Deputy Charmazn,
CEO or CFZ s maporcpr ste. ~he 510 alto acts as the candut, 35 requ. ted. for the v ews of other Non-Execotive Ziresions
onthe performance of the Chairman and conducts the Chairman's annual verformance evaluation

Non-Executive Director The role of the Nor-Executive Direclor is to constructvely challenge proposals on strategic drection Each Non-Frecut ve
Director bricgs spoaf . expernecce and krowwedge to the Beard ano ts Committees 7he Non-Fxecut ve [Jreciors as 3wk e
Fave a broad and complementary set of technical skills, educat.onal ang professional experience, personaliies, culiares and
perspectives Askills matnx ‘or the Board car pe founa on page 61 Treir contrioutions pravide independent views on matters
o' sirategy, performarce, ns<, corduct and culture The Non-txecubve Directner were appainted for an -nitial two-year term
DLt are re-elected on an annual basis

Independence of Directors

The Board is satisfied that, as at 31 December 2018, all of the Non-Executive Directors were independent. Howard Flight
retired from the Board on 1 April 2019 and Keith Carby will retire from the Board on 30 April 2019. They will therefore not
seek re-election at the next AGM. The Board is hugely grateful to Howard and Keith for their significant contribution to the
Bank, during their tenure.

Ben Gunn, Gene Lockhart and Stuart Bernau have been in place since the Bank was granted its banking licence in March
2010 and have overseen the Company's significant growth during that time, including the milestone of its listing on the
London Stock Exchange in March 2016. Their unique skills, retail banking, risk management and regulatory experience,
continues to be instrumental to the growth of the Bank. However, we recognise the UK Corporate Governance Code's
recommendations in relation to tenure and independence, and therefore from March 2019 we will no longer treat those
Non-Executive Directors as independent.
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During 2018, the Board and the Nomination Committee spent a significant amount of time on the Board's long-term
succession plan, including the balance of independence, diversity, skills and experience on the Board and have made
significant headway in refreshing the Board. We appointed two new independent Non-Executive Directors, Catherine Brown
on 1 October 2018 and Paul Thandi on 1 January 2019. We are actively seeking new independent Non-Executive Director
candidates and expect to make another appointment within 12 months.

The Chairman is committed to ensuring that at least half of the Board (excluding the Chair}) comprises independent Non-
Executive Directors who objectively challenge management. While our balance of Independent Directors is currently slightly
below the 50% mintmum, this will be short lived as Keith Carby retires on 30 April 2019. Therefore from 1 May the Board,
excluding the Chairman, will be made up of 10 Directors of which five (50%) are independent Non-Executive Directors,
three are non-independent NEDs and two are Executive Directors,

More information on the makeup of our Board, Committees and succession planning can be found in the Nomination
Committee report on page 79.

The Board remains mindful of the need for suitable succession, and therefore maintains a clear record of the time each
Director has served the Company and the skill-set that they provide. The Directors’ skills and experience span a wide range
of sectors and specialisms; a skills matrix is shown on page 61.

Vernon W. Hill, It was appointed to the Board in 2008 and as Chairman in 2013. The Board fully recognises its duty to select
and support the best Chairman to lead the Bank in the interests of all stakeholders. As the founder of the Bank, Vernon has a
unique role. The Board firmly believes Vernon to be the best qualified individual to take the Bank forward and implement the
Bank's unique business model as Chairman. The Board fully supports the principle of an independent Chairman, in line with
the Code, and will continue to keep under review the role and performance of the Chairman as part of its regular Board
evaluation and succession planning processes.

Board attendance at 31 December 2018
Meetings attended 2018

Maximum

Attended possible

Vernon W. Hill, Il {Non-Executive Chairman} 10 i0
Craig Donaldson (Chief Executive Officer) 10 10
David Arden (Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary) 10 10
Alastair (Ben) Gunn (Senior Independent Director) 10 10
Stuart Bernau (Non-Executive Director} 10 10
Catherine Brown?! {Non-Executive Director) 2 2
Keith Carby (Non-Executive Director) 10 10
Roger Farah (Non-Executive Director) 10 10
Lord Flight (Non-Executive Director) 10 10
Gene Lockhart (Non-Executive Director) 10 10
Anna (Monique) Melis (Non-Executive Director) 10 10
5ir Michael Snyder (Non-Executive Directon) 10 10
Paul Thandiz {Nen-Executive Director) n/a n/a

1. Appointed 1 Cetober 2018
2. Appointed 1 January 2019
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Matters reserved for the Board

The Board is responsible for setting and managing our
strategic direction. The operation of the Board is
documented in a formal schedule of matters reserved for its
approval, which is reviewed annually. These include matters
relating to the decisicns concerning our strategic aims and
long-term objectives, the structure and capital of the Group,
financial reporting and controls, risk management and
various statutory and regulatory matters. The Board is also
responsible for effective communication with shareholders,
any changes to Board or Committee membership or
structure, and has authority to recommend the Directors’
Remuneration Policy to shareholders. The Board delegates
responsibility for day-to-day management of the business
to the Chief Executive Officer and sets out the basis for
delegaticn of authorities from the Beard to its Committees.

Board decisions and activity during the year

The Board has a schedule of regular business, financial
and operational matters, and each Board Committee has
a schedule of reserved matters to ensure that all areas
for which the Board has responsibility are addressed

and reviewed during the year.

The Chairman, assisted by the Company Secretary, is
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive accurate
and timely information. The Company Secretary compiles the
Board and Committee papers, which are circulated to Directors
in advance of meetings. The Company Secretary also ensures
that any feedback or suggestions for improvement on Board
papers is fed back to management. The Company Secretary
provides minutes of each meeting and every Director is aware
of the right to have any concerns minuted.
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During 2018, the key areas the Board focused on included:

Areas of focus

Strategic direction

Cyber resilience, risk monitoring and review

Compliance, governance, Board composition and
evaluation

Annual and quarterly reporting

Policy reviews and updates

RBS Alternative Remedies Package application

Regulatory and external affairs, PSD and open banking

Creating FANS

Capital structure and planning

Corporate actions

Digital banking

New service offering



Reports from the CEQ, CFQO and Chief Risk Officer ("CRO")
are standing items on every agenda. The Company Secretary
reports on legal, reqgulatery and governance matters and
updates the Board on any changes to their statutory duties
or the regulatory environment. The Chairman of each
Committee reports on the proceedings of the previous
Committee meeting at the next Board meeting.

Senior management and advisers are invited to attend
Board and Committee meetings, where appropriate, to
present, contribute to the discussion and advise members
of the Board or its Committees on particular matters.

The involvement of senior management at Board and
Committee discussions strengthens the relationship
hetween the Board and senior management and helps

to provide the Board with a greater understanding of
operations and strategic direction.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to each

of the Audit, Risk Oversight, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees, and reports for each are set out on pages 68 to
97 Each Committee has written Terms of Reference setting
out its duties, authority and reporting responsibilities.

Copies of all the Committee Terms of Reference are
available on our website: metrobankonline.co,uk

We keep the Terms of Reference of each Committee under
continuous review to ensure they remain appropriate and

reflect any changes in legislation, regulation or best practice.

They are also reviewed formally every year by the relevant
Committee and the Board. More information on the makeup
of our Committees can be found on page 79. Any future
changes to the Committees will be made after the review
and recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

Effectiveness

The skills and experience of Board members are set cut on
pages 56 and 57. The experience and knowledge of each
of the Directors gives them the ability to constructively
challenge strategy and to scrutinise performance.

Induction of new Directors

During 2018 and early 2019 we welcomed Catherine Brown
and Paul Thandi to the Board. All of our new Directors
undergo a formal, rcbust and tailored induction programme
upon appointment which is coordinated by the Deputy
Company Secretary. Non-Executive Directors meet the
Chairman and the CEQ as part of the Nomination
Committee's selection process and then again on
appointment for a thorough briefing on all relevant
aspects of the Company. They also meet the Company
Secretary, senior management and our advisers for
briefings on their responsibilities as Directors and on

our business, finances, risks, strategy, procedures and

the markets where we operate.

STRATEGIC REPORT
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Prior to appointment, all Directors were advised of the time
reguired to fulfil the role and confirmed they could make the
necessary commitment. This requirement is also included in
their letters of appointment. The Board is satisfied that the
Chairman and each of the Non-Executive Directors is able to
devote sufficient time to the Company's business. There has
been no change in the Chairman'’s other time commitments
during the year.

Performance

Every year, the Board undertakes an evaluation of its
performance, as well as that of its Committees and
individual Directors.

As we reported last year, in accordance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code, the Board conducted an
externally facilitated evaluation in 2017. This evaluation was
carried out by Deloitte LLP. Deloitte LLP provides certain tax
and consulting services to Metro Bank. The Board evaluation
was conducted by an independent team and the Board is
satisfied that the advice received was challenging, objective
and independent,

External Board evaluation process

i First stage l | Sacond itage | | Third stage
Briefing and Discussion
Board with
questionnaire Results the SID
collated,
reported and
One-to-one evaluated
interviews dI::u::?on
with Board

Deloitte LLP observed a number of strengths and identified
some areas for improvement. The Board agreed an action
plan to address these areas and reviewed progress against
the plan during 2018. The actions from the 2017 evaluation
are now largely complete, The key action was to continue
to review the Board's long-term succession plan, including
the levels of independence on the Board. More details

on succession planning can be found in the Nomination
Committee report on page 79 and more details on
independence on the Board can be found on pages

62 and 63,

In line with the Code, during 2018 the Board conducted an
annual internal performance evaluation. This internal review
gave us further opportunity to reflect on the effectiveness
of the Board's activities, the quality of discussion, decision-
making and individual performance and contribution.
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Focused one-to-one discussions were held with each
Director and the Chairman. The Chairman’s evaluation was
carried out by the SID. The following topics were discussed:

» Composition, skills, independence, experience and
diversity of the Board

» Culture
» Strategy
+ Succession planning

+ Effectiveness of decision-making and quality of discussion
at meetings

= Resourcing of meetings, agenda planning, quality
of information

« Committee effectiveness

Each of the Board Committees also carried out reviews
of their performance,

We are satisfied that the Board and each of the Committees
continue to operate effectively.

Development

The Company Secretary ensures that all Directors are kept
abreast of changes in relevant legislation and regulations.
This year the Board received an externally facilitated training
session on the new 2018 Corporate Governance Code and

a regulatory and accounting update including IFRS 16 was
provided to the Audit Committee by PwC. Non-Executive
Directors attend seminars and briefings in areas considered
to be appropriate for their own professional development,
including governance and issues relevant to the Committees
on which they sit.

Executive Directors take part in our appraisal procedure.
This sets tangible targets against which performance is
measured. Non-Executive Directors are appraised as part
of the overall Board Evaluation process referred to above.
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Board and Committee Training and Deep Dive sessions

[

Financial Regulatory Risk
+» [FRS 16 and + 2018 Corporate « ICAAP process
accounting Governance « Fraud
and regulatory Code [T resili
update + IT resilience

Risk management

The Board believes that effective risk management is crucial
to the Bank's strategic objectives and long-term success,
The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring risk is
effectively managed.

Qur approach to risk is further detailed on pages 28 to 54.
The Risk Oversight Committee reviews the effectiveness of
the risk management process on the Board’s behalf, and its
approach to this can be found in the Risk Oversight
Committee report on pages 74 to 77.

External appointments

In appropriate circumstances, the Board may authorise
Executive Directors to take non-executive positions in other
companies and organisations. Such appointments should
broaden their experience, provided the time commitment
does not conitict with the Director’s duties to the Company.
The appointment to such positions is subject to the prior
approval of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, none of the
Bank's Executive Directors held directorships in any other
quoted company.

Conflicts of interest

At each meeting the Board considers Directors’ conflicts
of interest. The Company’s Articles of Association provide
for the Board to authorise any actual or potential conflicts
of interest.

The Company has a commercial relationship with InterArch,
Inc. ('InterArch’}, a firm which is owned by Shirley Hill,

the wife of Vernon W. Hill, Il. The Audit Committee has
considered this relationship and concluded that the
arrangements with InterArch are on terms which are at

least as beneficial to the Bank as those which could be
obtained from an independent third party. Further details
are set out in the Audit Committee Report on page 70 and
in note 28 to the financial statements.



Independent professional advice

Directors have access to independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense. in addition, they have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary and his teamn,
who are responsible for advice on corporate governance
matters to the Board.

Directors' indemnities and insurance

We provide Directors and Officers with appropriate
insurance, which is reviewed annually. In addition, Directors
and Officers have received an indemnity from the Bank
against: (a) any liability incurred by or attaching to the
Director or Officer in connection with any negligence,
default, breach of duty, or breach of trust by them in relation
to the Bank or any associated company; and (b) any other
ltability incurred by or attaching to the Director or Officer in
the actual or purported execution and/or discharge of their
duties and/or the exercise or purported exercise of their
powers and/or otherwise in relation to/or in connection with
their duties, powers or office other than certain excluded
liabilities, including to the extent that such an indemnity

is not permitted by law.

Appointment and retirement of Directors

The Board may appoint Directors to the Board. Newly
appointed Directors must stand for election by shareholders
at the AGM following their appointment. In accordance with
the provisions of the Code, all continuing Directors of the
Company will offer themselves for annual re-election at the
2019 Annual General Meeting. Catherine Brown and Paul
Thandi will stand for election by shareholders at the 2019
AGM, this being the first Annual General Meeting following
their appointments. Lord Howard Flight retired from the
Board on 1 April 2019 and Keith Carby will step down from
the Board on 30 April 2019. They will therefore not seek
re-election at the 2019 AGM. The Board continues to actively
seek new independent Non-Executive Director candidates
who, based on merit, will add value to the Board. Under the
Articles of Association, shareholders may remove a Director
before the end of their term by passing an ordinary
resolution at a general meeting.
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Relations with investors

The Board continues to place great importance on regular
two-way engagement with investors. We welcome
engagement and dialogue throughout the year as part of
an ongoing process. We connect with our investors on an
ongoing basis through a variety of channels including
face-to-face meetings, presentations, webcasts and
online content.

Investor meetings are undertaken by the founder and
Chairman, Vernon W. Hill, Il, the CEQ, Craig Donaldson, and
the CFO, David Arden, supported by the Director of Investor
Relations. During 2018, the team participated in over 300
individual and group meetings in the US, UK and Europe
and presented at various investor conferences. Institutional
investors have the opportunity to meet with the Chairman,
Deputy Chairman and/or other Non-Executive Directors

to discuss any areas of concern.

During November 2018 we held engagement sessions with
stakeholders, as we prepared for our upcoming annual
reporting and we also held a governance breakfast with the
Audit Committee Chairman and the SID in January 2019.

The Investor Relations function reports to the Board on a
regular basis on matters including share price performance,
changes in the shareholder register, analyst and investor
feedback and significant market updates, with the assistance
of the Banl's corporate brokers. The Investor Relations team
is responsible for ongoing communication with
shareholders, analysts and investors. All financial and
regulatory announcermnents, as well as other important
business announcements, are published in the Investor
Relations section of our website and stakeholders can
subscribe to receive news updates by email by registering
online on the website: metrobankonline.co.uk/investor-
relations/. Contact details for the Investor Relations and
Company Secretariat are available on the website for

any shareholders, analysts or investors who wish to ask

a question.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Stuart Bernau, Chairman of the Audit Committee
and Chit Ghee Yeoh, Director of Internal Audit

2018 ACTIVITIES

+ Reviewed 38 Internal Audit reports and attestations and
all of the Bank’s financial reporting

+ Reviewed related party contracts and third party reviews
of key suppliers

« Completed a full external audit tender
« Conducted the annual Committee performance review

2019 FOCUS AREAS

« Qversight of Internal Audit reviews of Risk Weighted
Assets (RWA) controis enhancements

+ T resilience and information security
+ Financial reporting
» Review of Internal Audit reports

68 METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPCRT AND ACCOUNTS 2018

Attendance of the Audit Committee
As at 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee comprised
the following independent Non-Executive Directors:

Meetings attended 2018

Attenged Max possibie
Stuart Bernau (Chairman} 9 9
Gene Lockhart? 8 9
Keith Carby? 9 9
Sir Michael Snyder g 9

1. Gene Lockhart was unable to attend one meeting for personal reasons
2. Keith Carby will retire from the Beard on 30 April 2019,

Letter from the Chairman
| am pleased to present the Audit Committee report for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

The Audit Committee has focused on delivering robust
scrutiny and evaluation of the Bank's control environment so
that it works and develops alongside the growth model. We
continue to be forward as well as backward locking to ensure
the Committee fulfils its assurance role and understands,
assesses and rmonitors risks facing the business.

It has been a busy year for the Audit Committee. During the
summer, the Committee led the tender process for the Bank's
external audit. The ultimate goal of the process was to identify
and appeint the audit firm that would provide the highest
guality, most effective and efficient audit to the Bank. Following
a thorough and robust tender process, | am pleased to report
that PwC LLP has been reappointed as external auditor subject
to reappointment by shareholders at the 2019 AGM. More
detail on the tender process can be found tater in this report.

In January 2018, we announced that we had adjusted the
risk-weighting of certain commercial loans secured on
commercial property and certain specialist buy-to-let loans
that had the combined effect of increasing cur RWA by £900
million. Whilst the risk weightings have been adjusted, there is
no deterioration in the credit quality of the affected assets. We
are learning the lessons from this and will continue to improve
our systems and controls around capital and RWAs. The
Committee will oversee the Internal Audit reviews of RWA
controls enhancements in 2019. This is the programme to
enhance Metro Bank's systems and controls for risk-weighting
and capital.

The Committee has monitored the delivery of the 2018
Internal Audit Plan. We have reviewed the cutcomes of

the work performed and the reports issued, ensuring
recommendations for improvement are actioned where
approptiate. in developing the Internal Audit Plan for 2019,
we have ensured inclusion of those areas which bear the
greatest risk to the Bank, those which are most impacted by
continued growth and areas of regulatory focus. We monitor
the rescurce available to the Internal Audit team to ensure it
has sufficient resource to fulfil its responsibilities.



The 2019 Internal Audit Plan was approved by the Board in
January 2019 following discussion at the Committee and it
also approved the level of risk assurance contained within
the plan. | am therefore comfortable that the key risks to
Metro Bank's unique business model have been identified
and are being monitored.

The Committee continues to arrange for periodic
independent evaluation of the contracts for services with
InterArch, Inc. ('InterArch’). This includes oversight of the
reviews carried out by authoritative independent third parties,
the details of which can be found on page 70. The standard
of service and the product InterArch provides is of a very high
quality; however, management has decided to expand the
suppliers we use for architectural design services.

As part of my role as Chairman of the Audit Committee, | hold
regular meetings with colleagues from the Bank including, the
Director of Internal Audit, Chief Risk Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and senior members of his team, and the Deputy
Company Secretary who acts as Secretary to the Committee.

| also sit on the Risk Oversight Commiittee and work closely
with Gene Lockhart, its Chairman.

I am available to meet with the Company’s shareholders
on request. This year, the Senicr Independent Director and
I met with investors at the Bank's offices in Holborn during
the summer and we also hosted an investor breakfast in
January 2019.

The Audit Committee met nine times in 2018. Following
each meeting, | provided a verbal update to the Board on
key issues and, where necessary, outlined the actions being
taken by management to address any issues raised. The
minutes are also included in the next Board pack. Before
each Audit Committee meeting | also meet with the external
audit partner, and the Committee members have a session
with the external auditor at the end of each meeting without
the presence of management.

The Committee keeps itself up to date on industry and
regulatory matters. In 2018 we had technical briefing
sessions delivered by PwC, as well as a corporate
governance update provided by the Deputy Company
Secretary. | also attend regular seminars run by professional
services firms on current key issues, which this year have
included cyber security, social media and digital tools and
building trust in financial services.

It has been a pleasure to chair the Audit Committee since
the Bank obtained its banking licence in April 2010. This

is my last report as Chair. Subject to regulatory approval,
Sir Michael Snyder will take over as Independent Audit
Chairman from 1 April 2019. Sir Michael has extensive audit
experience, having been a partner of an audit firm for over
40 years. He has been a member of the Committee since
2016 and is well aware of the challenges facing the Bank as
it continues on its growth journey. | am pleased to pass on
responsibility to Sir Michael and wish him well in his role

as Chairman.

Stuart Bernau
Audit Committee Chairman
10 April 2019
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The Audit Committee in brief

The Audit Committee’'s key role is to review the integrity
of the financial reporting for the Bank and to oversee the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and the work
of the internal and external auditors.

External audit

+ Recommend the appointment, reappointment or removal
of the external auditors

« Review independence and objectivity, as well as the
quality of the audit work performed

+ Approve audit remuneration

« Review the supply of non-audit services in line with
the Bank's policy and professional independence
requirements

+« Meet regularly without management present

» Ensure the audit contract is tendered at least every
10 years

Internal Audit

« Approve appointment or termination of the Director
of Internal Audit

* Contribute to the annual and half year review of the
Director of Internal Audit

= Monitor and review the effectiveness of the function
+ Review and approve the Internal Audit Charter

= Review and assess the Internal Audit Plan and ensure
that resources are adequate

« Meet regularly with the Director of Internal Audit and
ensure access to Board

+« Review management’s responsiveness to findings

Financial and narrative reporting
+ Monitor the integrity of the financial statements

« Review and report to the Board on significant financial
issues and material judgements

« Review and challenge accounting pelicies, methods used
to account for significant and unusual transactions, clarity
and completeness of disclosure

= Advise whether the Annual Report is fair, balanced and
understandable

Whistleblowing and fraud

* Review the adequacy and security of whistleblowing
arrangements

* Review the procedures for detecting fraud and
preventing bribery

Internal controls and risk management

« Monitor and review the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company's internal financial controls and risk
management systems

« Review and approve the statements in the Annual Report
concerning internal controls and risk management
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT continueD

Composition of the Audit Committee

As of 31 December 2018, the four members of the Audit
Committee were all independent Non-Executive Directors
with a range of relevant business experience. For further
details of their skills and experience, please refer to their
biographies on pages 56 and 57. At least one of the members
of the Committee has recent and relevant financial
experience and the Committee as a whole has competence
in the banking sector. Regular attendees at the Audit
Committee include the CEQ, CFO, CRO, Director of Internal
Audit, Group Finance Director, Financial Controller, Deputy
Company Secretary and representatives from the external
auditor, PwC.

In accordance with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code ('the Code’), two independent NEDs,
Stuart Bernau (Chair of the Audit Committee) and Keith
Carby {member of the Audit Committee), stood down from
the Committee on 31 March 2019. They had both served on
the Board for nine years and in accordance with the Code,
they were no longer deemed independent. Whilst there was
a brief transition period between 5 March 2019 (being the
nine year anniversary of their original appointment to the
Board} and the 1 April 2019, when they were no lenger
independent, there were no meetings of the Committee.
From 1 April 2019 the Committee’s membership is in
compliance with the Code. More information on this can be
found in the Nomination Committee report on page 79.

Key areas discussed at Audit Committee meetings in 2018

Area Hey topics

Policy » Whistleblowing Policy
» Anti-bribery and corruption
« Conflicts of interest and related parties
+ Non-Audit Services Policy

» Review of Terms of Reference and
recommendation to Board for approval

» Committee performance evaluation

Review of Q1 results

2018 half year results, including
an update of critical accounting
judgements and estimates

» Review of Q3 results

+ 2017 full year results, Annual Report and
Accounts, including assessment of the
key judgements and estimates, going
concern and viability report

s Review of 2017 external Auditor's
reports and findings

» Tax strategy
» |IFRS 9 key accounting judgements
+ Deferred tax asset review

Financial .
reporting .
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Area Key topics

Review of internal audits carried out
in 2018

+ Review and approval of the Internal
Audit Charter

+ Review of the 2018 Internal
Audit Reports

+ Review of the 2019 Internal Audit Plan
2017 external Auditor's Report and
full year findings

+ 2018 External Audit Plan, engagement
terms and fees

Internal Audit .

External audit e

+ Terms of engagement for the half
year review

« External auditors’ half year
review findings

« 2017 full year external Auditors' Report
and findings

+ Overseeing the external audit tender
process and making a recommendation
to the Board on the re-appointment of
the external auditor

Related party + Independent review of the InterArch

review Architectural design services and
branding, marketing and advertising
contracts

Information » IT resilience review

Technology » Management IT Resilience Reports

Regulatory * Regulatory and accounting update

including IFRS 16
« |FRS 9 implementation progress updates
* Modern Slavery Statement
+ UK Corporate Governance Code Update

In addition to the key areas above, the Committee reviewed
the progress against the Internal Audit Plan and reviewed
the detailed reports where appropriate. At each meeting,
we also receive an update on horizon scanning for future
regulatory changes which may affect the Bank.

Related parties

Architectural design services and branding, and
marketing and advertising services are provided to the
Bank by InterArch — a firm owned by Shirley Hill, wife
of Vernon W. Hill, Il, Chairman.

In order to ensure that the contracts for services with
InterArch are materially consistent with those that could be
obtained from an independent third party, the contractual
arrangements are subject to an independent annual review
arranged by the Audit Committee. As part of this review
detailed benchmarking is conducted by authoritative
independent third parties. For the architectural design
contract, which covers the build and design of our stores,
a Big Four professional services firm carries out the
benchmarking review. The marketing services contract,



which covers marketing, branding and advertising services,
is reviewed by the largest independent global marketing
audit firm. To provide assurance that the contracts remain
on arm’s length terms, the InterArch fee rates and structures
are compared against market comparators and commentary
is provided on how the services provided to the Bank by
InterArch align with these. The Committee discussed the
benchmarking reviews conducted by independent third
parties and evaluated the Bank’s response to the feedback
reported. Following consideration, the Committee remains
satisfied that the contracts for services with InterArch are at
arm’s length and are at least as beneficial as those which
could be obtained in the market from an alternative supplier.
The quality and effectiveness of the service provided by
InterArch continue to provide vatue for the Bank. In order to
expand the suppliers used, management intends to run a
competitive tender in 2019 to identify an additional
alternative supplier of architecture services.

In line with the Code, the Committee also considers the
disclosures that the Bank makes in the financial statements
regarding the relationship with InterArch to ensure they are
appropriate and in line with retevant reporting standards.
Following feedback from stakeholders, the Committee has
included further information on the benchmarking review
this year, as above.

The annual review of the InterArch contracts completed in
2018. Following this, new annual contracts were negotiated
and became effective from 28 February 2019. The
Committee has evaluated the steps taken by management
to ensure that the contracts continue to be at arm’s length
as part of the renegotiation process.

Fair, balanced and understandable

In line with the Code, the Committee considered whether
the 2018 Annual Reportis 'fair, balanced and understandable
and shoutd provide the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's position, performance,
business model and strategy’. The Committee is satisfied that
the 2018 Annual Report meets this requirement and, in
particular, that appropriate disclosure has been included

for both positive and negative developments in the year.

The process supporting this goal included:

¢ The compilation of the 2018 Annual Report and Accounts
which was managed by the Chief Financial Officer
together with a cross-functional team of senior managers

« Input by a cross-functional team from Finance, Risk,
People, Legal, Investor Relations and business lines

« A formal review by the Audit Committee of the draft 2018
Annual Report and Accounts, along with a review of any
issues raised in the external Auditor’s Report, in advance
of final sigh-off

« Afinal review, performed by the Board of Directors

Internal Audit

The Group’s Internal Audit function plays a key role in
providing independent assessment and challenging
governance, risk and control. The Audit Committee
approved the Internal Audit Plan and considered the results
of its work. We also:
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+ Approved the Internal Audit Charter, which sets out the
role and expectations of Internal Audit

« Monitored the objectivity and competence of the Internal
Audit function, and the adequacy of Internal Audit
resources and skills

» Carried out an internally facilitated review of the
effectiveness of the Internal Audit function

+« Monitored the delivery of the Internal Audit Plan
¢ Approved the Internat Audit Plan for 2019

The Committee was satisfied that Internal Audit had
adeguate resources available this year.

System of internal control and risk management

Details of the Bank’s risk management framework are
provided on pages 28 to 54, In considering the effectiveness
of internal controls, the Audit Committee received and
discussed reports from Internal Audit and the externai
auditor. In addition, executive management was invited to
discuss the more significant issues raised by Internal Audit.
Management action plans to resolve the issues raised are
monitored by the Audit Committee.

Recommendations for improvements to internal controls
by the external auditor are monitored by Internal Audit,
with progress reported to the Audit Committee,

External audit

The Audit Committee reviews and makes recommendations
to the Board with regard to the appointment of the external
auditor, its remuneration and terms of engagement.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for the oversight of

the relationship with PwC and the effectiveness of the audit

process. To satisfy ourselves of the effectiveness of the

external audit, during the year we:

+ carried out an external audit tender;

+ carried out a review of the 2017 external audit process;

+ reviewed the results of the Annual Report on PwC’s audit
quality issued by the Financial Reporting Councii ('RCS’);

« reviewed the proposed Audit Plan in advance of the
annual audit;

+ Reviewed and approved the audit engagement terms and
proposed audit fee;

+ considered the continued independence and objectivity
of PwC; and

« reviewed and discussed the reports provided by PwC.

At the end of each Audit Committee meeting, members met
the external auditor without management present to discuss
any relevant issues,

The Company confirms that it has complied with the

provisions of the Competition and Markets Authority’s Order
for the financial year under review,
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT conTiNnUED

External audit tender

PwC LLP, the Bank's external auditor, has been in situ since
2009. The Bank is required under law to put its audit out

to tender at least every 10 years and to change its auditor
at least every 20 years, As disclosed last year, the Audit
Committee commenced a tendering process in 2018 which
is set out below. The Audit Committee recommended to
the Board that PwC be reappointed as the Bank's auditar.

A resclution to reappoint PwC will be put to shareholders
at the AGM in 2015,

The tender process and the Committee’s involvement in that
process is outlined below:

Tender participants: PwC, KPMG, Ernst & Young, Grant
Thornton and BDO were all invited to participate in the
tender process. Consideration was also given to other firms.
It was agreed that there were adequate choices available
such that Deloitte would not be invited to tender in light

of the non-audit services it provides to the Bank.

Tender documentation: Request For Proposal documentation
and a data pack was issued to all participants which provided
detailed information to support the submission of quality and
accurate bids.

Carousel day: Each participant that had confirmed its
interest in tendering had the opportunity to spend time with
stakeholders from across the business to obtain a more
detailed understanding of the Bank and the existing
management processes and challenges to better inform
their tender submission. These meetings included time with
senior colleagues from Finance and Tax, Internal Audit, Risk,
Company Secretarial, Operations and IT.

Tender document scoring: We asked each participant to
provide us with responses to questions on the following
key areas:

» An overview of the tendering firm and proposed team

» Audit quality and process, including transitional
arrangements (if relevant)

+ Understanding of Metro Bank and its unigue culture

+» How the firm would become independent and maintain
independence

+ Pricing and commercial structure of the engagement

Each firm was scored in each area, with scoring most heavily
weighted towards questions on the audit process and
approach, and the team calibre and fit. Scores were provided
by the Chairman of the Audit Committee, Finance Director
and Financial Controller.

First-round presentation: Each participant was invited to
provide a first-round presentation. Each presentation was
attended by the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Finance Director, the Financial Controller, the Deputy
Company Secretary and the Director of Procurement.
Presentations were not formally scored, but verbal feedback
was debated internally. Feedback was aligned to tender
proposal document scores. The two best scored participants
were shortlisted and invited to formally present to the

Audit Committee.
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Outcome: The final presentations were closely run and both
participants gave detailed and authoritative presentations,
displaying expertise in their fields. The Audit Committee
recommended PwC as the preferred participant among

the final candidates given the team presented the most
competently on relevant areas of focus. These included
industry knowledge, audit quality, use of technology and
the provision of industry insight.

Non-audit services
The Bank and PwC have safeguards in place to protect the
independence and objectivity of the external auditor.

The Bank has a policy for the provision of non-audit services
by the external auditor. In line with the policy, all non-audit
services provided to the Bank by the external auditor,

where the fee is expected to exceed a de minimis limit,

must be pre-approved by the Audit Committee subject to
the guidelines and thresholds detailed in the policy. Pre-
approval by the Committee must be obtained in advance of
any work being carried out. Pre-approval must be performed
by the Committee; it cannot be delegated to a member

of management. The Committee must be provided with

a detailed explanation of each particular service to be
provided to allow it to make an appropriate assessment

of the impact of the service on the external auditor’s
independence. The policy further formalises within the Bank
the restriction on the provision of non-audit services by the
external auditor which the FRC considers to be prohibited.
In accordance with the FRC's Ethical Standard. the services
considered prohibited include:

« Tax and valuation services, consultancy and
advisory services

= Services that involve playing any part in the management
or decision-making of the Bank

+ The design and implementation of internal control or risk
management procedures related to the preparation or
control of financial information, or the design and
implementation of financial information technology systems

« Services linked to the financing, capital structure and
investment strategy of the Bank

+ Legal services

* Bookkeeping and preparing accounting records and
financial statements

+ Payroll services and certain human resources services
* Services related to the Bank's Internal Audit function

Ne significant engagements for non-audit services were
carried out by the external auditor during the year, Where
they did occur, they were in respect of audit or assurance-
related matters consistent with the principles of independent
assurance provision. Details of the fees paid to the external
auditor during the year can be found in note 7 to the
financial statements on page 119.
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Significant financial reporting areas considered by the Audit Committee in 2018
In respect of financial reporting, the Audit Cormnmittee considered the key judgements and estimates in relation to the 2018

Annual Report and Accounts.

Key judgements and estimates in financial reporting

Audit Committee review and conclusions

Impairment of loans and advances

The Bank adopted IFRS @ in the period, having estimated
and disclosed the potential impact. Determining the
appropriateness of loan loss provision is inherently
judgemental and requires management to make a number
of assumptions,

Individual impairment losses on secured loans and
advances are calculated based on an individual valuation
of the underlying asset, Expected impairment losses on
stage 1 and 2 loans and advances are calculated using a
statistical model.

The key areas of judgement and estimation consist of:

+ the measurement of the expected credit loss allowance;

+ what we consider to be a significant increase in credit
risk; and

+ the multiple forward-looking economic scenarios used
in the modelling.

The Committee also specifically considered the key
accounting judgements and disclosures for the transition
to IFRS 9 and is satisfied that they are reasonable.

The Committee received and challenged reports from
management explaining the approach taken to provisioning
and the resulting changes in the provision levels during

the period.

The Committee considered key assumptions used in the
Bank's expected credit loss model, being the point at which
a loan is considered to have experienced a significant
increase in risk, probability of default, the probability of this
default resulting in possession and/or write-off, the loss
given default (the subsequent loss incurred} and the
economic scenarios.

The Committee is satisfied that the approach taken and
judgements applied were reascnable.
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RISK OVERSIGHT
COMMITTEE REPORT

Gene Lockhart, Chairman of the Risk Oversight
Committee and Aileen Gillan, Chief Risk Officer

2018 ACTIVITIES

+ Reviewed and approved or recommended 10 policies
to the Board for approval

+ Provided oversight of the preparation of the Bank's
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process {'1CAAP’)
and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process
CILAAPY)

« Held ‘Deep Dive' review sessions cn operational and
IT resilience

* Received regular updates on the Advanced Internal
Ratings Based {'AIRB’) approach to calculating credit
risk application process

« The Chairman and members of the Committee met
with the Regulator as part of the Bank's periodic
summary meeting

2019 FOCUS AREAS

« Organisational resilience and continuity

+ Ongoing work towards AIRB Accreditation
« Capital

¢ Ligquidity
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Attendance of the Risk Oversight Committee
As at 31 December 2018, the Risk Oversight Committee
('ROC’) comprised the following independent Non-Executive

Directors: Meetings attended 2018

Memnbers Attended Max possible
Gene Lockhart (Chairman} 5 5
Stuart Bernau 5 5
Alastair {Ben) Gunn' 4 5
Sir Michael Snyder ) 5
Anna (Monique) Melis® 4 4

1. Ben Gunn was unabie to attend one meeting for personal reasons
2. Monigue Melis joined the Committee in March 2018

Letter from the Chairman
| set out below the report of the Risk Oversight Committee
for 2018.

The ROC provides oversight of risk and advises the Board,
as appropriate, on the risk posed to the Bank from its
continuing business activities and future risk strategy.
The areas of risk include:

¢ Credit risk

+ Treasury and liquidity management

« Operational risk

« Compliance and conduct risk (including regulatory risk)
+ Financial crime risk

Overview

Whilst 2018 was a busy and rewarding year for the Bank,

it was not without its challenges, however, our unique
business model goes from strength to strength, and we have
continued to win market share. This growth is driven by
winning customers, who bring their low-cost, long duration
deposits and then lending that out to high-quality, lower-risk
opportunities. We expect that the UK residential mortgage
lending market will continue to be challenging in 2015.

Our lending will continue to be underpinned by our
conservative approach.

Credit Risk

From a credit risk standpoint, the Bank remained very strong
during 2018. Adherence to our conservative lending policies
has resulted in consumer, mortgage and commercial loans
that have prudent risk qualities and remain within our

risk appetite.

As part of our oversight role, the Committee’s job is to
constructively chailenge and support the Management team
as we build the Bank for the long term. In January 2019,

we announced that we had adjusted the risk-weighting of
certain commercial loans secured on commercial property
and certain specialist buy-to-let loans that had the
combined effect of increasing our RWAs by £900 million.



Whilst the risk weightings have been adjusted, there is no
deterioration in the credit quality of the affected assets.
We are learning the lessons from this and will continue

to improve our systems and controls around capital and
risk-weighted assets. Management presented to the
Committee regarding the identification of the issue and its
plans to enhance Metro Bank's systems and controls in this
area. The Audit Committee will provide oversight of the
Internal Audit reviews of the RWA controls enhancements.

We submitted our application for an AIRB approach to credit
risk to the regulator at the start of 2018, Work towards AIRB
accreditation will include ongoing engagement with the PRA
on what is an iterative and detailed project. The potential
capital efficiencies AIRB will bring are significant and this
therefore remains one of our top priorities. However, the
Bank does not now expect to receive AIRB accreditation
prior to 2021.

As part of its oversight role, the Committee has spent time
reviewing and challenging the Bank’s [CAAP and associated
documents, including stress testing and assumptions, prior
to the submission to the PRA.

The pace of regulatory change shows no sign of abating.

As it grows, the Bank must continue to evolve and mature
to ensure that it keeps pace in the environment of change
and challenge in which it operates. On the horizon, the
implementation of ring-fenced banking legislation and the
minimum requirement on own funds and eligible liabilities
("MREL) and the new leasing standard IFRS 16 present a
challenge but also a potential opportunity for smaller banks
with significantly less complex businesses than their peers.
During the year, the Committee has spent time working with
the Executive Leadership Team to review their plans to
implement these regulations.

Operational Risk

Keeping our customers safe is incredibly important to us.
To this end, during 2018 the Committee spent significant
time reviewing and providing oversight of the Bank’s [T and
operational resilience and infrastructure through a number
of 'deep dive’ reviews. Our reviews have focused on

Metro Bank's ability to proactively avoid, respond, recover
and learn from operational and |T-related disruptions.

A number of key compcenents make up the Bank’s resilience
capabilities including fraud and cyber security, business
continuity and crisis management, {T service management
and change management. Metro Bank continues to invest
heavily in technology and capability to further improve

its operational resilience. This will be an ongoing focus
during 2019.

Compliance and conduct risk (including regulatory risk)
As is usual, we have alsc spent significant time during the
year reviewing a number of the Bank's policies, dccuments
and transactions, and discharged other advisory and
oversight responsibilities. ROC members and other
colleagues atso met the PRA on a number of occasions
during the year, including the Bank’s periodic summary
meeting. | provide a verbal update to the Board after every
Committee meeting and the ROC minutes are included in
the next Board pack.

STRATEGIC REFORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Crime Risk

During the year, we received regular updates on financial
crime risk and we continue to keep a watching brief on this
ever evolving area of risk.

| am pleased to report that following her appointment to
the Board in June 2017, Monique Melis became a member
of the Committee in March 2018. Monique’s extensive
financial services and regutatory experience is an excellent
addition to the Committee’s membership and we welcome
her contribution.

The following sections explain the role and activities of the
ROC, and how it has discharged these responsibilities, as
well as setting ouit several key areas of activity during 2018.

Gene Lockhart

Risk Oversight Committee Chairman
10 April 2019
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The Risk Oversight Committee in brief
The ROC is a sub-Committee of the Board. Its specific
responsibilities are set out in its Terms of Reference.

Accountable to the Board, the ROC provides leadership,
oversight and direction regarding the Bank's risk governance
and management. We are charged with helping the Board
to create an appropriate culture across the Bank, which
emphasises and demonstrates the benefits of a risk-based
approach to risk management and internal controls. We are
responsible for reviewing, challenging and recommending
to the Board the Bank's risk appetite, ICAAP document,
ILAAP document and risk policies. We also provide oversight
of the credit risk model programme. The ROC oversees risk
management procedures and reviews risk reports on key
business areas. In addition, we advise the Audit Committee
on reviews of effectiveness of the Bank's risk controls, and
the Nomination and Remuneration Committees on the
weighting to be applied to risk for the remuneration
calculations for the Executive Leadership Team.

The ROC receives regular management information ("MI’)
and reports concerning the Bank's performance against risk
appetite and the measures set by it and by the Board. We
receive regular updates on regulatory developments, and
consider how these will affect plans, processes, systems
and controls.

The Committee reviews and formally notes the minutes of
the Executive Risk Committee ('ERC’) the Asset and Liability
Committee (ALCO’) and the Credit Risk Policy and Appetite
Committee (‘CRPAC’).

As a key part of the Bank’s governance framework, the
ROC ensures that the CRO has unfettered access to it
and its Chairman.

At each scheduled meeting the ROC considered the
foilowing standing items:

» CRO ROC Report
This includes an executive summary from the CRO setting
out items of note and assessing the Bank's performance
against its risk appetite and risk metrics. It also includes
specific reports on the following areas:

— Creditrisk
Execution of our strategy requires prudent and
controlled management of credit risk. To support this,
one of the roles of the ROC is to oversee credit
underwtriting and ensure that the Bank has effective
processes and controls to monitor and manage credit
risk, including where the risk position associated with
a particular customer or loan has deteriorated. This
ensures that lending remains within risk appetite and
monitors policy exceptions.
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— Operational risk
We receive reports concerning risk and control self-
assessments, information security, business continuity
management and incidents. While a number of
incidents were raised during 2018, our view is that the
management of these incidents and the actions taken
in response were proportionate and appropriate to
the size and scale of the incidents. We also note that
post-incident reviews were held for material incidents
to capture learnings and ways to prevent or mitigate
any potential recurrences. We continued to focus on
cyber and fraud risk during 2018, in response to the
increased prevalence of attempted attacks against
financial services firms and others. We also increased
our focus on operational resilience, having regard to
increased regulatory focus on firms’ ability to respond
to major events causing operational disruption.

- Compliance and conduct risk {including regulatory risk)
In a constantly changing regulatory environment, the
ROC is updated regularly on developments and
regulatory changes that could impact the Bank. We
receive updates on compliance and conduct risk in the
areas of culture and governance, product governance,
customer treatment and voice of the customer. We are
also updated on how the Bank manages expressions
of dissatisfaction, and on the ongoing compliance
assurance work performed by the second line.

— Financial crime risk
Given the level of risk posed by financial crime to all
banks, our report includes management information
on matters including: performance against the Bank's
financial crime key risk indicators; compliance with
customer identification and verification requirements
for all new accounts; oversight and risk assessment of
high-risk customers. Our report also covers payments
and customer screening, as well as updates on items
of note from the Financial Crime Steering Group.

Treasury and liquidity management

While the primary venue for in-depth discussions on
Treasury is the ALCO, the Treasurer's commentary is
tabled at each ROC meeting — and the Treasurer is invited
to attend meetings to discuss this. The ROC also reviews
Treasury policies and notes the minutes of the ALCO. QOur
report includes high-level Ml on liquidity and interest rate
risk, while we also receive specific reports on Treasury
risk. In addition, the Treasurer's report includes updates
on relevant regulatory matters.



» Litigation update
We note the report from the Bank's Legal team regarding
any material litigation cases.

« Deep dives and in-depth reviews
We receive in-depth reviews on areas of emerging risk
and regulatory interest throughout the year. Topics
covered during 2018 included cyber security, commercial
lending, IT resilience and infrastructure, and operational
resilience.

Composition of the Risk Oversight Committee

Mocnigue Melis joined the Committee in March 2018; while
all other members held office throughout 2018, Non-
Executive Directors who are not ROC members may attend
meetings. New Directors attend meetings as part of their
induction programme. The CFO, CRO and CEQ have
standing invitations to attend as guests, unless the Chairman
of the Committee asks them to excuse themselves from a
particular meeting or discussion.

Other Directors and colleagues attend as guests by invitation
of the Chairman to present and repocrt on relevant topics,
with the Deputy Company Secretary acting as Secretary

to the Committee.

The appointments of two new Non-Executive Directors
during the year gave us the opportunity to refresh the
membership of the Committee, with effect from 1 April 2019.
More informaticn on this can be found in the Nomination
Committee report on page 79.

The ROC's Terms of Reference are reviewed annually and
are available on our website.

STRATEGIC REPORT
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Key areas considered by the Risk Oversight Committee
in 2018

During 2018, we received items of business including

the following:

Area Discussion

Policy Policies approved by the ROC:
» Arrears Management Policy
» Impairment Policy

+ Data Policy

¢« Model Governance Policy

» Recruitment and Selection Policy
* Impairment Policy

* Supplier Management Policy
» Meta Policy

« Treasury Dealing Policy

+ |nformation Security Policy
= Model Policy

Policies reviewed and recommended to
the Board:

« Anti-Money Laundering and Counter
Terrorism Financing Policy

Regulatory « MREL
+ GDPR process and post-implementation
review
« FCA culture essay response
AIRB + AIRB approach to calculating credit risk
application application updates
Treasury « Review and approval of Market Risk

Policy

IT resilience .
+ Operational risk review

IT systems resilience review

* Cyber security update

Capital and + |ILAAP document incorporating Treasury

liquidity Poticy and Contingency Funding Plan
+ |CAAP document including interest rate
risk in the banking book
Deep dives « |CAAP
+ Fraud

« IT resilience
= Consumer lending pertfolio
» Commercial lending

METRC BANK PLC ANNUAL REPCORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018 7



NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Lord Flight, former Chairman of the
Nomination Committee and Danielle Harmer,
Chief People Officer

2018 ACTIVITIES

+ The Nomination Committee oversaw and recommended
the appointment of a new CFQ, David Arden, and two
new Non-Executive Directors, Catherine Brown and
Paul Thandi (who joined the Board on 1 January 2019}

* We have appointed Stuart Bernau as the Non-Executive
Director accountable for workforce engagement from
1 January 2019

+ The Committee also agreed new Committee
membership and Chairman appointments to maintain
Committee independence and the appointment of a
new Senior Independent Director ('SID’). These were
effective from 1 April 2019

2019 FOCUS AREAS

= The Committee will focus on Board succession and
independence; specifically, sourcing high-quality
Non-Executive Director candidates with retail and
commercial banking experience who have the capability
to support and challenge the organisation

» We will also seek to further improve the diversity
of our Board in line with our Board Diversity Policy

1. The above changes in Committee Chair and Senior Independent Director roles
are subject to regulatory approvail.
2. Keith Carby retires from the Board on 30 April 2015,
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Attendance at the Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee
comprised the following independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Chairman, Vernon W. Hill, II:

Meetings attended 2018

Attended Max possible
Lord Flight [Chairman) 5 5
Vernon W. Hill, Il 5 5
Keith Carby? 5 5
Roger Farah 5 5

Letter from the Chairman
I am pleased to share my report of the Nomination
Committee for 2018.

We have put a great deal of energy into meeting with
potential Board candidates during the year and have a
refreshed Nomination Committee in place from 1 April 2018,
chaired by Roger Farah*.

As announced in last year's Annual Report we welcomed
our new Chief Financiai Officer, David Arden, on March 2018
following Mike Brierley's retirement.

Following a rigorous process for her appointment and
working with our search partner Audeliss, Catherine Brown
joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 1 Qctober
2018. Catherine has extensive experience in organisational
transformation in financial services, leadership and
operations.

Additionally Paul Thandi, CEO of the NEC, joined the Board
as a Non-Executive Director from 1 January 2019 following
a brief period on our Advisory Beard. Paul brings a relentless
focus on customers from his experience as a leader in media
and service businesses.

It is great to be able to welcome new talent to the Board
and the team,



Board composition, independence and time commitments
We reviewed the skills, experience, independence and
knowledge of the Board during 2018 to understand which
areas to focus on when recruiting future Board members
and the future composition of our Board and Committees.

We recognise the UK Corporate Governance Code’s
recommendations in relation to tenure and independence.
The Committee is satisfied that, as at 31 December 2018, all
of the Non-Executive Directors were independent. As a
relatively young organisation, a number of our NEDs reached
nine years’ tenure in March 201% and we no longer treat
those Non-Executive Directors as independent.

Our Board and Committee compesition from 1 April 2019%:

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have made good progress on Board succession and
expect to make at least another appointment within

12 months. The appointment of two new Non-Executive
Directors gave us the opportunity to refresh the membership
and chairs of our Committees and our Committees are in
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code’s
provisions from 1 April. While there was a brief transitional
period between 5 March and 1 April there were no meetings
for the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees
during March 2019.

The Board carried out an evaluation during 2018. More details
are on page 65.

Roles

Names

Comments

Board roles
Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Senior Independent Director

Designated NED for
Workforce Engagement

Independent NEDs

NEDs {nhon-independent)

Executive Directors
CEO
CFO

Vernon W_ Hill, 11

Ben Gunn
{non-independent)

Sir Michael Snyder

Stuart Bernau
{non-independent)

Catherine Brown
Roger Farah
Monique Melis
Paul Thandi

Keith Carby®
Gene Lockhart

Craig Donaldson
David Arden

While our balance of independent Directors is currently slightly below
the 50% minimum this will be short-lived as Keith Carby retires on
30 April 2019, after nine years on the board.

From 1 May the Board {excluding the Chairman) will be made up

of 10 Directors of which five (50%) are independent Non-Executive
Directors (NEDs), three are non-independent NEDs and the remaining
two are Executive Directors.

The Board continues its proactive search for additional independent
NEDs and we expect to make at least one appointment this year.

All our UK Corporate Governance Code Committees are majority
or totally independent.

Audit Committee
Chairman
Members

Sir Michael Snyder
Roger Farah
Monigue Melis

The Audit Committee will be comprised entirely of independent NEDs,

Nomination Committee
Chairman
Members

Roger Farah
Catherine Brown
Keith Carby?
Vernon W. Hill, |
Paul Thandi

The Nomination Committee will have a majority of independent NEDs
as members untit Keith Carby retires on 30 April 2019. From 1 May
2019 it will be comprised entirely of independent NEDs.

Remuneration Committee
Chairman
Members

Roger Farah
Catherine Brown
Paul Thandi

The Remuneration Committee will be comprised entirely of
independent NEDs,

Risk Oversight Committee
Chairman
Members

Gene Lockhart
Stuart Bernau
Catherine Brown
Monique Melis

The Risk Cversight Committee membership will be 50% independent
and 50% non-independent. Gene Lockhart will transition out of the
role of Chairman of the Committee during 2020. This enables us to
retain his banking experience, as Committee Chairman, while we
continue to refresh the Board.

1. The above changesin Committee Chair and Senior Independent Director roles are subject to reguiatory approvat.
2. Keith Carby retires from the Board on 30 April 2019.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT continuep

Diversity

We understand the merits of a diverse organisation and
Board. We have retained Audeliss, a search firm, to support
us in sourcing candidates for Non-Executive Director roles.
Diversity is central to Audeliss's approach and it is a signatory
to the Women on Boards Voluntary Code of Conduct for
Executive Search Firms. Audeliss has no connection to

Metro Bank.

We do not have any specific targets in relation to Board
diversity and any appointments are made on merit as we
seek individuals who will add significant value. However,
we are committed to building a strong Beoard which is
diverse in many ways, including gender, as per our Board
Diversity Policy which is on our website.

Roger Farah took over as Chairman of the Nomination
Committee on 1 April 2019" and | wish him well in his new
role. Having served as a Non-Executive Director for nine
years | stepped down from the Board on 1 April 2019.

Lord Flight

Nomination Committee Chairman for the financial year
ended 31 December 2018

10 April 2019

The Nomination Committee in brief

The Nomination Committee leads the process for identifying
and making nomination recommendations to the Board. Its
duties include:

regularly reviewing the structure, size and composition
{including skills, knowledge, experience, independence
and diversity) of the Board as a whole and making
recommendations to the Board as required;

considering succession planning for members of the
Board and Executive Directors, including the length of
service of members and the need to regularly refresh
Board membership, taking into account the Company's
strategic pricrities and the main trends and factors
affecting the long-term success and future viability of
the Company and the skills and expertise needed on the
Board in the future;

taking responsibility for identifying and neminating
candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when they
arise, for the approval of the Board;

evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and
experience, diversity and length of service on the Board,
and the range of critical skills of value to the Beard
relevant to the challenges and opportunities facing

the Company;

considering Board candidates on merit and against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of
diversity, taking care that appointees have time available
to devote to the position; and

reviewing the results of the Board performance evaluation
process relating to Board composition.

The Nomination Committee Terms of Reference can be
found on our website: metrabankonline.co.uk

1. The change in Nomination Committee Chair role is subject 10 regulatory approvai.

BO
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Composition of the Nomination Committee

In addition to the members set out on page 78, Craig
Denaldson, Chief Executive Officer, attends meetings by
invitation. The Chief People Officer, Danielle Harmer, acts
as Secretary to the Committee and provides support to
the Committee Chairman and Committee as needed,

Following each meeting the Chairman provides a verbal
update to the Board. The Committee minutes are also
included in future Board papers.

Key areas discussed at Nomination Committee meetings
in 2018

Area Topics

The appointment of David Arden as the

new Chief Financial Officer

» The appointment of Catherine Brown
as a new Non-Executive Director

+ The appointment of Paul Thandi as

a new Non-Executive Director

Board .
appeointments

Board .
Succession

The Board succession plan —

progressively refreshing our Board

e Putting the Board succession plan inte
action and Board independence

+ Review of proposed Non-Executive
Director candidates

« Committee Chairs and membership and
independence

+ Agreement of Committee memberships
for Monigue Melis

= Designated Non-Executive Director for

Workforce Engagement

2018 Hampton-Alexander data/report

Approval of Nomination Committee

report

= Annual review of the Nomination
Committee Terms of Reference

+ Proxy Adviser feedback on 2017 Annual
Report and new Corporate Governance
Code requirements

« Nomination Committee annual

effectiveness review

QOther areas .
for review .




REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT

Lord Flight, former Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and Danielte Harmer, Chief People Officer

2018 ACTIVITIES

+ The Committee oversees the key aspects of reward for
all colleagues. Our activities are not focused solely on
Director remuneration; for example, they included a
review of the performance of the Group personal
pension scheme and the Company’s gender pay gap

+ We also review the principtes of the annual Reward
Review, including salaries and variable pay, for
all colleagues

2019 FOCUS AREAS

+ The Committee is mindful of the changes within the UK
Corporate Governance Code and their potential impact
on remuneration

* We are again improving our disclosure and transparency
this year including reporting early on the new CEQ
pay ratio

+ Our approach this year also includes more clarity on
performance assessment and the link to reward

+ We are pleased with the improvement in the gender pay
gap and this remains an area of focus (page 82)
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Attendance at Remuneration Committee
As at 31 December 2018, the members of the Committee
were all independent Non-Executive Directors:

Meetings attended 2018

Attended Max possible
Lord Flight (Chairman) 5 5
Keith Carby" 5 5
Roger Farah 5 5

1. Keith Carby retires from the Board on 30 April 2019

Letter from the Chairman

On behalf of the Board, and as former Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, | am pleased to present the
Remuneration Committee Report and the Directors’
Remuneration Report {'the Report’) for the year ending

31 December 2018. | would like to thank our investors for
their support during my time as Chairman. | stepped down
from the Board and Roger Farah took over as Chairman

of the Remuneration Committee from 1 April 20191,

I wish him well in his role.

Cur Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved at the
Annual General Meeting {AGM’) on 25 April 2017, and is due
for review in 2020. We have included a summary of the
current policy within our Remuneration Report for ease of
reference and the full policy can be found on our website.

We have again enhanced the level of disclosure in the Report
this year in response to feedback from investors and are
providing greater transparency with regard to variable
remuneration outcomes for 2018.

In January 2019, we announced that we had adjusted the risk
weighting of certain commercial loans secured on commercial
property and certain specialist buy-to-let loans that had the
combined effect of increasing our risk weighted assets {{RWA')
by £900 miillion. In light of this Craig Donaldson has asked that
the Commiittee does not consider him for variable reward for
2018. In addition, the Committee has decided to freeze
vestings of share options and awards for Executive Directors
and the Executive team, including share options for 2018,
pending further internal analysis and any external
investigations into the RWA adjustment.

Our approach to remuneration across Metro Bank

We believe oversight of the remuneration and benefits
across the Bank for all colleagues, not just Directors, is an
important part of our role. Qur approach to remuneration
for Executive Directors is consistent with that taken for all
colleagues. It comprises a salary, reasonable benefits and
pension provisions and variable reward which is delivered
primarily through share options. We do not operate additional
Long-Term Incentive Plans or 'LTIPs".

1. The abeove change in Committee Chair is subject te regulatory approval.
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Variable reward for all eligible colleagues, including
Directors, is based on personal behaviours and delivery and
also how the Bank has performed during the year. All share
options are awarded at the market share price with no
discount and are subject to deferral over up to five years.
This aligns all colleagues with both investors and other
stakeholders in line with our customer-focused growth
model and long-term vision. Our customer-focused model
is also the reason why we weight a greater proportion of
our variable reward outcomes on customer service retrics.

All variable reward is subject to malus and clawback.

Gender pay

We are pleased that we have a narrower pay gap this year. The
2018 median gender pay gap is 9.8% (13.5% in 2017} and the
mean gender pay gap is 21% (22.4% in 2017). There are
proportionately more women carrying out jobs in the top pay
guartile than in the previous year and the gaps in the top and
bottomn quartiles have narrowed.

Median
bonus gap  Maan bonus
Mean Median Mean excluding gap excluding
Median pay bonus bonus share options share options
Year pay gap gap gap gap salesfgams sales/gams
2018 9.8% 21.0% 200% 357% 279% 30.0%
2017 135% 224% 240% 38B7% 23.5% 271%

We take fairness and transparency very seriously so we
examined salaries for all roles with more than 10 colleagues
in them. This confirmed that we pay colleagues doing the
same roles equitably, regardless of gender. Nonetheless,

we continue to focus on reducing the gap by supporting all
colleagues to develop in their careers and progress towards
more stretching jobs that typically command a higher salary.
All of our talent development programmes are inclusive and
we support leaders by providing them with diverse candidate
lists for vacancies.
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In 2018 variable reward was balanced with 72% of females
receiving a bonus, versus 73% of males.

The median bonus gap was 29% and the mean bonus gap
was 35.7%. However, if gains made on the sale of share
options or shares are excluded, the median bonus gap
reduces to 27.9% and the mean bonus gap reduces to 30%.
The bonus gap is driven by the greater proportion of men in
the top gquartile where variable reward tends to be higher.

Full details can be found on cur website: metrobankonline.co.uk

Looking back on 2018

Variable reward

Variable reward outcomes for 2018 were based on key
financial, risk, customer and people objectives balanced with
the personal behaviours, and delivery of individual Executive
Directors. This is the same approach that we take with every
colleague in Metro Bank. We apply the same Company
multiplier for all employees who are eligible for variable reward
at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

We again set exceptionally stretching targets for 2018 and we
had made a provisional proposal of total variable reward of
47% of salary, for the CEQ; and total variable reward of 72% of
salary for our new CFO, David Arden. The maximum allowed
is 200% of salary. Following our announcement of 23 January
2019 regarding the RWA adjustment, Craig Donaldscon asked
that the Committee did not consider him for variable reward
for 2018, such that he instead received an award of zero_In
addition, the Committee decided to freeze vestings of share
options and awards for the Executive Directors and Executive
team, including share opticons for 2018, pending further
internal analysis and any external investigations into the

RWA adjustment.

Page 88 details the scorecard measures, targets and
outcomes relating to 2018 (and 2017) as well as the total
variable reward awarded. Following shareholder feedback we
have also included enhanced disclosure on our performance.

Leadership changes

David Arden was appeointed as CFO on 19 March 2018 on a
salary of £400,000 and with pension and variable reward
arrangements in line with those for the CEO. On joining
Metro Bank David was also made a compensatory award of
share options and cash in line with our Remuneration Policy.
Details are on page 86 and are included in the single figure
on page 87.



Mike Brierley, our former CFO, retired on 31 March 2018.
Mike did not receive any variable remuneration for the
portion of 2018 during which he remained in the role. We
agreed, in line with our Directors’' Remuneration Policy, that
Mike's share options and awards would continue and vest at
the normal time subject to their terms and conditions.

Looking forward to 2019

Salaries from 1 April 2019

We had a pay pot of 2.2% for 2019. The ‘on-target’ pay
increase for inflationary and behavioural/performance-
related salary increases was 1.4%. For growth and market
data realignment increases, the average pay rise was 4.3%
and the maximum was 21.6%. In total, 2,043 or 52.2% of all
colleagues received a salary increase above the standard
inflationary and behavioural/performance-related pay
rise. This includes all our Cashiers, Customer Service
Representatives and AMAZE Direct Representatives where
our entry-level salaries have increased by between 2.78%
and 5.51%.

We have also reviewed our Executive Directors’ salaries.
OQur CEOQO, Craig Donaldson’s salary will remain flat in 2019
at £750,000.

The salary of our new CFO, David Arden, who joined on

19 March 2018 increased by 1.25% (below the standard
‘on-target’ inflationary pay rise) from £400,000 to £405,000
from 1 April 2019.

Chairman's fees

The annual fees for the Chairman, Vernon W. Hill, i1, remain
unchanged at £385,000. The £120,000 gross annual
allowance, paid in monthly instalments via PAYE as a
contribution towards the Chairman's travel to/from the

UK and accommodation and subsistence while here, also
remains unchanged. No other expenses are payable in
relation to this.

Non-Executive Director fees
The fees for our Non-Executive Directors remain unchanged
at £52,500 per annum.

Variable reward for 2019

The Committee will again agree an appropriate balanced
scorecard to inform the Company variable reward multiplier
for 2019, based on financial, risk, customer and people
objectives. We will disclose targets and measures in the
Remuneration section of the Annuat Report for 2019. This
disclosure will include information relating to performance
against those targets except where we believe it is
commetrcially sensitive — in which case it will be disclosed
once it is deemed not to be sensitive.

The majority of variable pay for Executive Directors will
continue to be awarded as share options. From 2019 vanable
reward for PRA-designated Senior Managers (including

the Executive Directors) will vest over seven years with

a 12-month holding period in line with our move to a
proportionality level 2 firm.

Our simple approach to variable reward, applied across
the organisation, focuses executive ieaders and employees
on growth and the long-term, sustainable success of

the business.
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We do not offer LTIPs or operate any other long-term
variable reward schemes.

Appropriateness of executive remuneration

We believe that the overall remuneration structure continues
to be appropriate. There is significant alignment between
the interests of Executive Directors and shareholders, and
we take the same approach with all employees as part

of our ethos to make every colleague feel like an owner.
Additionally the Remuneration Committee has complete
discretion to challenge the formulaic variable reward
outcome where it believes it is not appropriate.

The Remuneration Policy will be reviewed in 2020 and

as part of that process we will check that our structures
continue to be effective, competitive and aligned with
the Company’s objectives. We will remain mindful of the
external and requlatory environment and evolving debate
on executive remuneration, All changes to the policy will
be subject to shareholder approval.

Specifically we are intending to review the following aspects

of executive remuneration based on investor feedback and

recent regulatory and corporate governance changes:

+ Formalise the shareholding requirement for Executive
Directors at 200% of salary

+ Retrospectively amend the policy to reflect our move
to a proportionality level 2 firm from January 2019 under
the PRA, FCA, and EBA remuneration rules which will
require more stringent deferral rules and post vesting
holding periods

« Consider what our approach should be with respect
to post employment shareholding requirements

We engage with relevant organisations concerning our
approach to remuneration and welcome feedback from
investors and stakeholders.

We incurred professional fees of £40,900 plus VAT for
remuneration advisory services from Deloitte LLP.

On behalf of the Committee, thank you for your support
and | wish Roger well in his new role as Chairman’®.

Lord Flight
Remuneration Committee Chairman for the financial year

ending 31 December 2018
10 April 2019

1. The above change in Committee Charr is subject to regulatory approval
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The remuneration framework in brief
Our primary objective is to design a remuneration
framework that promotes the growth and long-term success .,

Key areas discussed at Remuneration Committee
Meetings in 2018

Topics

of Metro Bank while supporting the unique culture and

model to deliver outstanding customer service, Policy and

reporting
This framework promotes sound and effective risk
management and does not encourage risk-taking that
exceeds the risk appetite agreed by the Board.

In line with our business strategy and objectives, the
framework strongly emphasises long-term growth and share
options as the major source of reward — so that everyone is

Approval of Directors’ Remuneration
Report, including letter from
Remuneration Committee Chairman and
Remuneration Policy

Gender pay and approach to reporting
2018 data

New Remuneration Committee Terms
of Reference

Feedback on 2017 Annual Report

focused and rewarded for long-term, sustainable success. Reward
Because of the way we measure behaviours and

performance for individuals, and how we capture and

act upon customer insight across the organisation, the

framework is also actively aligned to the delivery of

outstanding customer service.

Qur approach rewards success and is attractive to talented
individuals. In particular, it strikes a balance between
short-term rewards and the long-term performance of

the business. The framework alsoc complies with the FCA
remuneration principles. Full details are on cur website:
metrobankonline.co.uk.

Composition of the Remuneration Committee

In addition to the members set out on page 81, Craig
Donaldson (CEQ) and Vernon W. Hill, Il (Chairman) attend
meetings by invitation to assist the Committee in its
deliberations, although not in relation to their own
remuneration. The Committee receives assistance from
the Chief People Officer, Danielle Harmer, who acts as the
Secretary to the Committee.

2018 Annual Reward Review for all
colleagues — including multiplier for
variable reward, awards (for 2017
performance year), pay outcomes and
CEQ summary

Remuneration for Executive Directors,
members of the Executive Leadership
Team and Director of Internal Audit
Fees for Chairman and Non-Executive
Directors

Share options — number available for
granting, dilution policy, approval of
exchange value and VWAP to apply to
the 2019 grant (for 2018 performance
year)

Discretionary decisions regarding
retention of share options by former
employees

Accelerated vesting of share options for
two Non-Executive Directors (Roger
Farah and Sir Michael Snyder)

Review of Metro Bank Group Personal
Pension Plan (Governance Report)

Following each meeting, the Chairman provides a verbal Regulation

update to the Board. The Committee minutes are also
included in future Board papers. Areas of discussion are
outlined here.

Regulation guidelines on remuneration
and move to a proportionality level 2 firm
Remuneration Code Annual Disclosure
for 2018

Ex-post checks for October and
November 2018 share option vests

CRO review of FCA remuneration
guidelines, including ex-ante checks
Director of Internal Audit sign-off of 2018
Reward Review

Annual review of Remuneration
Committee Terms of Reference

New Corporate Governance Code
requirements and changes to
Remuneration Report legislation
Remuneration Committee Annual
Effectiveness Review
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REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE

WE SET STRETCHING
TARGETS FOR 2018

s Underlying profit before tax increased by 140% to

£50 million

« Customer accounts increased from 1.22 million to

1.62 million

+ Deposits increased from £11.7 billion to £15.7 billion
+ Lending increased from £9.6 billion to £14.23 hillion

Variable reward for all employees

On-target
variable reward

Company multiplier

Application to Executive Directors

2018 remuneration outcomes

Each Executive Director

is eligible for an on-target
variable reward opportunity
of 100% of salary

» For each of the individual
Company performance
metrics the multiplier
range is 80%-120%

= For each performance
metric, there will be
no payment at all until
performance for that
metric has reached
gateway performance

= At gateway performance
80% of the multiplier will
apply and at maximum
performance 120% of the
multiplier will apply

X

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balanced scorecard remuneration outcome for Company
performance multiplier

Weighted

performance

Werghting outcome

A Financial — see detail below! 30% 14.5%
8 Risk 20% 18.3%
C Customer 25% 254%
D Pecple 15% 138%
Total 100% 72.0%

Individuai behaviours
and delivery multiplier

+ The range of the individual
multiplier is 0%—-200%

« If the Company multiplier
doesn’t exceed expected

performance, the maximum

individual multiplier that
will be applied is 150%

+ The multiplier is applied by

reference to each colleague’s

individual behaviours and
performance in the year

A) Financiat B) Risk + ClCustomer D} People 729 Individual _ Total Variable
14.5% 18.3% 254% 13.8% ° Multipliers Reward
‘Financial Weighted 2018 remuneration cutcomes for Executive Directors®
measures multplier
Deposit
performance 4 50%
Lending
performance 4.50%
Customer
ACCOUNtS 550%
Underlying
proft 0.00%
2 2018 Remuneration outcome for David Arden excludes the compensatory buyout award Fixed pay
of share options and cash made to him on joining. See page 86
Variable pay

= Total variable reward

CAP APPLIED

200% OF SALARY

» Variable remuneration will

not exceed 200% of salary
for Executive Directors
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy in brief
The table below sets out the key features of our Remuneration Policy, and how it will be implemented in 2019. The Policy

was approved by shareholders at our AGM on 25 April 2017. Full details of the approved Policy can be found on the Company
website. The Policy will next be reviewed in 2020.

Key elements of
remuneration

Key features of the Policy

Implementation for 2019

Salary + Reviewed annually and increases will normally be in + Craig Donaldson CEO: £750,000 {unchanged)
line with increases awarded to other colleagues + David Arden CFQO: £405,000 (1.25% increase from
+ There may be instances where a higher amount is £400,000)
agreed at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee, where the size and scope of a particutar
role is increasing as the organisation grows
Benefits Core benefits include: » Benefits are provided in line with the approved Policy
+ Life assurance of 4x salary
+ Private medical insurance for the Executive Director,
their partner and children
+ Additional benefits may be provided in certain
circumstances such as on relocation
+ Income protection is in place for the CEQ as
alegacy scheme
+ Executive Directors will be eligible to participate in
any all-employee Share Incentive Plan ('SI1P’)
Pension + Executive Directors are automaticaily enrolled into None of the Executive Directors has a prospective right
our Group Personal Pension Plan (GPPP’) when they  to a defined benefit pension
join the Bank. If they have exceeded the Life Time
Allowance or the annual pension tax-free Company contributions:
contribution limit, they may elect to take cash in lieu + Craig Donatdson: 10% of salary
of pension for all or some of the benefit + David Arden; 10% of salary
*  The maximum empleyer contribution (including cash
in tlieu) is 10% of salary
Variable « Discretionary variable reward scheme in which all + The total variable reward opportunity, expressed as

remuneration

eligible colleagues participate, based on behaviours
and performance over the year, paid in the form of
cash and share awards for all colleagues

= For Executive Directors at least 50% is deferred into
long-term share awards, normalily in the form of
share options, and a further 25% is deferred into
one-year vesting share awards, again normalty share
options. The remaining 25% is paid as cash

+ Total variable remuneration, including the fair value
of share awards, for each Executive Director for any
year, will not exceed 200% of their base pay at the
time of award

« The variable reward pool for any year is based on the
overall performance of the Bank in terms of culture
and delivery in line with the balanced scorecard

«  Malus and clawback apply to all deferred variable
remuneration

» Variable remuneration is subject to a risk adjustrment
process and input from the Chief Risk Officer

s  The Company has the flexibility tc make
compensatory awards to new Executive Directors,
to compensate them for benefits they may lose as
a result of joining Metro Bank. The 200% limit on
variable remuneration will not apply to these
compensatory awards

a percentage of salary, will be 100% for on-target
performance, and 200% at maximum performance

The weightings of the performance measures that will
make up the balanced scorecard for 2019 will be as
follows:

- Financial 30%

- Risk 20%

— Customer 35%

— People 15%

Mike Brierley retired on 31 March 2018 and was not
awarded any variable remuneration for his emptoyment
during 2018

David Arden (new CFQ) joined the Company on 19 March
2018. Share options to the value of £300,000 have been
granted to compensate David for the lapsing of deferred
awards that were made to him by his former employer
under its annual and long-term incentive plans, if he had
not resigned, with no performance conditions other than
continued service. The share options will vest pro-rata
over five years. To recognise the loss of payments that
woutd have been made to him by his former employer,

a one-off payment of £160,000 was also made. In
determining the level of compensatory awards, the
Company has taken account of the value of the awards
forfeited, the time horizons of the awards and the
performance hurdles attached to them in line with

our policy

Non-Executive
Directors

« All Non-Executive Directors receive a basic annual fee
for fulfilling their duties as a Board member

« Additional fees are paid for added responsibilities such
as chairmanship and membership of Committees, or
acting as the Senior Independent Director

» The basic and additional fees are reviewed periodically,
drawing on external market information for
comparable financial services groups and companies

+ The Chairman receives a monthly allowance, in
addition to fees, as a contribution towards travel to
and from the US and towards living expenses while
he is in the UK

QOur Non-Executive Directors are paid in line with the
approved Policy

The basic annual fee paid to all Non-Executive Directors
remains unchanged at £52,500

The annual fees for the Chairman remain unchanged at
E385,000 as does his allowance for travel and subsistence
of £120,000 gross per annum. No other expenses are
payable in relation to this
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STRATEGIC REPORT

ANNUAL REPORT ON FINANCIASS‘:EiﬁZz?TE
REMUNERATION

This section sets out how the Remuneration Policy for our Executive and Non-Executive Directors was implemented during the
financial year ending 31 December 2018, and how it will be implemented in 2018. This section will, together with the annual
statement by the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, be put to shareholders for an advisory vote at the 2019 AGM.

Single total figure of remuneration — Executive Directors {(audited)
Annual remuneration (£)
The following sets out the remuneration for the current Executive Directors.

David Arden joined on

Craig Donaldson 19 March 2018

2018 2017 2018 2017
Salary £725,000 £650.000 £315,152 -
Taxable benefits” £1,027 £1067 £274 -
Variabie pay. including deferred e.ement? £0 £80000C £288,000° -
Pension benefits® £72,500 £65000 E31,515 -
Other? £2,417 £2.826 £650 -
Buyouts - - £460,0008
Total remuneration £800,944 £1,518893 £1.095,591 -

This is the remuneration for Mike Brierley {former CFO) who retired on 31 March 2018.

Mike Brierley

2018 2017
Salary £93,750 368750
Taxable benefits* E205 £1.067
Variable pay. including deferred element? E£0 £400,000
Pension benehis® £9,375 £36.875
Other? £2,044 £7214
Total remuneration £105,374 £813,906

Notes:

1. Taxable benefits include private medical insurance for the CEQ and both incoming and cutgoing CFOs

2. 75% of the total variable pay awarded is converted into share options — see page 90. Any share options awarded are included in this figure; they are not in addition to it. There s
a continued service condition attached to the award of options

3. Pension contributions for the Executive Directors may be pad into a Group Personal Pension Plan or paid as a cash in lieu of pension allowance. Both have opted out of the pansion
scheme as they have reachead the Life Time Allowance and receive a cash allowance of 10% of salary

4. This is made up of non-taxable benefits provided to the Executive Directors and includes life assurance, Group mcome protection {legacy scheme} and an annual health check

5. This award reflected 2018 in full and was not pro-rated for time served, David Arden did not receive any variable reward from his former employer, and no buyout award was
provided ta him, in respect of the period covering 1 January to 19 March 2018. The Committee elected instead to provide a full year's variable pay award in respect of 2018, such
that the entire award was subject to the Company's performance and his individual contribution during the year, and also to our normal deferral time horizons as well as malus and
clawback terms.

6. David Arden (new CFOC) joined the Company on 19 March 2018. To compensate David for the lapsing of deferred awards that were made ta him by his former employar under
its annual and long-term incentive plans, if he had not resigned. share options have been granted to him to the value of £300,000, with no perfarmance cenditions other than
continued service. The share options will vest pro-rata over five years. To recognise the loss of payments that would have been made to him by his former employer, a one-off
payment of £160.000 was alse made. In deterrmining the level of compensatory awards, the Company has taken account of the value of the awards forfeited, the time horizons
of the awards and the perfarmance hurdles attached to them. This award does not relate to the 2018 perforrmance year

Details of the single figure

Salary
Salary Salary

as at as at Total salary
1January 1 Apnl paid in
2018 2018 2018
Craig Bonaldson £650.000 £750,000 £725000
Mike Brierley left 31 March 2018 £375.000 n/a £93.750
Dawvid Arden joned 19 March 2018 n/a £400,000 £315152

2018 variable reward outcomes

As set out in the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders at the AGM on 25 April 2017, the Executive Directors’
variable reward in relation to performance during 2018 was based on a balanced scorecard of performance measures and
objectives, weighted between financial (30%), risk (20%), customer {35%) and people (15%). Amounts shown reflect the total
awards under the variable reward scheme paid in 2019, based on performance in the financial year ending 31 December
2018, including the value of any deferred element.

in addition to the Company multiplier, a further muitiplier based on individual behaviours and performance was also applied
to the balanced scorecard remuneration outcome. The tables below illustrate performance against each of the balanced
scorecard measures. As set out on page 91, this approach and multiplier are consistent with that applied for all colleagues
across the Bank.
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Financial performance

Weighted Weighted Weighted
performance Gateway performance performance Weighted Actual

outcome threshold) outcome 2018 target outcome Maximum performanre nerformance
Performance measure at gateway® performarnce at target? performance at maximum? performance outcome outcome
Deposit performance £Em 40% 14,783 5.0% 16,426 6.0% 18.069 45% 15661
Lending performance £m A0% 13,286 50% 14,763 6.0% 16,239 A15% 14,234
Customer accounts no m 4.0% 1.58 5.0% 1.54 6.0% 163 5.5% 162
Underlying profit % 12.0% G0% 15.0% 100% 18.0% 110% 0% 69%
Total for financial measures 24.0% 30.0% 36.0% 14.5%

1. 80% of weighting is applied for gateway performance i.e. at 90% of target. There is a step progression of 5% in the multiplier of the weighted performance outcome from 80%
to 120% for every 2.5% in performance from 90% to 110%

e

. 100% of weighting 1s awarded for on-target performance

3 Maximum multiplier is 120% of weighting which is applied for performance of 110% or more

Non-financial Company objectives

2018
Weighted
perfarmance
Chbjectives Key achievernents in 2018 Weighting outcome
Risk Key measures relating to  Credit quality is good and has been capped at 100% The majority of
Internal Audit, credit our audits had good cutcomes where controls evaluated were
quality — arrears® and adequale and effective. Our first line anti-money laundenng cortrols
ant-money labndering operated above threshold The weighted performance outcome does
controls not take nto account the impact of the RWA adjustrment as this was 20% 18.3%
not an objective under the 2018 scorecard As mentioned azbove, the )
Committee has decided to freeze vestings of share options and awards
for the Cxecutive Directors and bxecutive tearm, inciuding share
options for 2018, pending further internal analysts and any external
investigatons into the RWA adjustment
Customer Key measures relating to  With our customer-focused model, we set stretching goals in this area
Net Promoter Scores, call  and it represents 35% of total Company weighting Our Net Promoter
centre service, customer  Score was over target The Company Mystery Shopping programme
complaints, and magic was above threshold. Call centre service via AMAZL Direct was at 35% 254%
(mystery) shopping target and we were below threshold for our responsiveness on
complaints The new measure for CMA service quality results, where
we performed strongly, was not included in the scorecard for 2018
People Key measures relating to In cur annual colleague survey $6% of people agreed that Metrc Bank
voluntary attrition?, is a good place to work Voluntary atfriton has improved during the
year to an all-time low (capped at 100%}) and we consistently see our 15% 13.8%

diversity, compliance
training and being a
‘good place to work’

peope dong theyr regulatory training on ime. We atso have a new
measure for inclusion, tracking gender and ethnic diversity in our

sentcr leaders

1. Credit quality for arrears was capped at 100%

2. Voluntary attrition was capped at 100%

Note: As above for financial measures, 80% of weighting is applied for gateway performance — i.e. #t 90% of target. Thera is a step progression of 5% in the multipiier of the weighted
performance outcome from 80% to 120% for every 2 5% in performance from 90% to 110%. 100% of weighting is awarded for on-target performance. Maximum multiplier is 120% of
weighting which is applied for performance of 110% or more

Overall balanced scorecard remuneration outcome or Company performance multiplier

Weghted

performance

Weghting outcome

A Financial 30% 4 5%
B Risk 20% 18 3%
C Customer 35% 25 4%
D Pecple 15% 13 8%
Total 100% 72.0%

See how our balanced scorecard measures link to our strategy on page 11
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Based on the assessment of performance against the balanced scorecard outcomes outlined above, we applied a Company
performance weighting of 72% for 2018. This weighting was applied for all eligible colleagues across the Bank, including the
Executive Directors.

Following our announcement in January 2019 regarding the RWA adjustment, the Committee decided to freeze vestings of
share options and awards for the Executive Directors and Executive team, including share options for 2018, pending further
internal analysis and any external investigations into the RWA adjustment.

Individual behaviours and performance multiplier

A discretionary multiplier was applied to variable reward for ail eligible colieagues, by reference to each colleague’'s individual
behavicurs and performance for the year. Below, we set out details of the individual multipliers, in respect of our Executive
Directors for 2018, which were determined by the Remuneration Committee. Following our announcement on 23 January 2019
regarding the RWA adjustment, Craig Donaldson asked that the Committee did not consider him for variable reward for 2018.

individual
behaviours and
perfarmance

Executive Director Key achieverments in 2018 multipher

Craig Donadson  Craig led the Company through another year of sigrnificant growth and debivery with profits up to 65%"
£50 milron, «wans up 48% and a £4 billion increase in deposits, all aganst stretching targets. This
was baanced with a Commen Lauity Tier L{CET1) ratio of 23.2% and a high-gualty ican book.
The Company continued to mvest In ILs physical, people and digital capabiliies and in 2018 opened
a further 10 stores, giving customers more choice about how, when and where they bank with
Metro Bank.

Customer data from internal measures and a.so the Competitian and Markets Authority rankings
were very strong. Craig was recognised as one of the highest-rated CEOs on Guassdoor, and the
Company was ranked among Glassdoor's best p.aces to work evidencing the customer-focused
leadership he provides to colleagues and the Campany.

Narrow margins and higher than anticipated costs meant profits were lower than budgeted and we
adjusted the risk weighting of certain commercial loans secured on commercial property and
ceriain specialist buy-to-let loans that had the combined efect of increasing our RWAs by £900
million, as announced in January 2029 1he Remuneration Committee had provisicnally determmed
a personal multipaer of 65%! for Craig Donaldson in recognition of these issues (154% for 2017).
However, as referenced above Craig asked that the Cormmittee did not consider him for vanab.e
reward for 2018 so he recewved zero vanable reward for 2018

David Arden David has made a strong start in his role as CFO. He oversaw significant growth in profitability during 100%2
another year of exceptional investment in growlth and custormer experience

Dawd's team manage capital, costs and revenue aligned to the Company's short, medivm and
long-term goais. Asset and Lability management remain conservative

The financial control environment 15 strong as attested by both internal and external review. In
addition, the Finance, Ireasury. Legal and Company Secretarnial, Procurement and Investor Relations
teams that David 1s accountabte for delivered high levels of service to their internal customers and
externa: stakeholders.

1. As menticned above the Committee has frozen vesting of share options for 2018 for the Executive Directors and Executive Team, including David, pending further internal analysis
and any external investigations intc the RWA adjustrnent

Calculation of variable pay for the Executive Directors

As set out in the 2017 Directors' Remuneration Report, each Director was eligible for an on-target variable reward
opportunity of 100% of salary in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2018. Mike Brierley (the former CFO who
left on 29 March 2018} was not awarded any variable reward for 2018.

In line with the above and our approach for all colleagues, the variable reward for the Executive Directors was as follows.

On-target Company performance Indraidual behaviours and
Executive Director vanable reward multipher performance mulbiplier Total variable reward
Craig Donaldson £750,000 F2% 65% = £
David Arden £400,000 7% 100% = E£288.000

1. Following our announcement of 23 January 2019 regarding the AWA adjustment Craig Donaidson asked that the Commitiee did not consider him for variable reward for 2018
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How variable reward is paid

In line with the Policy approved by shareholders at the AGM on 25 April 2017, at least 50% of all variable reward for Executive
Directors must be deferred into long-term share awards, and a further 25% is deferred into one-year vesting share awards.
The remaining 25% is paid in cash. As mentioned above, following our announcement in January 2019 regarding the RWA
adjustment Craig Donaldson asked that the Committee did not consider him for variable reward for 2018.

Share awards in respect of the year ending 31 December 2018 were deferred into market price share options, the fair value
of which was informed by the Black-Scholes methodology. Market price share options are implicitly performance related, as
they will not accrue any value unless Metro Bank’s share price increases over the long term. Our approach to deferring into
market price share options is operated for all colleagues — it supports our reward principle to make everyone an owner, and
aligns all colleagues with the Bank's long-term vision.

Executive Total 2018
Director vanable reward Element of variable reward Quantum Method of delvery'
David Arden £288.000 Cash (25%} £72.000 Paid immediately in cash. In ine with the approved Policy
One-year share £/2.000 9,600 cne-year options vesting fuily & year after grant
options (25%)!
Long-term share £144,000 19.200 five-year options w th the first vasting a year after grant and 1in

options (50%)! equal annual instalments thereafter,

Notes: All share option awards rounded to nearest optian and all cash roeunded to nearest E3
1. Any share options awarded were granted at an option price based on the Volume Weighted Average Share Price ['VWAP') for MTRO en 1 April. All share aptions awarded are frozen
pending further internal analysis and any external investigations into the RWA adjustment

2017 Balanced Scorecard Performance
As previously committed we are now providing further disclosure on the financial metrics, targets and performance for the
2017 financial year,

Financial performance 2017

Weighled
Performance measure Weighting 2017 Target Actual % of target Multipher performance’®
Depost performance (£'billion) 5% 11.3 1.7 104% 104% 5%
Lending perfarmance {C'billion! 5% 94 9.6 102% 102% 5%
Capita. adequacy %’ 5% 100% 100% 100% 100% 5%
Customer accounts 5% 1216000 1.216624 100% 100% 5%
Profitability %2 10% 100% 95% 95% a5% 9%
Total for financial measures 30%3

Notes

1. Capital adequacy was capped at 100% for 2017. At this stage, we expect that taking into account the adjustment to the RWAS on seme of our commercial loans [i.e. the RWA
adjustment anngunced in January 2019) will not reduce performance below 100%, but if in due course we find that it would have done, or for other reasens think it appropriate.
the Remuneration Committee will consider applying performance adjustment to these amounts

2. Profitability for 2017 is a blended measure of profit before tax, revenue and costs versus budget

3. Rounded to nearest percent

Overall 2017 Balanced Scorecard remuneration outcome or Company performance multiplier

‘Wweighted

Werghting performance’

Financial 30% 30%
Risk 20% 18%
Customer 5% 29%
Peop.e 15% 15%
Total 100% 92%

1. Rounded to nearest percent
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Remuneration for employees below Board level

Our approach to remuneration is consistent for all colleagues including our Executive Directors. The focus is on simplicity.
rewarding the right behaviours and cutcomes for customers and the business, focusing on long-term growth and
discouraging unnecessary risk-taking.

Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy, as approved by shareholders at the AGM on 25 April 2017, was developed by reference
to our reward principles, which apply to all colleagues:

Pay fair salaries and offer strong career and growth opportunities in an AMAZEING culture
Make everyone an owner aligning them to the Bank's long-term vision

Reward colleagues based on Metro Bank’s culture and performance and how they behave and deliver, both as part of the
team and as an individual

Keep reward as simple as possible, with one approach for all

Take a retail approach to variable reward; no excessive cash bonuses or linear incentives which can skew behaviours and
encourage unnecessary risk-taking

Summary of the remuneration structure for employees below Board level

Salary Benehts Pension Vaniable remuneration

« We have a normal inflationary  « All coleagues are eligible for + The table below shows « Auemployees are eligible for
and performance-related pay private medical insurance funded the minimum and share options or an equivalent,
potof 2.2% at aufferent rates of cover maximum employer in line with owr strong ethos of

« The gquantum of salary increases depending on their level of pension contributions employee buy-In and ownership
are primarvy driven by individual sentority payable by Metro Bank  « We apply the same Compary
behaviours « All coleagues, Including the year-on-year performance muitiplier to

+ We also review salaries for roles Executive Directors, receive all colleagues
that we deem are growing a benefit of dealh in service « For alcoleagues whose
rapidly in scale and/or Ife cover of four times therr personal behaviours and
complexity and are critical to base salary delivery are as expected or
the business and for those better we apply a multiplier
colieagues which market data up to a maximum of 200%

suggests are falling behind the
market rates for thewr roles

Pension contributions?

2018 2017 % increase
Employer contribution as 2 % of salary Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum
CEC 10% 10% 10% 10% 0% 0%
Executive Directors & Executive Leadership leam 10% 10% 10% 10% 0% 0%
Senior leaders and experts 9% 10% 8% 10% 11.1% 0%
Managers and specialists 8% 8% 7% 8% 12.5% 0%
Entry-level roles 6% 6% &% 6% 0% 0%

1

Data at 1 April each year

CEO reward vs. employee reward
The table below sets out the percentage change between the 2017 and 2018 years in salary and variable reward.

% change 2017/18
Mediar Average
FTE® varable FTE vanable
Employee group FTE salary reward FTE salary reward
Ad employees! 56% 4.2% 8.1% -255%
CEO? M4 -100% 15.4% -100%
Executive Leadership Team’® 18% -375% 8.4% -54.1%

1.

(2]

Due to the sigmficant growth at Metro Bank, data has been calculated using the same colleagues over the two-year period. This only includes colleagues who were employed by
Metro Bank on or before 1 January 2017 and still employed on or after 31 December 2018. Any colleagues who joined or left the Bank within this period have been excluded from
the analysis. Salary is taken as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018

. As mentioned above, following our announcement in January 2019 regarding the RWA adjustment, Craig Bonaldson asked that the Committee did not consider him for variable

reward for 2018. The CEO received a 15.4% pay increase in 2018 but did not receive a pay increase this year

. The CFO is not included in this figure as nejther David Arden nor Mike Brierley were employed across the entire same store period - i.e. between 1 January 2017 and 31 Decernber 2018
. FTE: full-time equivalent
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CEO to employee pay ratio disclosure

25th 75th 25th 75th 25th 75th

Calculation  percentile Median percentile percentle Median percentiie percentile  Median total percentile

Year methodology payratic  pay rato  pay ratic CEO salary salary salary salary CEO total pay total pay pay total pay
2018 A 36:1 28:1 16:1 £725000 £19300 £25100 £40,500 F801.000 £22200 £28400  £48300
2017 A 69.1 541 301 £650000 £19200 £2480C £40000 £1518900 E22000 £28,100  £50,300

Salary and total pay figures have been rounded to the nearest £100

The lower, median and upper-quartile colleagues were determined using the ‘single figure’ approach {Option A) to
calculating total remuneration for all colleagues employed on 31 December 2018. This methodology was chosen
as it is the purest approach.

Three colleagues were identified whose full-time equivalent total remuneration places them at the 25th, 50th and 75th
percentiles. Colleague total remuneration includes salary, allowances, employer pension contributions, Company-funded
health and risk benefits, referral bonuses as well as total variable reward awarded in 2019 in respect of the 2018 performance
year. All elements were calculated on a full-time equivalent basis. We are confident that the colleagues identified are
representative of the lower, median and upper quartiles and the median pay ratio is consistent with the Company’s wider
policies on colleague pay. reward and progression.

As this is the first year using the revised reporting requirements, we have provided the CEQ pay ratio for 2017 as a
comparison. The Committee recognises that the CEQ pay ratio will be volatile. The ratio has decreased in 2018 partly
as a result of Craig Donaldson asking the Committee to not consider him for variable reward for 2018,

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows total remuneration of all employees for 2018 compared to 2017. This data is taken from the peopte
costs on page 119 and excludes social security costs.

2018 2017 %
E£'million C'rmillion change
Employee costs 1280 102.0 255

The costs have increased as a result of the growth in the average number of employees from 2017 to 2018.

We made no distributions by way of dividend or share buy-back during the preceding year, or made any other significant
distributions. We therefore consider that at this time there is no information or data which would assist shareholders in
understanding the relative importance of spend on pay.

Total shareholder return

The chart shows our total shareholder return ('TSR’) relative to the FTSE 250, FTSE 100 and the FTSE 350 banks {which is
the capitalisation-weighted index of all bank stocks in the FTSE 100 and FTSE 250}. These indices have been chosen as they
represent a cross-section of UK companies and banks.

This chart shows the total return to Metro Bank investors since our listing on the London Stock Exchange in March 2016,

compared with the total return on an investment made in the FTSE 250, FTSE 100 or FTSE 350 banks over the same period,
assuming an initial investment of £100.
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CEO historic remuneration
Craig Donaldson
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Total remuneration Lindiuding
any Listing awards) £800.944 E1518893 £1,304919 £2.661.4/4° £749,443 £1,794,100 £5435947

Variable reward outcome as a
percentage of the maximum
that could have been paid? 0% 62% 52% n/a

1. The figure for 2018 takes into account zera variable reward for Craig Donaldson in hight of his request that the Committee does not consider him for variable reward for 2018

2. As disclosed inthe Prospectus and 2016 Annual Repart, Craig Donaldson received a higher variable reward for 2015 in the form of Share Awards, granted in March 2016, in
recognition of his significant contnbution to the successful private placement and admission of Metra Bank to the London Stock Exchange. as well as his performance in 2015.
No other variabie reward for the 2015 performance year was awarded. The Listing Share Award s subject to continued employment and no further performance conditions apply
to vesting. Further details are included in the shareholding table on page 94 and outstanding share awards table on page 95. As mentioned above the vesting of these share
awards will be frozen pending further internal analysis and any external investigations into the RWA adjustment

3. Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy containing a maximum variable reward outcome was first approved by shareholders at the AGM on 25 April 2017. Under cur Remuneration
Policy, approved by shareholders in 2017, variable reward 15 capped at 200% of salary

4. Prior to approval of the Policy this cap was not in place

4 4 4 1

nfa

n/a n/a

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration
Chairman'’s fees
The fees for the Chairman remain unchanged at £385,000.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

The Non-Executive Directors are paid a basic fee, with further fees payable to reflect Board Committee memberships and
chairmanships and/or additional responsibilities such as Senior Independent Director. Fees are reviewed annually. The fees
are benchmarked against financial services and other FTSE 250 companies.

The hasic fee for Non-Executive Directors, which was last increased in April 2018, remains unchanged at £52,500. The latest
fees are shown below including the fee attracted by the new Deputy Chairman role and also the Designated NED for
Workforce Engagement:

Anrual fee

Role 1£'000)

Non-Executive Director - basic fee 525

Senior Independent Birector or Deputy Chairman 300

Chairman of Audit or Risk Committeg or Designated NED for Workforce Engagement 200

Chairman of Nomination or Remuneration! Comrmittee 100

Member of Audit, Risk or Remuneration Committee 100

Member of Nomination Committee 50

1. Inthe 2017 Annual Report we misreported the fee for Remuneration Committee Chair as £20,000. 1t is £10,000 per annum as per the table above
The table below shows the actual fees paid to our Chairman and Non-Executive Directors in 2018 and 2017.!
Vernon W, Hill, 11 Stuart Bernau Catherine Brown® Keith Carby Roger Farah®

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Fees £585000 E3/6,66/ £90625 £85000 (13125 nfa  E£75.625 £68./50 £65625 £58.750

Taxable benefits £120,000 £120.000 EQ EQ £0 n/a £0 £EQ £5.190 £0

Total £505000 (196667 (90625 {85000 £13125 nfa (75625 £68,750 £70,815 E58,750

Howard Flight Alastair {Ben) Gunn Gene Lockhart Anna [Monigue) Malis® Sir Michae! Snyder

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Fees £85.625 £78750 (90,625 £84000 (90625 (85000 E58958 £22500 £70.625 E£65000

Taxable benefils £0 £G £Q £0 £8,568 £0 EO £0 £Q £0

Total £85625 £/8750 (90625 E85000 £99193 £85000 £58658 (22500 E/0625 £65000

Notes.

1. These figures include all fees paid to the Senior Independent Director and to Non-Executive Directors for Beard Committee mermberships and Committee chairmanships

2. A gross allowance is paid to the Chairman monthly via PAYE as a contribution towards his travel to/from the UK and accommodation and subsistence while here. He does not ¢laim
any expenses in relation to this

3. Appointed 1 October 2018

For our US-resident Non-Executive Directors all travel is coverad by a PAYE Settlement Agreement (PSA’). Food and lodging are put through payroll and taxed accordingly, rounded

upto the nearest £

. Appointed 1 July 2017

Ea

v
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Payments to past Directors
There were no payments made to past Directors in 2018 other than Mike Brierley in the course of his normal employment
as detailed above.

Payments for loss of office
There were no payments for loss of office made to Directors in 2018, including Mike Brierley.

Dilution limits
The rules of the Metro Bank PLC Deferred Variable Reward Plan contain limits on the dilution of capital. These limits are
monitored to ensure that we do not exceed 10% of the issued share capital in any rolling 10-year period.

Statement of voting at the AGM
We will be proposing a resolution to shareholders in respect of the Annual Report on Remuneration at the 2019 AGM.

The table below shows the voting outcomes on the Annual Report on Remuneration at the last AGM on 24 April 2018
and the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the AGM held 25 April 2017.

Itern For % For no Against % Against no, Vaotes withheld
Remuneration Policy 954% 41582506 4.6% 1,985,312 24321
2017 Remuneration Report 93.5% 66,447,203 6.5% 4620754 255 885

Shareholding
These are the total shareholdings as at 31 December 2018 for each of the Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors!
and any related connected persons. Qutstanding share awards, including share options, are summarised on pages 95 to 97,

Percentage of
1ssued share

Director No of shares capital
Vernon W Hill |l 5,080,344 521%
Craig Donaldson® 170,342 0.18%
Dawvid Arden 3400 0.00%
Stuart Bernau 50,154 0.05%
Catherine Brown 100 0.00%
Keith Carby 38,320 0.04%
Roger Farah 685023 0.70%
Lord Hight 29116 003%
Alastair (Ben) Gunn 45864 0.05%
Gene Lockhart 34989 0.04%
Anna (Monigue) Meds 700 0.00%
Sir Michael Snyder 28,300 003%
Total 6,170,652 6.33%

1. Mike Brieriey also held 91,165 shares when he retired on 31 March 2018, This figure is not included in the table above
2. 26,622 of Craig Donaldson’s shares which were awarded in connection with the Listing have not yet vested and are conditional in line with the rules of the long-term deferred
variable reward plan

This table includes vested shares where the Director has beneficial ownership, shares independently acquired in the market
and those held by a spouse or civil partner or dependant child under the age of 18 years.

Since the year end and up to 31 March 2019, the Company was notified of the following transactions in shares by Directors
and their connected persons:

+ Monigue Melis purchased 990 shares

* Craig Donaldson purchased 11,100 shares

¢ Vernon W. Hill, Il purchased 30,000 shares

Directors’ shareholdings

Shareholding guidelines

Executive Directors are required to build up a holding of shares equivalent to 200% of their annual salary and this will be
formatised in our revised Remuneration Policy in 2020 subject to shareholder approval. We will allow any new Executive
Director a reasonable amount of time to build up their shareholding.

Craig Donaldson has met the shareholding requirement of 200% of his annual salary. David Arden has purchased 3,400
shares and as he only joined the Company on 19 March 2018 we are allowing him time to build up his shareholding.
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We have not awarded share options to Non-Executive Directors since 2015 (relating to the 2014 performance year).
No dividends or dividend equivalents are payable on any share options or on any unvested share awards held.

The tables below show, for each Executive Director and Non-Executive Director as at 31 December 2018:
» the total number of share awards, shares granted or interests in shares granted and the award price; and

+ the total number of outstanding share awards.

Vernon W, Hill, Il

Share

First

Last

No of share No aof share

options Award Award vesting vesting ophions awards
Scheme name granted date price date date vested exercised
CSOP2015 15000  04/11/15 £1600 31710116 31/10/20 9,000 0]
Csorzo14 60,000 31/10/14 £135C 31710715 31710719 48,000 8
CSOP2013 5000 11/11/13 £1200  11/11/16 11/11/18 5,000 0
CSCR2012 2000  31/10/12 £1000 31/10/13  31/1C/15 2,000 0
CSOP20LL 4000 0¥10/11 FO.00 Q71017 07/10/14 4000 o
Total 86,000 68,000 0
Craig Donaldson
Share First Last No of share Ne.of No of share
oplions Shares Aweard Award vesting vesting optians shares awards
Scheme name granted awarded date price date date vested vested exercised
CSOP2018 Deferred Cash Lyr 20,000 31/03/18 £35.36  30/04/19  30/04/19 0 0
C50P2018 Bonus Lxchange 20,000 31/03/18 £35 36 31/03/18  31/03/18 20,600 O
CSOP2018 40,000 21/03/18 £3536  30/04/19  30/04723 8] G
CSQP2017 33637 31/03/17 £3273  30/04/18  50/04/22 6,727 8]
CSOP2017 Deferred Cash 1 yr 16.819 310317 E3273  30/04/18  30/04/18 16819 0
CSOP2017 Bonus Exchange 16.81% 3140517 t32./5  S1/03/17  31/03/17 16,819 0
CSOP2016 Pension Exchange 4,541 04/03/16 £200C  21/03/16  21/03/16 4541 0
CSOP2015 30,000 04/11/15 £1600 31/10/16  31/10/20 18,000 0
CSOP2015 Bonus Exchange 20,000 20/03/15 F14.00  20/0315  20/03/15 20,000 0
CS0P2014 130,000 31/10/14 £13.50  31/10/15  31/10/19 104,000 0
CS0P2014 Bonus Lxchange 13,077 21/03/14 £13.0C  21/03/14  21/03/14 13077 0
CS0OP2013 30,000 11/11/13 £120C0  11/1116 11711118 30,000 0
CSOP2012 50.000 31/10/12 £1000  31/10/13  31/10/15 50,000 0
CSOP2011 11.000 0//10/11 £900 07/10/12  07/10/14 11.000 5558
Listing awards 55455  04/03/16 28857 0
Total 435,893 55459 310,983 28,837 3,333
1. Share price on date of exercise 23 February 2017, £35.87. Gain 89,558
David Arden
Share First Last  No. of share No.of  No.of share
options Shares Awarg vesting Award vesting options shares awards
Scherne name granted awarded date date price date vested vested exercised
CSOP2018 30,000 31/03/18  30/04/19 £3536  30/04/23 0 0
Totat 30,000 0 0

METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCCUNTS 2018 95



ANNUAL REPORT ON
REMUNERATION conTinueD

Mike Brierley

Share First Last  No.of share No of share
options Shares Award Award vesting vesting cpucns No of awards
Scheme name granted awarded date price date date vested  shares vested exercised
CSOP2018 Deferred Cash 1yr 10,000 31/03/18 £3536  30/04/19  30/04/19 0 o
C5S0P2018 Bonus Exchange 10.000 31/03/18 £3536  31/03/18  31/03/18 10.000 o
CSCP2018 20,000 31/03/18 £35.36  S0/04/19  30/04/25 0 G
CSOP201/ 15,750 31703117 £3273  30/04/18 30/04/27 3150 o
CSOP2017 Deferred Cash 1 yr 7875 31/03/17 £3273  30/04/18  30/04/18 7875 o
CSOP201/ Bonus kxchange 7875 31/03/17 £3273 3./03/17  31/03/17 7875 0
CSCPr20.5 15000 04/11/15 F1600  31/10/16  33/10/20 9,000 G
CSOP2015 Bonus Exchange 12,637 20/03/15 £1400 20/03/15  20/03/15 12657 0
CSOP2011 32500 31/10/14 £1350  31/10/15  21/10/19 26,000 0
CSOP2013 14,000 1171113 £1200 117117116 11/11/18 14,000 0
CSOr2012 10,000 311012 F1000 31710013 51710715 10,000 0
CSOP2011 5,000 0//13/11 £900 O7/10/12  07/10/14 5000 5,554
Listing awards 32054 C4/03/16 16,666 0
Total 160,637 32,054 105,537 16,666 3,333
1. Share price on date of exercise 23 February 2017: £35.67. Gain £69,558
Stuart Bernau
Furst Last  No.ofshare  No of share
Share options Award Award vesting vesting options awards
Scherne name granted date price date date vested exercised
CSCP2015 7500 04/11/15 £1600  31/10/16  31710/20 4,500 o
C50P2014 15000  31/10/11 £1350 31710715 3L/10/19 12,000 G
C5CP2015 5000  11/11/13 £1200  11/11/16 11/11/18 5,000 4]
CsSCp2012 2000 31/10/12 E100C  31/10¢13 31/10/15 2,000 2.000!
CSOP2012 4000 07/10/11 £900  07/10/12  O710/14 4000 4,000?
Total 33,500 27,500 6,000
1. Share price on date of exercise 16 August 2016: £23 25 Gain £26,500
2. Share price on date of exercise 28 April 2016: £20.30. Gain £45,200
Keith Carby
First last No ofshare  No of share
Share options Award Award vesting vesting aptions awards
Scheme name granted date price date date vested exercised
CSOP2015 2500  04/11/15 £16.00 31/10/716  31/10/20 4,500 0
CSOP2014 15000  31/10/14 E1450  31/10/15  31/10/19 12,000 0
CSOP2013 5000 11/11/13 £1200 11/11/16  11/11/18 5,000 0
CSOP2012 2,000 31/10/12 £1000 3171013 31/10/15 2.000 4]
CSOP2011 4000  07/10/11 F2.00  O7/10/12  Q7/10/14 4,000 0
Total 33,500 27,500 0
Roger Farah — ail of Roger's share options were vested and exercised during 2018. There are no options outstanding.
First Last Mo ofshare  No of share
Share options Award Award vesting vesting options awards
Scheme name granted date price date date vested exercised
CSOP2015 2500 04711115 £1600 317107116 31/10/20 7500 75001
Total 7,500 7,500 7,500

1. Share price on date of exarcise 21 September 2018: £30.30. Gain £107,250
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Lord Flight
First Last No of share No. of share
Share options Award Award vesting vesting options awards
Scheme narne granted date price date date vested exercised
CS0OP2015 7,500 04/12/15 £1600  31/10/16  31/10/20 4,500 0
CS50P2014 15000 31/10/14 £1350 31710015 31/10/18 12,000 o
CSOP2013 5000 11/11/13 E1200 11711716 11/11/18 5.G00 0
CsOpP012 2000 31/10/12 £1000  31/10/13  31/10/15 2,000 0
CSOP201- 4000 07/10/11 £9.00 07710/12  0710/14 4000 o
Total 33,500 27,500 0
Alastair (Ben) Gunn
First Last No of share No of share
Share options Award Award vesting vesting options awards
Scheme name granted date price date date vested exercised
CSOP2015 7500 04/11/15 £1600  31/1016  31710/20 4,500 0
CSOP2014 15000 31/10/14 £1350  3110/15  31/10/19 12,000 ¢
CS0OP2015 5000 11/11/13 £1200  11/11/16 11711718 5000 0
CsOP2012 2000 3Nno12 £1000 31710113 31/10/15 2,000 2,000
Cs0P201L 4000 07/10/11 £9.00 0/10112  Q710/14 4000 4,000
Total 33,500 27.500 6,000
1. Share price on date of exercise 5 June 2017° £38.02. Gain £172,120
Gene Lockhart
First Last No. of share No of share
Share options Award Award vesting vesling options awards
Scheme name granted date price date date vested exercised
CSOP2015 7500 04/1°/15 £16.00  31/10/16 31710720 4,50C 0
C50P2014 15000 31/10/14 £1350  31/10/15  31/10/19 12,000 O
CSOP2013 5000 11/11/13 F1200  11/11116 0 11711418 5000 0
CsSOPPOL2 2,000 31/10/12 £1000  31/10/15  31/10/15 2,000 0
CSOR2011 4,000  07/10/11 £E900 0710712  07/10/14 4000 0
Total 33,500 27,500 0

Michael Snyder — allof Michael's share options were vested and exercised during 2018, There are no options cutstanding.

First Last No. of share No of share

Share options Award Award vesting vesting oplions awards

Scheme name granted date price date date vested axercised
CSOP2015 5000 04/11/15 £1600 31/10/16  31/10/20 5,000 5,000
Total 5,000 5,000 5,000

1. Share price on date of exercise 19 Septernber 2018° £29.10. Gain £65,500

Executive Director proposed share option awards

The following share option awards were made in 2019 in respect of the 2018 performance year and are already included in
the single figure table for 2018 variable pay on page 87. They reflect that, following our announcement regarding the RWA
adjustment, the CEQ asked that the Committee did not consider him for variable reward for 2018.

Craig
Vesting perad Donaldson David Arden
After one year 0 96001
After five years 0 19,2004
Total 0 28,800
1. These share options have been frozen pending further internal analysis and any external investigations into the RWA adjustment
i 3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF METRO BANK PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Metro Bank PLC’s group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the ‘financial

statements’):

» give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the
group's profit and the group’s and the parent company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and, as regards the parent company's financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006; and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group financial
statements, Article 4 of the |IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts {the ‘Annual Report’), which
comprise: the group and parent company balance sheets as at 31 December 2018; the group statement of comprehensive
income, the group and parent company cash flow statements, and the group and parent company statements of changes
in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant
accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ('ISAs (UK)'} and applicable law. Qur
responsibilities under iSAs {UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were
not provided to the group or the parent company.

Other than those disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the group
or the parent company in the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.
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Our audit approach
Overview
« QOverall group materiality: £1.8m {2017: £1.9m), based on 5% of the average consolidated profit or
loss before tax of the last 5 years.
+ Overall parent company materiality: £1.9m (2017: £2.0m), based on 5% of the average profit or loss
before tax of the last 5 years.

+ The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed were
determined by our risk assessment, the financial significance of reporting units and other
gualitative factors {including history of misstatement through fraud or error).

« The Group is comprised of three operating entities: Metro Bank PLC, SME Invoice Finance Limited
and SME Asset Finance Limited, which are referred to in our report as business components.

« The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed were
determined by our risk assessment, the financial significance of business components and other
gualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or error).

« We performed audit procedures over business components considered financially significant in
the context of the Group (full scope audit) or in the context of individual primary statement
account balances (audit of specific account balances}. We performed other procedures including
testing entity level controls, information technology general controls and analytical review
procedures to mitigate the risk of material misstatement in the non-financially significant business
components.

The areas of focus for our audit which involved the greatest allocation of our resources and

effort were:

+ Impairment of loans and advances to customers (Group and parent)
« Recognition of revenue on loans and advances {Group and parent)

These items were discussed with the Audit Committee as part of our audit plan communicated in
September 2018 and updated in November 2018. These were the key audit matters for discussion
at the conclusion of our audit.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
staterments, In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain,

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

Based on our understanding of the group and the industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with
laws and regulations related to breaches of banking regulations such as, but not limited to, the Consumer Credit Act and
unethical and prohibited business practices, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material
effect on the financial statements. We alse considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial
statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent
manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks
were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure, and management bias in
accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

= Discussions with the Audit Committee, management, internal audit and the group's legal counsel, including consideration
of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;

» Evaluation of the operating effectiveness of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;

« Reading correspondence with regulators, such as the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation
Authority in retation to the group's compliance with banking regulations;

= Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their estimation of the impairment of loans and
advances to customers and revenue recognition (see related key audit matters below), and the recognition of the deferred
tax asset relating to brought forward trading losses; and

« |dentifying and testing journal entries posted by management or with unusual account combinations.
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CONTINUED

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws
and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial staternents, the less likely we would become
aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud} identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any
comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
This is not a complete list of all risks identified by ocur audit.

Hey audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of loans and advances We assessed and tested the design and operating effectiveness of the
to customers controls directly associated with the impairment calculation.

IFRS 9 was adopted on 1 January 2018 and

introduced significant changes to the estimation The procedures we performed in reaching cur conclusions included:
of impairment as losses'are now recogn.ised on an *  With support from our credit modelling specialists, we understood
expected, forward looking basis, reflecting the and critically assessed the methodology applied in the impairment
group’s view of potential future economic events. models, to evaluate whether the methodology was compliant with
As aresult, a new methodology encompassing IFRS 9 requirements, and tested key assumptions and judgements,
new assurmptions and judgements was required including those made by management in determining PDs and

to determine impairment provisions under IFRS 9, LGDs, used in the calculation of provisions.

and there are new disclosure requirements. L. " L,
a s « To test the application of management's 'staging’ thresholds, we

performed substantive procedures including selecting samples of
toans and advances, forming our own judgements of stage
allocation and comparing this to management's conclusions.

« To test management's incorporation of forward looking information
into the impairment modelling process, we compared the forward
looking assumptions to publically available forecasts, including

The assumptions and judgements of most
significance included the following:

+ The judgements made by managementin
determining the probability of default ('PD’)
and loss given default (LGD');

* The 'staging’ thresholds selected by those published by the Bank of England. We assessed
management to determine a significant increase management’s probability weights applied to the scenarios in the
in credit risk, and hence whether a 12 month or calculation of impairment and considered whether the scenarios
lifetime loss provision is recorded; and and probability weights appeared to be within a reasonable range.

+« The application of forward looking economic This included assessing management’s assumptions regarding the
assumptions used in the models, including UK's exit from the European Union.
management’s assumptions to address » We tested the accuracy of critical data inputs used by the
potential risks from the UK's exit from the impairment models on a sample basis to supporting
European Union. documentation.

* We tested management’'s model monitoring controls and controls
covering the identification of which loans and advances which are
impaired, including re-performing a number of model monitoring
tests independently.,

+ We evaluated whether the credit risk disclosures made by
management were compliant with the requirements of IFRS 9 and
traced the disclosures to source data.

{Group and parent)

We determined that these controls were designed, implemented and
operated effectively and therefore we determined that we could place
reliance on them for the purposes of our audit.

Based on cur procedures we found the assumptions and judgements
used by management in their impairment estimate to be reasonabile,
and the new financial statements disclosures to be materially in line
with the requirements of IFRS 9.
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How our audit addressed the key audit maller

We evaluated the circumstances surrounding the RWA adjustment
announced in January 2019, and considered the impact on our audit
work. Whilst RWAs and the related adjustment do not form part of the
financial statements, we made enquiries of management and the Board,
and the Prudential Regulation Authority, reviewed correspondence with
the Bank's regulators, as well as reading reports issued by advisers
engaged to support the Bank in its review of this area. We performed
additional testing in respect of the recording of loan and collateral
information used for financial statement reporting purposes, to the
extent that this information was relevant to management’s assessment
of impairment of loans and advances. We also considered whether
there is any evidence from the procedures performed as to the integrity
of financial statement reporting in respect of loans and advances, or
the related control environment. No material issues were noted.

Recognition of revenue on loans and advances

The Group recognises interest income using the
effective interest rate method which spreads
interest and directly attributable cash flows, the
most significant of which relate to loan arrangement
fees and upfront costs of new lending, over the
loans' expected lives.

The expected life assumptions utilise repayment
profiles to represent how customers are expected
to repay. The Group has limited historical
experience to support these profiles and therefore
management must apply judgement, in addition to
any historical information available.

(Group and parent)

We assessed and tested the design and operating effectiveness of the
controls directly associated with the calculation and reporting of
interest income on loans to customers. These controls included:

= accurate input of loan data into core financial reporting systems;
« appropriate authorisation of amendments to data; and

« determination and approval of the assumptions used in the effective
interest rate calculations.

We determined that these controls were designed, implemented and
operated effectively and therefore we determined that we could place
reliance on them for the purposes of our audit.

We assessed management's effective interest rate calculations through
stressing the assumptions applied and utilising internal benchmarks to
evaluate the appropriateness of the key assumptions used. We found
no exceptions.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the parent company. the accounting processes

and controls, and the industry in which they operate.

The group is comprised of three operating entities: Metro Bank PLC, SME Invoice Finance Limited and SME Asset Finance
Limited. The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed were determined by our

risk assessment and other gualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or error). We performed audit
procedures over business compeonents considered financially significant in the context of the group {full scope audit} orin
the context of individual primary statement account balances {audit of specific account balances), using the materiality
levels set out above. We also performed other audit procedures including testing information technology generat controls
and controls over key outsourced functions related to financial reporting, to mitigate the risk of material misstatement.

This approach gave us coverage of over 39% of the group’s total assets. Audit coverage on account balances in the
consolidated income statement ranges between 85% and 100%. For the remaining balances within business components
which were not individually financially significant, the risk of material misstatement was mitigated through audit procedures
including testing of entity level controls
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Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and
extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect
of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group hnancial statements Parent company financial statements

Overall materiality £1.8m {2017: £1.9m). £1.9m (2017: £2.0m).

How we determined it 5% of the average consolidated profit or loss 5% of the average profit or loss before tax of the
before tax of the last 5 years. last 5 years.

Rationale for benchmark Based on the benchmarks used in the Annual Based on the benchmarks used in the Annual

applied Report, profit or loss before tax is a key Report, profit or loss before tax is a key
measure used by the shareholdersin rmeasure used by the shareholders in assessing

assessing the performance of the Group, and  the performance of the company, and is a
is a generally accepted auditing benchmark. generally accepted auditing benchmark.

For our group audit, we identified one financially significant component, which is the parent company. We allocated a
materiality of £1.7m to the parent company, which is less than our overall group materiality. As the allocated materiality for
the parent company is below the statutory materiality, we have audited the parent company using this lower component
materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £91,000
(group audit) (2017: £92,000) and £93,000 (parent company audit) (2017: £99,000) as well as misstatements below those
amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern
In accordance with ISAs (UK) we report as follows:

Reporting obbgatian Outcome

We are required to report if we have anything material We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to.
to add or draw attention to in respect of the directors’

statement in the financial statements about whether the However, because not all future events or conditions can
directors considered it appropriate to adopt the going be predicted, this staterment is not a guarantee as to the
concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial company's ability to continue as a going concern. For
statements and the directors’ identification of any material example, the terms on which the United Kingdom may
uncertainties to the group's and the parent company’s withdraw from the European Union are not clear, and it is
ability to continue as a going concern over a period of difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on the
at least twelve months from the date of approval of the group and parent company’s trade, customers, suppliers
financial statements. and the wider economy.

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating We have nothing to report.
to Going Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3)

is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in

the audit.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other informaticn. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Diractors’ Report, we alse considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006,
ISAs {UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) require us also to report certain opinions and
matters as described below {required by ISAs (UK) unless otherwise stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Repert and Directors’ Report.

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or

liquidity of the group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

+ The directors’ confirmation on page 59 of the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the
principal risks facing the group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency
or liquidity.

+ The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

+ The directors’ explanation on page 43 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over
what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether
they have a reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall
due over the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary
qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the group and statement in relation to the longer-term viability of the group. Our
review was substantially less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’
process supporting their statements; checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code'); and considering whether the statements are consistent with the knowledge and
understanding of the group and parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit. (Listing Rules).

Other Code Provisions

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when:

+ The statement given by the directors, on page 60, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair,
balanced and understandable, and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the group’s and parent
company's position and performance, business model and strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the
group and parent company obtained in the course of performing our audit.

+ The section of the Annual Report on page 71 describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address
matters communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

+ The directors’ statement relating to the parent company’s compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a
departure from a relevant provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006.
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Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' responsibilities set out on page 60, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framewaork and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. The directors are ailso responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have
nc realistic alternative but ta do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As (UK} will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to inftuence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. :

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the parent company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown
or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companles Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

+ the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not
in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the directors on 29 July 2009 to audit the

financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2010 and subsequent financial periods. During 2018 the directors

carried out an audit tender and we were subsequently invited to continue to perform the audit of the financial statements,
pending format reappointment at the 2019 Annual General Meeting. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is

9 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2010 to 31 December 2018.

Bwraw L ,‘lul—*

Darren Meek (Senlor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

1G April 2019
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OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Notes £'millicn £'mithion
Interest income ] 4444 3020
Interest expense 2 (114.3) £1.0)
Net interest income 3301 2410
Fee and commission income 5 376 29.7
MNet gains on saie of assets 10.7 37
Other iIncome 4 25.7 194
Total income 404.1 2938
General operating expenses 5 (305.6} {2329}
Depreciation and amortisation 120 (45.1} (32.4}
Impairment of property, plart and equipment and intangible assets 1213 (4.8} {0.6)
Total operating expenses {355.5} (266 9}
Credit impairment charges' 23 n/a 8.2}
Expected credit \oss expense? (8.0} n/a
Profit before tax® 406 187
Taxation 8 {13.5) (79}
Profit for the year 271 108
Other comprehensive expense for the year
iterms which will be reclassified subsequently to profiz or loss
Movements in respect of Investrrient securities he.d at available-for-sale {net of tax)
- changes in fair vaiue n/a 27
- farr value changes transferred 1o the mcome statement on disposa. nfa 3.7
Movement In respect of investment securities held at fair value through other
comprehensive Income (net of tax)
- changes in fair va.ue (2.4 nia
— fair value changes transferred to the income statement on disposal (1.5) n/a
Total other comprehensive expense (3.9 (1.0
Total comprehensive profit for the year 23.2 98
Earnings per share
Basic (pence) 30 29.1 128
Diluted {pence) 30 282 126

1 OnlJanuary 2018 we adopted IFRS 9 which replaced IAS 39 Unger |AS 39, credit impairment charges were recogmised ©n Gans and advances to cusiomers
wher there was objectve evigence of mparment Losses which may have ansen from future events were not recogn sed Charges were recagnised In the
nee e statemeant under ine itee "Credit impair—ent charges’, Under IFRS 9, we mcogn se expected credt losses {FCLT on all finar cial assets All reasonabio
and supporiable information, Includirg information anout past events, current conditions and reasorable and supportsiie forecasts of ecorom L condiions at
the reporting date 1s used in measuring ECL Charges are recogrised in the income stalement under ine em "Fxpecied credit loss expense” Further details

about our transition to IFRS 9 can be found nnote 1 4

vl

A rnconchanon between our statutory proxot before -ax of <406 melion and © Lrundeslying prof theiore tax of £40 0 rmillic: can be found or page 165
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31 December

31 December

2018 2017

Notes E'million E'milhion
Assets
Cash and balances with the Bank of Eng.and 2,286 2,112
Loans and advances to banks 186 100
Loans and advances to customers 10 14,235 8,620
Avallable-for-sale investment securities’ B n/a 561
Held to maturity Investment secunties’ ‘1 n/a 5,504
investment securities held at fair value through other comprehensive ncorme (FYOCH)! 1 674 n/a
Investrment securitres held at amortised cost! 1 3,458 n/a
Property, plant and equipment z 454 328
Intangibie assets 3 197 148
Prepayments and accrued income 4 &6 52
Deferred tax asset 3 41 L4
Other assets 5 50 26
Total assets 21,647 16,355
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 1 15661 11,665
Deposits from central barnks’ 3,801 3371
ebt securities 1; 249 -
Repurchase agreements 344 121
Other liabilities 8 189 147
Total liabilities 20,244 15,258
Equity
Called-up share capital 12 - -
Share prermium 14 1,605 1,504
Retaimed earnings 21 (209} (219)
Other reserves 7 12
Total equity 1,403 1,097
Total equity and liabilities 21,647 16,355
0N 1 danaaty 2008 we adopied RS wrach solaced 1AS 39, As part of toe transticn our rvestmer tsecentics ore classiied as hels ot aneoised cost ard da:

FVOCI. rather than under ithe previcus categanes of avalabre for sale and he.g to matunty =urlher details about our trarsisition 1o IFRS 9 can be found in nate 1 4

2 Deposits fqom central sanks comprises solely of amounts drawn down under the Bank of Fngland's Term Funaimg Sscreme (TFS
The accounting policies, notes and information on pages 112 to 159 form part of the financial staterments.

The financial statements on pages 105 to 159 were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 Apnl 2019 and signed
onits behalf by

¢
Vernon W. Hill, Il i o 7
Chairman /&%l MJ

Craig Donaldson // /)
Chief Executive Officer {.‘ by
David Arden

Chief Financial Officer

'ﬁ"/(a,\
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Called-up Available- Share
share Share Retained for-sale FVOC] option Total
capital premium earnings reserve reserve reserve equity
Notes £'million E'million £'million £'million? E‘million’ £'million £ 'million
Balance as at 31 December 2017 - 1,304 {219) (4) n/a 16 1,097
IFRS 9 transitian adjustment {net of tax) 14 - - {17) 4 1 - {12}
Balance as at 1 January 2018 - 1,304 (236) - 1 16 1,085
Net croft for the year - - 27 nfa - - 27
Other comprehensive expense (net of tax]
relating to investrment secunties designated at
fair vawe through other comprehensive income - - - n/a 4 - 4
Total comprehensive income - - 27 nfa 4) - 23
Shares issued - 204 - n/a - - 304
Cost of shares issued - (3} - nfa - - (3}
Net share option moverments - - n/a - (6) (6}
Balance as at 31 December 2018 - 1,605 (209) nfa (3) 10 1,403
Balance as at 1 January 2017 - 1,028 {230) (3} n/a 10 805
Net profit for the year - - 11 - n/a - 11
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) relating
to avallable-for-sale investments - - - (1) n/a - (1)
Total comprehensive income - - 11 9y nia - 20
Shares 1ssued - 279 - - n/a - 279
Cost of shares 1ssued - () - n/a - (%
Met share option movements - - - - n/a 6 s)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 - 1,204 {219 {4 n/a 16 109/
Notes 1% HE| 21

1 On 1 Jaruary 2018 we acopted IFRS 9 which replaced 145 39 Upon agoption of IFRS 9 the ava lable for sale reserve was replaced by the [arr valve througn ather
comprehensive income {FVGCT ) reserve In accosdance with the new requiremenis
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Notes £'million Emellion
Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash flows from operating activities:
Profit hefare tax 41 19
Adjustments for
Impairment and write-offs of property, plant and eguipment and imangible assets 5 1
Depreciation and amortisation 1718 45 33
Share option charge 5 3
Gain on sale of assets and fair value gains on dernvatives (11} {4
Accrued interest on and amortisation of Investment secunties (7} {2
Changes in operating assets (4.651) (2751
Changes in operating liabrities 4,726 5,994
Net cash inflows from operating activities 153 2,293
Cash flows from investing activities
Sales of investrment securities 1,522 309
Purchase of iInvestment securities (1,740) (997)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment Le {150) 9%
Purchase and deveiopment of intangible assets 13 (75) (70}
Net cash outflows from investing activities (443) (857}
Cash flows from financing activities
Shares issued 1 304 279
Cost of shares 1ssued 19 (3) (3}
Debt securities issued 17 250 -
Cost of debt secunty 1ssued 1 {1) -
Net cash inflows from financing activities 550 276
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 260 1712
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 2,212 500
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2472 2,212
Profit before tax includes:
Interest receved 437 296
Interest paig 105 61
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and balances with the Bank of England 2,286 2.112
Loans and advances to banks 186 100
2472 2,212
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31 December

31 December

2018 2017
Notes £million £'million
Assets
Cash and balances with the Bank of England 2,286 2112
Loans and advances to banks 160 94
Loans and advances to customers 0 13,940 9,393
Avallable-for-sale Investment secunities! o1 nfa 36l
Held to maturty investment securities! i1 nfa 554
Investment securities held at farr value through other comprehensive income (FVOCT) B! 674 n/a
Investment securities held at amortised cost? R 3,458 n/a
Property, plant and equipment 454 328
Investment in subsidiaries 15 15
Intangible assets 13 190 141
Prepayments and accrued mcome 14 63 50
Deferred tax asset 490 54
Other assets 15 355 240
Total assets 21,635 16,542
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 16 15,661 11,6659
Deposits from central banks? 3,801 3321
Debt secunties 1/ 249 -
Repurchase agreements 344 221
Other liabrities X 182 142
Total liabilities 20,237 15253
Equity
Called-up share capital 5 - -
Share premium [ 1,605 1,304
Retained earnings® 21 (214} (227)
Other reserves 7 12
Total equity 1,398 1,089
Total equity and liabilities 21,635 16,342

1 Onlusnaary 2018 we adoo ed VRS 9 whot replaces IAS 49 As part o the trassihion cudnnvesiment secuehias are classifien 3= nela at armort sea cost ang
as FYOCI, rather than under the previods caegor es of avalable for sale and held o matunty Further celals about our lransition Lo 1FRS 8 ¢an be fownd ir

note 1 4

2 Deposits frorn central vanks comprises salely of amourts drawn down under the Bark of Friglard’s Term Funding Scheme [TFS)

3 Tre Cornpary proht for the year was 29 0milion {7017 Z8.9 milion),

The financial statements on pages 105 to 159 were approved by the Scard of Directors on 10 Apnl 2019 and signed

on its behalf by

Vernon W. Hill, I

[
' 2
Chairman é{%’i‘ 2l

Craig Donaldson
Chief Executive Officer

David Arden
Chief Financial Officer
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Called-up Available- Share
share Share Retamned for-sale FvOoCT! option Total
capital pramium earnings reserve reserve reserve equity
Notes £'million £ milien E'million £'million f'million? £'millicn £ 'million
Balance as at 31 December 2017 - 1,304 (227} 4) n/a 16 1.089
IFRS 9 transition adjustment {net of tax) L& - - (14} 4 1 - {9}
Balance as at1 January 2018 - 1,304 (241} - 1 16 1,080
Net proft for the year - - 27 nfa - - 27
Other comprehensive expense [net of tax)
relating to investment securities designated at
fair value through other comprehensive Income - - - n/a 4) - {4}
Total comprehensive iIncome - - 27 nfa 4) - 23
Share i1ssue — 304 - n/fa - - 304
Cost of share issue - (3 - nfa - - (3}
Net share option movements - - - n/a - (6} (6}
Balance as at 31 December 2018 - 1,605 (214) n/a {3) 10 1,398
Balance as at 1 January 2017 - 1,028 (236) (3) n/a 10 799
Net profit for the year - - g - nfa - g
Gther comprehensive income (net of tax} re@ating
to avallable-for-sale investments ~ - {1 n/a - {13
Total comprehensive iIncome - - {1} n/a - 8
Share 1ssue - 279 - - n/a - 279
Cost of share 1ssue - (3} - - nfa - {3
MNet share aption movements - - - - n/a 6 6
Balance as at 31 December 2017 - 1,304 (227} 4} n/a 16 1,089
Notes 9 ] 21

1 On1January ?018 we adooted IFRS 9 which replaced 1AS 38 Upon daoption of 1-RS 9 the available for sale reserve was replaced by lhe farr value tnrough other

comprehensive income 'FVQCT) reserve in accordance with tne new requirermernts
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Notes £'million £'milion
Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before tax 40 16
Adjustments for:
lmpairment and wnte-offs of property, plant and equipment and ntangible assets 5 -
Uepreciation and amaortisation 45 34
Share option charge 4 4
Gain on sale of assets and fair value gans on derivatives (8} “h
Accrued interest on and amortisation of investment secunties {7} (2}
Changes in operating assets (4,675) (3,753}
Changes in operating liabilities 4,724 5993
Net cash inflows from operating activities 128 2.288
Cash flows from investing activities
Saies of investment securities 1,526 309
Purchase of investment secunties (1,740) (997)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {150) {100}
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - -
Purchase and development of intangible assets 13 (75} (69)
Net cash outflows from investing activities (435} 857)
Cash flows from financing activities
Share i1ssue 19 304 279
Cost of share issue 19 {3} {3)
Share issue 17 250 -
Cost of share 1ssue 17 {1} -
Net cash inflows from financing activities 550 276
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 239 1,707
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 2,207 459
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,446 2206
Profit before tax includes:
Interest received 425 286
Interest pald 105 &1
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and ba.ances with the Bank of England 2,286 2112
Loans and advances to banks 160 84
2,446 2206
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1, Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

This section sets out the Group's {'our’ or ‘'we') accounting policies which relate to the financial statements as a whaole Where an
accounting policy relates specifically to a note then the related accounting policy 1s set out within that note. All policies have been
consistently app.ted to all the years presented uniess stated otherwise.

1.1 General information

Metro Bank ('the Company’) together with its subsichanies (the Group’) prov-des retail and cormmercial banking services in the UK and
15 a public brmited Lability company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 {Registration
number 6419578). The address of our registered office 1s One Southampton Row, London WCIB 5HA.

1.2 Basis of preparation

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as aoopted by the EU, the IFRS Interpretations Commuttee (IFRS 1C7) and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporling under IFRS.

The financiat statements are prepared on @ going concemn basis, as our Direclors are satished that the Group and the Company have
the resources to continue in business for the foreseeabie future.

In sublishing the Company inancial stalements here together witk the Group financial statements, we have taken advantage of the
exemption in section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006 not to present an individua. income statement and related notes that form
a part of these financial statements,

1.3 Cash flow statement
Cash and cash eguivalents comprise baiances with less than three months maturity from the date of acguisition, including cash
in hand, deposits held at call with banks and balances held with the Bank of England

The consolidatea cash fiow stalement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents ansing durning the year from operaung activities,
nvesting activities and financing activities,

The cash flows from operaung actwities are determined by using the indwect method Under that methad, profit before tax 1s adjusted
for non-cash items, changes in other assets and liabilities and other items that relate to investing and financing cash flows, to determine
net cash inflows or cutflows from operating activities. Cash flows from nvesting and financing activ ties are determined using the direct
method, that s by directly reporting the cash effects of transactions.

1.4 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
During the year we adopted the following standards across ali Group companies:

{FRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

On 1 January 2078 we adopted IFRS 9 'Financial Instrurents’, which replaced 1AS 39 'Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurerment’. This resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the armounts previously recognised in the financia
staterments. In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 9. cormparative fgures have nol been restated. accerdingly, all
comparative period information 1s presented in accordance with cur previous accounting policies.

Reconciliation of balance sheet balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The following tables reconcile the carrying amount of inancial assets and babillies, rom their previcus measurament category in
accordance with I1AS 39 as at 31 December 2017 to therr new measurement categories upon transiton to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018
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145 39 IFRS 9
Carrying amount Carrying amount
Class of inancial asset or Lab’lity Measurement category f'rmilion Measurement category £'milion
Financial assets
Cash and baiances with central banks Loans and receivables £2,112 Amortised cost £2112
Loans and advances to banks Loans and receivables £100 Amaortised cost £100
Loans and advances to customers Loans and receivables £9.620 Amortised cost £9,598
[nvestment securities Held to maturity £3554 Amortised cost £3.224
Available for sale £361 FvOC] 638
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers Financial liabilities at amortised cost £11.669 Amortised cost £11669
Deposits from banks Financial liabilities at amortised cost £3321 Amortised cost £3321
Financial assets measured at amortised cost under [FR5 9
Cash and Loans and Loans and
balances with advances to advances to
central banks (1AS banks [IAS 35: customers {|AS investment
39 Leans and Loans and 29 Loans and secunties [IAS 39
Crmllion recelvables) recewvables) receivables)  Held to maturity} Total
Carrying value under |IAS 39 2112 100 9620 35584 15,386
Transfer to FVOCI
- Carrying amount transferred - - - (3372) {332}
Remeasurement of investrment secunities held at amortised
cost - - 2 2
Rerneasurernent of impairment allowance - - (22} - (22
Carrying value under IFRS 9 — amortised cost 2112 100 9,598 3224 15,034

Remeasurernant of Investment secunties held at amortised cost - this relates to assels whoch were initally classified as available for sale
under IAS 39. They were subsequently transferred to the held to matunity category, with the carrying value at the point of transfer being
equal to the fair value. This adjustment reslates the carrying value of these assels to reflect the appropriate amertised cost as if the
assets had always been measured at amortised cost

The total amount of remeasurement of £L20 mitlion was adjusted through opening eguity on 1 January 2018 A corresponding ncrease
in deferred tax assets of approximately L5 million was also adjusted through opening equity on I January 2018

Financial assets measured at FVOCl under IFRS 9

Irvestment
securites {|AS39,
E'million Available for sale} Total
Carrying value under IAS 39 361 361
Transfer from amortised cost
- Carrying amount transferred 332 332
- Remeasurement from amortised cost to farr value 5 5
Remeasurement of impairment allowance - -
Carrying value under IFRS 9 — FVOCI 658 698

£332 million fixed rate securities classified as held to maturity under IAS 39 have heen classified as FYOCI under IFRS 9. Gomng forward,
this pool of assets will be held to collect cash flows and to sell if required In order to effectively manage our interest rate nisk, therefore
it has been classified as FVOCI. Had 1AS 39 remained in force, we would have maintainea our intention and ability to hold these assets
to matunty, and we would have sought other methods to manage our mterest rate risk.

The totat amount of remeasurerment of £5 million was adjusted through opening equity on 1 January 2018 A corresponding decrease
in deferred tax assets of approximately £1 miluon was also adjusted through change to equity on 1 January 2018
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Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

I'he fol.owing table reconciles the previous impairment aliowance measured in accordance with the |AS 39 incurred 1055 mode. and
the new impairment aldowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 January 2018,

Loan toss Loan loss

allowance under Reclassihication Remeasurement  allowance under

Measurement category (IAS 35/IFRS §) 1AS 39 £'million L'million £'millian IFRS 3 £'rnillion
Loans and recelvables/Financial assets at amortised cost 15 - 22 37
Available-for-sale financial instrurnents/Financial assets at FVOC] - - - -
Total 15 - 22 37

The increase In loss alowance under IFRS 9 when compared to that measured under IAS 39 s primarwy due ta earlier recognition of
credit losses under the new expected loss model. The most significant impact has been observed i relation to our unsecured lending
portfolios For a number of these portfolios, no new lending 1s being onginated.

I he turopean Banking Authonty has amended the Capita. Requirements Regulation to establish IFRS 9 related transitiona,
arrangements. On adoption of IFRS 9, movements In the opening impairmeant provision were posted as an adjustment to reserves, and
therefore to capital. The transitional arrangement enables firms to ‘add back’ a portion of this capital adiustment in early years, thereby
reducing the initta: iImpact on capital. Add-back adjustments are also allowable for movements in provisions in subsequent years

We have elected to adopt the transitional arrangements.

Hedge accounting
IFRS 9 includes an accounting policy choice to remain with [AS 39 hedge accounting Hedge accounting 1s not currently material for
us and we have elected w continue applying the reguirements of |AS 39.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

From 1 January 2018, we adopted IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ apply:ng the modified retrospeciive method.
The major ty of our revenue 1s net interest ncome which 1s accaurted for under IFRS 9, as such there are no material changes o the
timing of revenue recognition which have arisen from the adoption of IFRS 15,

1.5 Future accounting developments
At the year end the following standards were in 'ssue but not yet effective and have not been adopted early i these financial

statements:

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

On 1 January 2019 we adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’. [FRS 16 provides guidance on the classihcation, recogrniition and rmeasurement of
leases to help provide yscful information to the users of hnancal statements. IFRS 16 replaces tAS 17 'Leases’. IFRS 16 provides a single
lessee gccounting model, requinng lessees to recognise right of use {Rol)’) assets and lease uabilities for all applicable leases, with
operating leases being brought onto the face of the balance sheet.

We have adopted IFRS5 16 on the modified retrospective basis and as such there will be no restatement of comparators within the
2019 Arnual Report & Accounts, which will continue to be presented under JAS 17,

On adoption of the standard on 1 January 2019, we recognised .ease habilities for operating leases of £328 millon. We elected the
transitional option to set the RoU asset equa. to the related lease liabrity (adjusted for current amounts accrued in respect of rent free
periods) for al. .eases as at 1 January 2019 and therefore there 1s no opening adjustment to retained earnings The total amount of Rol
asset recognised on t January was £313 milion. The weighted average incrementat borrowing rate used to measure lease liabilities

is 5 5%.

We have applied the available practical expedients of exempting leases with a short life (less than 12 months) or low value (less than
£5,000} These leases will continue 1o be recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term and 1n tota! are immaterial to the bank
As a result, the key leases to which the full regquirerments of IFRS 16 have teen applied are our leases of store and head office sites.

For ali stores, the lease Liability represents the present vawue of future lease payments for the full lease term, irrespective of any tenant
break clauses. For office space. where it is certain we will exercise a break the lease tability has only been calculated up to such date.
The key judgement used in the lease Lability calculation 1s the chaoice of discount rate, which has been set at our incremental cost

of borrowing.
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Due o the relatively young age of the Group coupled with cur store opening profile over recert years, the majonty of our leases
remain in the first half of their terms, with an average rermaning lease length of 20 years. Our business model will also see us contnue
to open stores In the years ahead, leading to an expanding lease portfotio. These two factors will tead to signifizanty nigher charges
recognised n the ncome statement m the near term when compared to 1AS 17, reflecting & different profile of cost recogmition under
each standard Charges under IFRS 16 are front loaded in the earlier years of a lease, 1AS 17 requires .ease expenses to be recognised
on a straight line basis.

QOur net Interest margin {{NIM7) will be reduced by the adoption of [FRS 16 since the rental expense (part of operating expenseas) Lnder
IAS 17 wil. be replaced by a depreciation and interest expense charge. Fhis interest expense wil. be recognmized within NIM, thus
reducing it going forward. Customer NIM + fees considers the margin derived from customer deposits and lending only, and therefore
15 not impacted by the adogtion of IFRS 16

The undiscounted value of our iease commitments can be found in note 22 1he table below reconcies this to the operung lease
dability we wil recognise under IFRS 16

E'million
Total undiscounted ease commitments at 31 December 2018 (See note 22) 659
Exclusion of VAT from lease liability (116}
Discounting at a weighted average rate of 5 5% {215}
Lease lability to be included in the statement of firancial position at 1 January 2019 328

Other standards
No other standards which are currently not yet effective includng IFRS 17 insurance contracts’ are ceemed to have a significanrt
impact on our financial staternents.

1.6 Segmental reporting

IFRS 8 requires operaling segments to be identified on the basis of irternal reports and compaonents ot the Group which are regulary
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker to allocate resources to segments and to assess their perfarmance. For this purpose,
the Chief Operating Decision Maker of the Group 1s our Board of Birectors

[he Board considers the results of the Graup as a whole when assessing the performance of the Group and allocating resources
Accordingly, the Group has a single operating segment.

We operate solely within the LUK and, as such, no geographica: analysis 1s required. We are not reiant on any single customer,

1.7 Foreign currency translation

{a) Functional and presentation currency

lterns mcluded in the financial statements are measurad using pounds Sterling, the currency of the UK, which is the primary economic
environment in which we operate {'the functional currency’}

The financial statements are presented in pounds Sterling, which 1S our presentation currency.

{b) Transactions and balances
Transactions in a foreign currency are transitated nto the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date
of the transaction.

Monetary iterns denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the closing rate as at the reporting date Non-monetary items
measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition;
non-monetary items N a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined

Foreign currency differences anising on translation are recognised in olher income. Gainsg and losses anising from foreign currency
transactions offered to customers are also recegnised m other Income.
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1.8 Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of inancial statements In conformity with IFRS reguires us to make judgements and estimates which although based
on our best assessment, by definiticn will seldom equal the actual results. Management pelieves that the underlying assumptions
applied at 31 December 2018 are approprate and that these financial statements therefore oresent tne financial posit on ard results
of the Group farty. The areas involving a highe- degree of complexity, or areas where est.mates have a significant nsk of resulting in

a matenal adiustment to the carrying amounts of assets and labilities within the next inancial year. are disclosed below.

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The recognition and measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) 1s complex ana involves the use of significart estimauon and
judgerments. We consider that the key judgement assurmption for us relates to the deterrmination of whether a “significantincrease
in credit nsk” has occurred. We consider that the key source of esimation uncertairty relates to the formulation and incorporation
of multple forward-looking economic scenaros into the ECL estimates to meet the measurernent objective of IFRS 9.

Significant increase in credit risk (critical accounting judgement)

As described in more detail in note 23, IFRS 9 requires a higher :evel of expected credit loss to be recogmised for underperforming
loans. This 1s cons-dercd based on a staging approach. Financial assels that have had no signficant increase in credit nsk since initial
recognition or that have low credit nisk at the reporting date are considered to be porforming leans and are classfied as "Stage 1,
Losses are calcuated based on our expectation of losses expected on defaults which may occur within the next 212 months. Assets
which are considered 0 have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recogrinon, but that do not have objective
evidence of impairment, are classified as “Stage 2. | osses are calculated based on defaults which may occur at any point in the
asset’s lifet me.

Judgement 15 required to determine wher a significant increase in credit nsk has occurred. An assessment of whether credit nsk has
increased significantly since imtial recognition, resulting in transfer to stage 2, is performed at each reporting period by considering the
change in the probability of default {PD') occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrurment. The assessment explicitly or
implicitly compares the P occurring at the reporting date compared to that at initial recognition, taking into account reasonable and
supportabie information, Inciding iNformation about past events, current conditions and future economic conditions. We assess
whether PD has increased using qualitative and quantitative measures, as described in note 23,

Muitipie forward-looking economic scenarios {critical accounting estimate)

As descr bed In note 23, the ECL recognised in the financial statements reflects the effect on expected credit losses of arange of
possibie outcomes, calculated on a probabiity-weighted basis, based on a number of economic scenarios and Inciuding management
overlays where required. These scenarios are representative of our view of forecast economic conditions, sufficient to calculate
unblased ECEL. At 31 December 2018, three main scenarios were applied ((Baseline” "Upside” and "Downside™}, plus a specific "Hard
Brexit” scenaric incarporating the high degree of uncertainty in estimating the current uncertainty in the UK economy ahead of the
UK's departure from the Eurcpean Union n 2019

The following assumptions, considered to be the key drivers of ECL, have been used for the scenanos appued
« UKinterest rates

« UK unemployment rates

+ UK house price index {'HPI'} changes, year on year

« UK gross domestic product (GDF’) changes, year on year

' he weightings applied to each scenano at 31 December 2018 are
+ Baseline- 37%

« Upside and downside - 28% each

« Hard Brexit - 7%

The weighted ECL is fugher than the caseline scenaric, reflecting the impact of the downside and Hard Brexit scenarios, offset by the
impact of the upside scenario Further details on how the assumptions and scenano weightings have been deterrmined can be found in
note 23
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The weightings apptied to each scenano are considered Lo represent a significant accounting estimate. We nave performed an
assessment of the impact on the ECL if each of the Baseline, Upside, Downside and Hard Brexit scenarios were applied to the £CL
calculation using a 100% weignting (that 15, )gnoring all other scenarios N each case):

Scenario ECL {£'mitlion) Vanance 1o reported weighted ECL at 31 December 2018
Weighted 338 -

Baseline 36 (7%}

Upside 265 (22%)

Downside 404 19%

Hard Brexit 49.4 46%

We note that the sensitivities disclosed above represent examp.e scenarios and may not represent actual scenarios which occur in

the future If one of these scenancs did anse then at that time the ECL would rot equal the amount disclosed above, as the armounts
disclosed do not take account of the alternative possib.e scenarnos which would be considered at that time We also note that the
sensitivities gisclosed above do not take nto account movermens in impairment stage allocauons that would resuit under the different

scenarios

2. Net interest income

Accounting policy

We recognise irterest income and expense for all nterest-bear ng financial mstruments within interast
income’ and Interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective nterest rate method. The
elfective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
tiablity and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period 1he effective
iNterest rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected ife of the Ainancial nstrument Lo the net canying amount of the fimancial asset or inancial Lability.
When calculating the cffective mierest rate we estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the

financial nstrument {for example, prepayment options) but do not consider future credit losses except for
purchased or originated credit irnpaired assets. The calculation includes a.l fees paid or received between
parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effectve interest rate, transacuon costs and all other

premiums or discounts.

Forloans that are credit impaired interest iIncome 1s calculated on the carrying amount of the lecan net

of credit . mpairment

Interest income

2018 2017
Group £'million E'million
Cash and baances held with the Bank of England 11.2 33
Loans and advances to customers 365.2 2418
Investment securities held to maturity and availab.e for sale n/a 569
Investment securities held at amortised cost 57.7 n/a
investment securities held at FVOCI 10.3 n/a
Total interest income 4444 3020
Interest expense

2018 207
Group £'million £ 'muilion
Deposits frorm customers 75.1 469
Deposits from central banks 22.7 5.4
Debt securities 7.2 -
Repurchase agreements 0.7 16
Other 8.6 71
Total interest expense 1143 610
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3. Fee and commission income

Accounting policy Fee and commission income s earned from a wide range of services we provide to our customers We account

for fees ang commissions as follows

Product or service Nature, timing and satisfaction of performance obligations and payment terms

we levy a range of standard charges and fees for account maintenance or specific
account services. Where the fee 1s earned upon the execution of a significant act at

a point in time, for example CHAPs payment charges, these are recognised as revenue
when the act s completed for the customer Where the income 15 earned from the
provision of services, for example an account mantenance fee, this 1s recognised

as revenue when the service 13 delivered.

Service charges ang
other fee income

Revenue is recognised over the penod the customer has access to the box from the
date possession is taken Safe deposit box fees are billed on either a monthly or annual
basis with a standard set price payable dependent on the size of box.

Safe deposit box

ATM and interchange Where we earn fees from our ATMs or from interchange this is recogmsed at the paint
fees the service is delivered

As disclosed in note 1 6, we provide services solely within the UK and therefcre revenues are not presented on
a geographic basis. Revenue is grouped solely by contract-type as we believe this best depicts how the nature,
amount and timmg of our revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.

2018 2017
Group £'million £'mullion
Service charges and other fee income 23.2 179
Safe deposit box income 111 9.1
ATM and interchange fees 33 2./
Total fee and commission income 376 97

4, Otherincome

Accounting policy Otherincome s accounted for as follows'

Product or service

Nature, timing and satisfaction of performance obligations and payment terms

Gains on foreign
currency transactians

Gains on foreign currency transactions s the spread earned on foreign currency
transactions performed for our customers along with any associated fees. Itis
recognised at the point in time that the exchange is executed.

Rental income

Rental income is prnimarily earned from the letting out of surplus space in some of our
properties The revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the ife of the lease.
Further details of future amounts due can be found In note 22

2018 2017
Group E'million E'million
Foreign currency transactions 22.5 174
Rental income 14 14
Other 1.8 05
Total other income 25.7 194
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5. General operating expenses

2018 2017
Group £ 'million Emillion
Peope costs 1549 1238
Cccupancy expense 3594 308
Information technology costs 26.8 199
Marketing costs 5.9 37
Legal, regulatary and professional fees 9.1 0
Money transmission and other banking related costs 196 14.3
Costs relating to the RBS alternative remedies package app.cation 38 01
Other 46.1 331
Total general operating expenses 305.6 2328

Included within legal, requiatory and professional fees1s £0 4 miluon {2017 £0 6 million) in respect of the Financial Services
Compensation Scheme ('F5C5) levy

6. People costs

We operate a defined contribution persion scheme for our colleagues Contributions to colleagues’ individual
personal pensicn plans are made on a contractual basis, with no further payment cbligations once the
contributions have been paid These contributions are recognised as an expense when they fal: due

Accounting policy

2018 2017
Group £ million Crmillion
Wages and salanes 128.0 102.0
Social secunty costs 137 107
Pension costs 8.5 0.5
Equity-settled share-based payments! 4.7 46
Total people costs 154.9 17238

1 ncluded within equity-setiled share based payments -5 £0 8 million (2017 L1 4 mlion) i respact of share awards granied to ey members of management n
2016 1n rerogrit or of the rsizaificant Zonriout on te *he suscesstul hsbng on the _anaon Stoc< Fxcrange “hese snare awards vest anovaly uot Apr (021

The average monthly number of persons employed during the year was 3,552 (2017, 2.831)

Group 2018 2017
Customer-facing 2107 1,774
Non-custorner-facing 1,445 1057
Total number of persons employed 3,552 2,831

Pension costs

Payments were made amounting to £9 1 miilion (2017, £71 milion) to employees’ individual personal pension plans during the year.

7. Fees payable to the Group’s auditor

Fees payable to our auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP { PwC') are anaiysed below

2018 2017
Group £°000 £'000
For Metro Bank's statutory audit 968 1.175
For the statutory audit of Metro Bank's subsidianies 49 37
For all other services 123 79
Total fees payable to the Group’s auditors 1,140 1,291
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8. Taxation

Accounting policy

Current tax

Cur current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable pront for the year and any
adjustment to the tax payable or recelvable it respect of previous years It 1s measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date

Where we have tax losses that can be relieved only by carry-forward against taxable crofits of future perods,
& deductible termporary difference anses Those losses carned forward are set off against deferred tax liab lities
carned in the balance sheet

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences ansing between the lax bases of assets and
liab.libes and their carrying amounts in the financial staterments. Deferred tax 1§ determimed using tax rates
{and laws) that have boen cnacted or substantively enacted by the date of the balance sheet and are expected
to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax Jability is settled

The principal differences arse from trading losses, depreciation of property. plant ana equipment ane relief
on research and development expenditure.

We recognise 2 deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be availlable
against which they can be used and deferred tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences
Deferred tax assets and uabilities are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it
is no lornger probable that the related tax benefit wiil be realised or the deferred tax bability settled.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable nght to offset current tax assets
agamnst current tax liabilities and where the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same
taxation authonty on either the same taxable entity or different taxable enuities where there 15 an intention to
settle on a net basis,

Tax expense

The components of the tax expense for the year are’

2018 2017
Group £'million £'mullion
Current tax

Current tax {2.8) (1.0)
Adjustment i respect of prior vears (005 01
Total current tax expense (3.5) 0.9
Deferred tax

Ongmnation and reversal of temporary differences (9.8} (5.2}
Cifect of changes in tax rates 0.7} (3.0
Adlustment in respect of prior yvears 0.5 1.2
Total deferred tax expense (10.0} {7.0)
Total tax expense {13.5} {79

Reconciliation of the total tax expense
The 1ax expense shown in the Ncome statement differs from the tax expense that would apply i all acccunting profits had been taxed
at the UK corporation tax rate.
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A reconciliation between the tax expense and the accounting profit multipled by the UK corporation tax rate s as folows

Effective Effeclive
2018 tax rate 2017 tax rate
Group £'million % Crullion %
Accounting proht before tax 40.6 187
Tax expense at statutory tax rate of 19% (2017 19 25%) (7.7) 19.0% {3.6] 19.25%
Tax effects of:
Non-deductible expenses — depreciation on non-qualifymag fixed assets (2.6} 6.4% (26} 14.10%
Non-deductible expenses - investment property impairment (0.5} 1.2% - -
Non-deductible expenses — other (0.6} 1.4% 05} 2.90%
Share-based payments (1.3} 31% 06 (3.20%)
Adjustment 1n respect of prior years (0.2} 0.5% 1.2 {6 50%)
Effect of changes in tax rates (0.6} 15% {30} 15.50%
Tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement {13.5} 33.2% (7.9 42 20%

Share based payments

[uring the year the Metro Bank share price fell from £35.84 to £16.93 This had the impact of significantly reducing the deferred tax
asset held for share options and in turn resusted in an associated deferred tax charge of E2.3 million This charge contributes 3.1% to
the 2018 cffective lax rate.

Effective tax rate
The effective tax rate lor the year1s 35.2% (2017 42.2%).

The effective tax rate (or the year exclud ng tho offact of changes in tax rates and prior year adjustments s 31.2% (2017 52.8%).
Further excluding the impact of the deferred tax charge relating to the fallin the share price and the investment property iImpairments
the effective tax rate for the year 15 26.9% (2017 32.8%)

Deferred tax

A deferred tax asset must be regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, 1t can
be regarded as more Likely than not there will be suitable tax profits from which the future of the underlying timing differences can be
deducted Due to the investrment property impairment being unrealised there s an unrecognised DTA of £0 5m The following tab.e
shows deferred tax recorded in the balance sheet and changes recorded in the tax expense;

Investment
Unused securities and Share-based Property. plani Intangible

tax losses impairments payments and equipment assets Total
Group E'million £'million £'mitlien £'million £'miltion £'millicn
2018
Deferred tax assets 53 7 1 - - 61
Deferred tax liabilities - 2) - (11} {7 (20}
Deferred tax assets (net] 53 5 1 (11} {7} 41
At 31 December 2017 57 - 11 (8) {6} 54
IFRS 9 transition adjustments - 4 - - - 4
At 1 January 2018 57 4 11 (8) 6} 58
Income statement 4) (1) {1) (3} (1) (10)
Cther comprehensive iIncome - 2 — - - 2
Equity - - 9t - - (9
At 31 December 2018 53 5 1 (11) {7 41
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lnvestment
Unused securities and Share-based Property, plant Intangibie

tax losses impairments payments and equipment assets Total
Group £'millon £'million £'million £'million £'muilion £'million
2017
Deferred tax assets 57 1 11 - - &9
Deferred tax habilities - 1) - it (6} (15}
Deferred tax assets (net) 57 - 11 8 (6} 54
At 1 January 2017 61 (2) (5 {5) 55
Income statement (3} - 1 (3) 1 (&l
Other comprehensive mcome {1} 2 - - - 1
Cquity - - - - 4
At 31 December 2017 57 - 11 (8} %)) 54

9. Financial instruments

Accounting policy

Financial assets

We account for our financial assets under three measurement categones, as defired by IFRS 9

+ Measured at amaortised cost

» Megsured at fair value through other comprehensive iIncome (FVOCT)

« Measured at fair value through proft or loss {TVPL}

IFRS 9 applies one classification approach for all types of financiat assets. Two critena are Jsed o determing how
financial assets should be classified and measured

(a) Business model: how an entity manages its inancial assets in order to generate cash flows by collecting
contractual cash flows, seling financial assets or both, Factors considerad in determining the business model
for a2 group of assets Include, for example, past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were
collected, how their performance 15 assessed, how related risks are managed and how therr managers are
compensated, and

SPP| test: whether contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement; that is whether
cash flows solety comprise payments of principat and interest (SPPI'). Examples of contract terms which may
cause a financial asset not to “pass” the SP2L test include. interest being inked to the share price of the ssuer,
or some other index, rather than reflecting the time value of money, timing differences on interest reset
potnts, such as an interest rate which resets monthly 1o a three month LIBOR rate; or a bond that 1s
convertible into equity.

(b

If assets pass the SPPI test, and are within a business model that holds to collect contractual casn flows, they are
measured at arnortised cost. If assets pass the SPPItest, and are within a business model that holds to collect
conlractual cash flows and for sale, they are measured al FVOCI If an asset docs not rmeet the cnitena for
amortised cost or FVOCH, 1ts measured at FVPL

Under IFRS 9, assets will only move between categories if there 1s a significan: change to the business model
within which they are held; this is expected to be infrequent

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash fiows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantally all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred
te another entity

Financial liabilities

All financial iabiities are classified and subseguently measured at amortised cost, except for those designated
at fair vawe through profit or loss atinwal recogmition. Financial babibties are derecognised when they are
extinguished, 1.e. when the obligation specified in the contract :s discharged or cancelled or expires.

2017 comparative data

2017 comparative data is disclosed under [AS 39, The specific policies applied to loans and advances to
customers and investment secunties are described in note 10 and 11. There are no significant differences relating
to the classification and rneasurement of our financial babilities.
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9. Financial instruments continued

Our financial instruments primanly comprise customer deposits, loans and advances to customers, cash held at banks and investment
securities, all of which arise as a result of our norma. operations information on loans and advances to customers can be found In note
10, and on investment secunties in note 11

We do not enter mto transactions for speculative purposes and there are no instruments held for trading From tme to tme, we may
use Interest rate dervatives such as swaps to manage part of our interest rate nsk

The rmaimn financial 11sks ansing from our financial Instrumerts are credit nsk, iquidity sk and market risks {(price and interest rate risk}.
Further detais on these rnsks can be found in notes 23 to 25

The financial instrumen:s we hold are simple in nature and we do not consider that we have rmade any signiicant or material
Judgments relating to the ctassification of financial instruments undes [FRS

10. Loans and advances to customers

Accounting policy Laans and advances to customers are class:hed as held at amortised cost. All customer lending 1s held to
collect cash flows. with no sales expected in the normal course of business. We aim to offer products with
simple terms to customers, and as a resuit, all loans comprise solely payments of pnincipal and interest. Loans
afe initigily recognised when cash 1s advanced to the borrower at fair vaiwe - which 1s the cash consideration
t¢ originate the loan incluaing any transaction costs — and rmeasured subseguently at armartised cost using the
effective interest rate method. which 1s detaited further in note 2. Interest on loans 15 included in the iIncome
statement and 1s reported as ‘Interest income’ [xpected credit losses {LCL) are reported as a deduction from
the carrying va.ue of the loan. Changes to the LCL during the year are recognised in the ncome statement
as "Expected credit loss expense’”.

201/ comparative data is disclosed under |AS 39 instead of an LCL an a.lowance for impairment s held The
allowance for imparrment represents the cumulative credit impairment losses recogrised and are reported as
a deduction from the carrying value of the ioan. Credit impairment losses recognised dunng the year are
shown as in the income statement as 'Credit impalrment charges.

3% December 2018

Gross carrying ECL allowance! Net carrying

amount £'million £'million  amount £'million

Consumer lending 288 (S} 279
Retall mortgages 9,625 {11} 9,614
Commercial lending {excludirg asset and invoice finance) 4,057 {10} 4,047
Total loans and advances to customers (Company) 13,970 (30 13,940
Asset and invoice finance 299 (4) 295
Total loans and advances to customers (Group) 14,269 (34) 14,235

31 Decemnber 2017

Allowance for

Gross carrying im;:oa\rmentl Net carrying

amount E'million C'milon amount £'milbion

Consumer lending 217 & 211
Retail mortgages 6,231 {3) 6,228
Commercial lending {(excluding asset and invoice finance} 2857 {3} 2554
Total loans and advances to customers {Company) 9,405 (12) 9,393
Asset and inveice finance 229 {2) 227
Total loans and advances to customers {(Group) 9,634 {14) 2,620

1 On 1Jaruary 2018 we adopted IFRS 9 Under IFRS 9 we assess impairment on a forward-looking £CL basis, cormpared to on an incurred loss basis urder 1AS 39
Further details of the transticon frorm 1AS 39 to IFRS 9 can be found n note 1 4

METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018 123



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTINUED

10. Loans and advances to customers continued

Further information on the movements in gross carrying amounts and CCL can be found in note 23 An analysis of the gross loans and

advances by product Category 15 set out be.ow

Group Group Company Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017
E'million E'millicn £'mdlion frmillion
Owverdrafts 70 86 G 86
Credit cards 11 9 11 9
Term loans 20/ 122 207 122
Total consumer lending 288 217 288 217
Reta:. mortgages 9,625 6,231 9,625 6.231
Total retail lending 5913 6,448 9,913 6,448
Overdrafts 226 138 226 139
Credit cards 3 ’ 3 2
Term loans 3,828 2.816 3,828 2,816
Asset and invoice finance 295 229 - -
Total commercial lending 4,356 186 4,057 2957
Gross loans and advances to customers 14,269 9634 13,970 2,405
Armmaounts include.
Repayable at short notice 251 160 251 160
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11. Investment securities

Accounting policy

Our nvestment securities may be categonsed as amortised cost, FVOCI or FYPL. Currently ali investment
secunties are non-complex, with cash flows compnsing sclely payments of principa: and interest, We hold some
securties to collect cash flows, othor secursties are hed o collect cash flows, and to sell if the need ansas

{e.g. lo manage and meet day to day liquidily needs). Therefare, we have a mixed business model and secuntes
are classified as either amortised cost or FVOCI as appropnate. We do not categarise any investment securit es
as FvPL.

Investment securities held at amortised cost
investment securittes held at amortsed cost consist entirely of debt instruments They are accounted for using
the e®ective interest method. less any impairment lcsses

Investment securities held at FVOCI

Investment securities held at FVOC! consist entirely of debt instruments Investment securities held at FVQC| are
initia:ly recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including any transaction costs, and measured
subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised In other camprehensive income, except for
impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the investment security is derecognised Interest
1s calculated using the effective interest method.

2017 comparative data
2017 comparative data is disclosed under I1AS 39, At 31 December 201/, under IAS 39, investment securities were
classified as held to maturily or available for sale.

Investment securities held to maturity

Held to matunty investments are carried at amaortisced cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses. A sale or reclassification of maore than an insigrificant amount of held to maturity iInvesiments
would result in the reclassification of all held to matunty investments as availlable-for-sale and would prevent us
from classifying investment securities as heid to maturity for the current and the two followmng financial years.

Available-for-sale investment securities

Avallable-for-sale investrment secunties are initiaily recognised at farr value, which is the cash consideration
mcluding any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised
in other comprehensive iIncome, except for impairment tosses and foreign exchange gams and losses, unti the
investment security is derecogrsed. If an available-for-sale investment security is determined to be imparred,
the cumulative gain or loss creviously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income s recognised in
the income statement Interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign currency gains

and losses on monetary assets classified as avalable-for-sale are recognised in the income statement.

Investment securities held at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI}

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Group and Company £'million £rmillicon £'rmillion
At 31 December 2018 (financial instruments held at FYOCI) 607 &7 674
At 21 December 2017 (avallable for sale financial instruments) 290 71 361

The classification of a financial instrument s based on the lowest level input that 1s significant to the fair value rmeasurement inits
entirety. The two levels of the fair value hierarchy relevant to the Group and Company are defined below.

Quoted market prices — Level 1

Investment securities are classified as Level L if their value is observable in an active market. Such instruments are valued by reference
to unadjusted quoted prices for iIdentical assets or liabilities 1n active markets where the quoted price 1s readily available, and the price
represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis An active market is one in which transactions
occur with sufficient volume and frequency ta provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
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11. Investment securities continued

Valuation technigue using observable inputs - Level 2

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Leve. 1 that are observable for the asset, aither directiy {as prices} or indirectly (derived
frorm prices)

Investment securities held at amortised cost
At 31 Dece~her 2018, financial investments classified at arrorused cost (31 December 2017 held to matunty) were as follows:

Carrying armount Fair value
Group and Company £'mitlion £'mitlion
At 31 December 2018 (held at amortised cost) 3,458 3,429
At 31 December 2017 (he.d to maturnty) 3,554 2,590

Reclassifications between categories

On 17 February 2017 £352 milion, 18 Apnil 2027 £60 4 mullion, 21 November 2017 £95.0 rrullion. 19 December 201/ £87 8 million and
on 22 Decemeer 2017 £46.1 million of Ainancial assets classified as available-for-sale were reclassified as held to matunty. The carry ng
armount (excluding accrued interest) and fair value of the assets at 31 December 2017 were as folows:

Carrying amount Fair value
L'million E'milbon
At 3. December 201/ 514 324

A F1.2 million fair value gain was recogrised wilth respect 1o the reclassified assets in 2017, haa these assets not been reclassified, an

additional fair value gain of £0.9 milion would nave been recognised 1r other comprehensive ncome. The effactive interest rates on

avallable-for-sale assets reclassified to neld to maturity at 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 ranged from 0.96% to 3.65%, with ali
cash flows expected to be recoverable.

12. Property, plant and equipment

Accounting Policy Cur property. plant and equipment primarily consists of investments and improvements in our stare network
and 1s stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment

We depreciate property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis to its residual value using the following
useful economic tives

Leasehold improvements Lower of the remaining life of the lease or the useful ife of the asset
Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings Up to 50 years

Fixtures and fittings and equioment 5 years

H hardware 510 b years

We keep depreciation rates, methods and the residual values underlying the calculation of depraciation of items
of property. plant and eguipment under review to take account of any change in crcumstances

Al tterns of property, p.ant and equipment are reviewed annualy for imparment

Investment property

Investment property 1s also stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment
Depreciation s calculated on a consistent Dasis with that applied to land and buildings as disclosed in

the table above.

Al iterns of investrment property are reviewed annually for impairment
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12. Property, plant and equipment continued
Investment Leasehold Freehold land Fixtures, fittings
praperty improvements and buitdings and equipment IT hardware Total
Group £'miilion £ 'million £'million £'million £'million £'million
Cost
1 January 2018 11 198 136 26 35 406
Additions - 80 59 7 4 150
Transfers {1} (3) 4 - - -
31 December 2018 10 275 199 33 39 556
Accumulated depreciation
~ January 2018 258 6 14 29 78
Imparments 3 1 - - - 4
Charge for the year - 10 2 4 4 20
Transfers - {1) 1 - - -
31 December 2018 3 29 9 18 33 102
Net book value 7 236 190 15 6 454

Investment proparty consists of shops ard offices which are located within the same bulldings as some of our stares, where we have
acquired the freehold interest Investment property is held to earn rental income and for capital appreciation At 31 December 2018 our
investment property had a fair value of £7 miluon {31 December 2017 £11 milion}

investrment Leasehold Freehold land Frxtures, httings

property Improvements and bulldings and equipment IT hardware Total
Group L'million E'million Erllion E'milion E'milion E'miliron
Cost
1 January 2017 - 170 86 20 31 307
Additions 3 36 50 5 99
fransfers B {8} - - - -
31 December 2017 11 198 136 26 35 406
Accumulated depreciation -
1 January 201/ - 22 3 11 24 60
Charge for the year - 8 2z 3 ! 18
Transfers - (1) 1 - -
31 December 2017 - 29 5] 14 29 /8
Net book value 11 169 130 12 5 328

Transfers represents costs associated with the iImprovements made to previously leased stores which we have purchased within

the year.

Relevant disclosures for the Company have not been included, as these are not matenally different to the Group disclosure above.
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13. Intangible assets

Accounting policy

Goodwill

Goodwil arises on the acquisttion of subsicharies and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over
our interest in net fair vaive of the net identinable assets, iabiities and contingent habibties of the acquiree and
the fair vaiue of the non-controlling nterest in the acquiree

For the purpose of impairment testing. goodwill acquired in a business combination 1s al.ocated to each of
the cash-generating units ([CGUsY), or groups of CGUs, that s expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination Lach unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the iowest leve. within
the entity at which the goodwill is momitored for internal management purposes

Goodwill is not amortised, however it is reviewed for imparment on an annual basis. The recoverable amount
of a CGU s the hugher of its far value tess cost to sell, and the present value of its expected future cash llows.
If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value, an impairment l0ss Is charged to the income
statement Goodwillis stated at cost less accumuiated impairment losses. Any impairment 1s recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subseguentiy reversed

GCther intangible assets
Software includes both purchased items and internally developed systerns, which consists principally of
identifiable and directly associated internal staff and other costs.

Purchased intangible assets and costs directly associated with the development of systems are capitalised as
intangible assets where there 1s an identihable asset which we control and which will generate future economic
benefits in accordance with IAS 38.

Costs to establish feasibility or to maintain existing performance are recogrsed as an expense Intangb.e assets
are amortised on a straight-line basis within the Income statement using the following useful economic lives

Core banking software!?
Other banking software
Software licences
Customer contracts

20 years

510 10 years
Licence period
10 years

1 Core banking saftware congsts of our central banking transact.or platform [t has been assessed as having a 20 year ir'e due lo 1t
peeng the centra corrponent of our d gitalinfaastructore. 17 has been n use since we firlt openen ana g ven 1y sign.ncance 1s unlkey
1o be replaced witrun tne foreseeab.e future

All intangible assets are reviewed annually for impairment.

Customer

Goodwill contracts Software Total
Group £'million £'million E'million E'million
Cost
1 January 2018 4 1 174 179
Additions - - 75 75
31 December 2018 4 1 249 254
Amortisation
1 January 2018 - 1 30 31
Impairments - - 1 1
Charge for the year - - 25 25
31 December 2018 - 1 56 57
Net book value 4 - 193 197
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At 31 Decemnber 2018, core banking software with a useful economic life of 20 years had a carrying amount of £78 million

{202/ £8 & milion).

Customer

Goodwill contracls Software Total
Group £'rmullion £'mtlion £ rillion £million
Cost
1 January 2017 4 N 102 107
Additions - - 70 0
Reclassifications - - 2 2
31 December 2017 4 1 174 179
Amortisation
1 January 2017 - 1 14 15
Charge for the year - 15 15
Reclassifications - - 1 1
31 December 2017 - 1 30 31
Net book value 4 - 144 148

The goodwil: held on our batance sheet is tested at least annually for impairment For the purposes of impairment testing the goodwill
15 allocated to the appropriate CGU. of the total balance of £4 1 million (2017: £4 1 million). 200% has been allocated to SML Invoice

Finance Limited.

The recoverable amount of SME Invoice Finance Limited has been based on a value-in-use calculation using pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets and plans approved by management covering a seven-year period and a discount rate of 79%
The long-terrm growth rate is consistent with externai sources of information reviewed by management Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions above wouid not cause the recoverable amount of SML Invoice Finance
Limited to fall below the balance sheet carrying value, Seven years was used as the basis for discounted cash flow calcutation to align
with the 2018-2024 plan, prepared by management and approved by the Board, and used in decisicn-making The plan s reviewed

and updated annually

2018 2017
Software Software
Company £'millicn E'million
Cost
1 January 171 101
Additions 75 68
Reclassifications - 2
31 December 246 171
Amortisation
1 January 30 14
Impairments 1 -
Charge for the year 25 15
Reclassifcations _ !
31 December 56 30
Net book value 150 141
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14. Prepayments and accrued income

31 December

31 December

2018 2017

Group £'million E'miilion
Prepayments 32 26
Accrued income 29 27
VAl recewvab.e 3 3
Other 2 1
Total prepayments and accrued income 66 52
66 52

Current portion
Non-current portion

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
Company E'million Lmillion
Prepayments 29 24
Accrued income 29 22
VAT recevable 3 3
Other 2 1
Total prepayments and accrued income 63 50
Current portion 63 50

Non-current portion

15. Other assets
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Group £'million C'rmidlion
Assets pledged as collaterai 14 11
Other- 36 15
Total other assets 50 6
Current portion 39 15
11 11

Non-current portion

31 December

31 December

2018 2017

Company £'miltien E'rrilhion
Assets pledged as collateral 14 11
Other! 36 14
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 305 215
Total other assets 355 240
Current portion 344 229
11 11

Non-current portion

1 Other balance pnmanly comprise custemer transactions in process over year end.
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16. Deposits from customers
[he total deposits from customers 1s comprised of 47% from retail customers {2027 47%) and 52% from commercial customers
(2027 53%)

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Group and Company £'million £mllion
Ceposits from retail customers 7.429 2477
Deposits from commercial customers 8,232 6.192
Total deposits from customers 15,661 11.669

17. Debt securities

Accounting policy Debt secunities i issue are recognised intaly at faw value, being proceeds iess transaction costs Subsequently
dept securities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

On 18 June 2018 we issued £250 mulion of subordinated debt securities to provide Tier 2 capital to support future growth

Amount issued

Issue date Currency £'milion Coupon rate Calldate Maturnity date
18th June 2018 GBR 250 550% 26/06/2023 26/06/2028
31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Group and Company £'million L'rilhion

Amount at 1 January -
Issuances 250 -

Costs associated with issuance {1 -
Accrued interest payable - -
Carrying amount at 31 December 249 -
18. Other liabilities
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Group £'millien £'million
Trade creditors 5 0
Other taxation and social security costs 6 5
Accruals 97 67
Deferred iIncome 18 16
Other liabilities 63 59
Total other liabilities 189 147
Current gortion 159 133
Non-current portion 30 9
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18. Other liabilities continued

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
Company £ 'million £'million
Trade creditors 5 Q
Other taxation and social secunty costs 6 5
Accruals 96 67
Deferred income 18 16
Other Labilities 57 54
Total other liabilities 182 147
Current portion 153 133
Non-current portion 30 g

19. Called-up share capital

Accounting policy Onissue of new shares, Incremental direcliy attributable costs are shown in equity as a deduction from

the proceeds.

We have a single class of shares As at 31 December 2018 we had 9741 million ordinary shares of 0.0001p (32 December 20L7

88.5 million] authorised and 1n 1ssue

In July 2018, we 1ssued 8.9 milion ordinary shares of 0.0001p each. for consideration of £303 million Related transaction costs of

£3 million have been deducted from equity duning the year.

Additionally, during the year we issued 0 1 miluon ordinary shares which relate to the exercise of previously awarded share options

These options contributed £1 milkon to share premium

Called-up ordinary share capital, issued and fully paid

Group and Company

31 December
2018
£'mitlion

31 December
2017
E'mullion

Called-up ordinary share capital, issued and fully paid
1 January
Issued

31 December

Share premium

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
Group and Company £'million E'million
Share premium account
1 January 1,304 1,028
Issued 304 279
Costs of shares 1ssued (3) {3)
31 December 1,605 1,304
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20. Share options

Accounting policy Ihe grant date fair value of options awarded to colleagues 15 recognised as an expense over the penod in which
colleagues become unconditionally entitled to the options The expense (representing the value of the services
received Dy us)i1s measured by reference to the farr value of the shares or share options granted on the date of
the grant The cost of the coleague services received in respect of the share options granted 1s recagnised n
the consolidated incorne statement over the period that the services are receved, which is the vesting pernocd
Graded vesting 1s applied where relevant.

The fair value of colleague share option plans 1s calcuiated at the grant date using a Black-Schoies model the
resulting Cost s charged to the income statement over the vesting period [he value of the charge s adjusted
to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting.

We offer options to Executive Directars and colieagues. The exercise price of the granted options 15 equal to the estimated market price
determined at the date of the grant. Options generally vest in equal tranches over five years and have a contractual opticn term of ten
years, with the only vesting condition being the continuing service of the colleague Options acquired via ‘exchange’ of some or al. of
the cash element of a colleague’s variable reward vest immediately Ail our options are eguity settled and we have no egal or
constructive obligation to repurchase the shares or settie the options in cash.

The table below summarises the movements in the number of opticns outstanding and their weighted average exercise price

2018 2m7
Weighted Weighted
Numberof average exercise Number of average
options price aptions exXercise price
Group ]ele) £ ‘000 £
Qutstanding at 1 January 3,377 18.98 2.807 15.04
Granted 1,001 35.36 768 3273
Cxercised (144) 16.14 {195) 1594
Lapsed {131) 25.05 {103) 2037
Outstanding at 31 December 4,104 2290 3377 1598
Exercisable at 31 December 2,287 18.22 1694 16.19

I he average share pnce during 2018 was 3.0/5p (2027 3.488p). The number of options outstanding at year end was as follows

2018 2017
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of remaining Number of remairing
options contractual life options contractual life
Exercise price ‘0G0 years ‘000 years
£9.00 47 2.8 52 3.8
£10 00 129 38 145 48
£1200 236 49 260 59
£1500 60 5.2 66 6.2
£1550 621 5.8 650 0.8
£14 00 194 nfa 217 nfa
£16.00 647 n/a 713 nfa
2000 498 7.2 536 82
£32 /5 708 82 743 92
£35 36 963 8.2 - -
Total 4,104 74 3.377 76
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20. Share options continued
The fair value of the options granted during the year is determined using a Black-Scholes vaiuation model 1he total fair value of
options granted in 2018 was £4 3 miluon {2017 £3 3 million), based on the fo.lowing assumptions

2018 2018

cash bonus share

Group exchange options
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 0.87% 0.94%
Weighted average expected life 2.5 years 3.25 years
Weighted average expected volatiuty 22.52% 21.96%
Weighted average expected dwidend yie.d nil nil
Weighted average share price £35.36 £35.36
Welighted average exercise price £35.36 £35.36

Expected volatlity 15 a measure of the amount by which cur shares are expected to fluctuate during the ife of an option. The expected
volatility ts estimated based on a statistical anatysis of the histonc share prices of other FTSE 350 banks over the rmost recent penod
which 1s commensurate with the expected Jfe of the option The analysis 1s based on FTSE 350 banks rather than our own share price
due tonsufficient ava lable price data, having only been isted since March 2016,

We have no other remuneration related instruments in 1ssue.

21. Reconciliation of movements in retained earnings

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Group £'million Ermullion
1 January {219) (230)
IFRS 9 transition adjustment (net of tax) (17 -
Proft for the year 27 11
31 December (209) {£19)
31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Campany £'million L'rmilhon
1 January (227} (2560
IFRS 9 transiion adjustment (net of tax) {14} -
Profit for the year 27 g
31 December (214) (227

The IFRS 9 transition: adjustment (net of tax) is the day cne impact ansing from the adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 Further detalls
about this adjustment can be found In note 1.4,
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22. Leases

Accounting policy  Allof our leases are classified as operating leases Total payrments made under our operating leases are charged
to other operating expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the perod of the lease When
an operating lease I1s terrminated before the lease period has expired, any payment we are required to make to
the lessor by way of penalty 1s recognised as an expense In the perod in which termination takes place

Commitments under leases

We lease vanous offices and stares unaer non-cancellable operating lease arrangements. The total operatirg lease expenditure
recagnised in the staterment of comprehensive iIncome durng the year was £25 5 million {201/ £19 6 rrullion} The eases have varous
terrns, escalation, renewal and rights. At the balance sheet date, future minirmum payments under operating leases re.ating to land and
burdings, inclusive of irrecoverable VAL, were as folilows

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Group £'millien Ermillion
Due

Within one year 30 20

Due in one to five years 133 81

Due in more than five years 495 318

Total 659 419

On 1 January 2019 we adopted IFRS 16 which will significantly change the way we account for leases. Further details on the impact
of the adoption of IFRS 16 can be found in note 1.5

Future income due under non-cancellable operating teases

We lease out surplus space in some of our properties The table below sets out the cash payments expecled over the remaining
non-cancellable term of each lease, exciusive of any VAT Of the total below, £11 3 miluon (2017, Li2 O million) re.ates to
sub-letting of leased stores During the year, £1 0 milion (2017 £1 4 million} was recognised as rentatincome 1n the staternent
of comprehensive ncome

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Group £'million £'millkon
Receivabie

Within one year 1 1

Due m one Lo five years 4 4

Due in more than five years 9 10

Total 14 15
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Accounting policy We assess on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL} associated with the assets carried
at amortised cost and FVOC and recogrise a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date.

Imparrment provisions are driven by changes in credit nsk of loans and securities, with a provision for Jfetime
expected credit losses recognisad where the nisk of default of an instrument has increased significantly Risk
of default and expacted credit losses must ncorporate forward looking and macroeconemic informat on

Loans and advances

Sophisticated impairment modeis have been developed for our retail and commercial loan portfo.ios, with three
core models: revolving proaucts, fixed term loans; and mortgages . Expected credit losses are calculated for drawn
w0ans, and for committed iending

The same broad cawculation approach s appiied for each core model. Lxpected credit .osses are calculated by
mustiplying three main components, being the probability of default, loss given default and the exposure at default,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Key model inputs and judgements include

« Consideration of when a significant increase in credit risk occurs

+ Probability of defauit ('PL'), loss given default. and exposure at default
« Macro economic scenarios to be applied

Significant increase in credit risk
IFRS 9 reguires a higher level of expected credit loss (o be recognised for underperforming loans This s considered
based on a staging approach.

Stage Description ECL recognised

Stage 1 Fiancial assets that have had no 12-month expected credit losses
significant increase in credit risk since
intial recognition or that have low credit
risk at the reporting date.

Total losses expected on defauits which
may occus within the next 12 months.
Losses are adjusted for probability-
weighted macro-economic scenarios

Stage 2 Financial assets that have had a Lifetime expected credit {osses
significant increase in credit risk since
nitial recognition but that do not have
objectve evidence of impairment

Losses expected on defaults which may
occur at any pointin a loan's ifetime.
Losses are adjusted for probability-
weighted macro-economic scenanaos.

Stage 3 Financial assets that are creditimpaired Lifetime expected credit losses
at the reporting date. A financial asset 1s
credit impaired when it has met the
definition of gefault. We define defaull
to have occurred when a loan 1s greater
thart 90 days past due {non-performing
loan) or where the borrower is
considered unlikely to pay.

Losses expected on defaults which may
occur at any point in a loan's ifetime.
Losses are adjusted for probabuity-
welghted macro-eccnornic scenarios

Interest income 1s calculated on the
carrying amount of the loan net of
cred t allowance.

Purchased or originated Financiat assets that have been Lifetime expected credit losses

credit-impaired (POCI) asset purchased and had objective evidence
of being "non-performing” or "credit
impaired” at the point of purchase

Atinitia. recognition, POCI assets do not
carry an wmpairment aiowance Lifetime
expected credit losses are incorporated
into the calcuation of the asset's
effective interest rate. Subseguent
changes to the estimate of lifetime
expected credit losses are recognized
as a loss allowance.
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23. Credit risk continued

A sigrificant imcrease ir credit risk may be denufied in a number of ways

« Quanttative criteria - where the numernicaily calculated probabiity of default on a .0an has increased
significantly since nutiac recogriion. This 15 assessed using detailled models whicn assess whether the lifetme PD
at ohservation is greater than tha lifetime PD at ongination oy a portfolio speafic threskold. Given the different
nature of the products and the dissimilar level of ifetime PDs at ongination, we implement different thresholds
by sub-products within each portfolio {term loans, revolving .0an facilives and mortgages). The selection of the
thresho:d 1s such that the PD threshold of the observed median .ifetime PD at onigination s 5 times this median.

« Gualitabive critenia —Instrurments that are 30 days past due or more are allocated fo stage 2, regardless of the
results of the guantitative analysis. Instruments that are 30 days past due or more or nstruments classified on
the watch.st as higher risk are allocated to Stage 2, regardless of the resu.ts of the quantitative analysis

A loan will be considered to be non-performing’ or ‘credit impaired” when it meets our defnition of default - that
15 to say. the loan 1s 90 days past due, or the borrower s considered unlikely to pay without realization of collateral
Unlikeliness to pay 1s assessed through the presence of tniggers including the loan being in repossession, the
customer having been declared bank-upt, or evidence of financia: distress.

Alloan may also be considered to be non-performing when 1tis subject to farbearance measures, consisting

of concessions in relalion Lo:

« A modification of the previous terms and conditicns of the lean which the borrower 1s not considered able
to comply with, or

« Atotal or partial refnancing of a troubted debt contract that would not have been granted nad the borrower
not been in financial difficulties.

It may not be possile to dentify a single discrete event which defines an asset as 'non-perfarming” or "credit
impaired” Instead, the combined effect of several events may cause financial assets to become credit impaired.

A probation period is implemented before transferring a fnancial nstrument to a lower stage (ie, from Stage 310

Stage 2. or from Stage 2 to Stage 1) Speafically, in orger to move an account from Stage 3 to Stage 2, we apply a
hackstop such that the instrument should meet the Stage 2 criteria for three consecutive months. | he same .ogic
15 applied when transferring an account from Stage 2 to Stage 1

Probability of default

The probabilily of default represents the likelihood of 8 borrower defaulting on its financial obligation either over
the next 12 months (for Stage 1 accounts), or over the remaining lifetime of the loan {for Stage 2 and 3 accounts;.
A probability of default 1s calculated for alt loans based on histonc data and incorporates

» Credit guality scores

» Lifecycle trends depending on a loan's vintage

» Factors indicating the quality of the vintage

« Characteristics of the current and future economic environment

Loss given default

The loss given default {LGD') represents our expectation of the extent of a loss on a defaulted exposure, and 1s
expressed as a percentage considering expected recoveries on defaulted accounts. We apply two LGD rates -

one for unsecured lending and one for secured lending LGD rates have been moaelied considering a range of
inputs, including

» Value of collateral on secured portfolios — a key driver of the expected recovery In the event of default

« Expected haircut applied to the collateral value to reflect a forced sale discount

» Price ndex forecasts applied to project collateral values into the future

» Stress factors based on macro-economic scenarios

Exposure at default

[his 1s the amount that we expect to be owed at the point of default, This s subject to jJudgement since a balance

will not necessarily remain static between the balance sheet date and the point of expected default For examgple:

= Interest should be accrued

« Repayments may be received on mortgages

« For a revolving product, further drawings may be taken between the current point in time and the point of default

« Estimations of these factors wilt be incorporated into our estimate of exposure at default

« PD, LGD and exposure at default are calculated and applied at an individual account level for secured lending.
For unsecured ending. PD and exposure at defauit are calculated and applied at an individual account level,
but LG 15 assessed at a portfolio level and applied to accounts on an individual basis.
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138

Macro economic scenarios

The ECL recognised in the iinancial statements reftects the effect on expected credit losses of a range of poss ble
outcomes, calculated on a probabuty-weighted basis. based on a number of economic scenanos and INcluding
management overlays where required These scenarios are representative of our view of forecast economic
conditions. sufficient o calculate unbiased £CL, and are designed to capture matenal non-uneanties’ {i e. where the
ncrease in credit .osses if conditions detenorate, exceeds the decrease In credit .osses if conditions improve)

In the normal course of business, we use three scenarios These represent a most lkely cutcorne’, (the “Basedne’
scenarno) and two, less ikely, ‘Quter’ scenanos on either side of the Baseline scenario, referred to as an "Upside’
and a “Downside” scenario respectively 1he Baseline scenario captures the most likely economic future, the
downside scenano presents particular adverse econormic conditions. and the upside scenano presents maore
favourabie economic conditions.

Key scenano assumptions are set using data sourced frorm independent external economists This helps ensure
that the IFRS 9 scenarios are unbiased and maximise the use of independent iInformation.

The following assumptions, considered to be the key drivers of ECL, have been used for the scenarios applied
« UK interest rates

e UK unemployment rates

« UK house price index {'HPI') changes, year on year

« UK gross domestic product {GDP') changes, year on year

Macroeconomic scenanos impact the ECL calculation through varying PDs and LGDs We use UK HP to index
colateral which has a direct impact on LGDs. Other metrics are considered to have a direct impact on PDs and
were selected following a search and data calibration exercise of possible drivers A ust of around 15 potential
drivers were mitially considered, representing drivers which capture trends in the economy at large, and may
indicate economic trends which will impact UK borrowers. The list included variables which impact economic
outpul, interest rates, inflation. stock prices, borrower mcome and the UK housing market. An algerithm was then
used to choose the subset of drivers which nad the greatest signiicance and predictive it 1o Metro Bank data.

Each scenario was determined by flexing the baseline scenarno. taking into account a number of factors in the
global and UK economy such as commodity prices, global interest rates, Ul investment spend and exchange rates,
as well as the possible impact of recessionary conditions or iinancial shocks. A large number of possible fulure
paths 1s simulated. The Downside scenario has been set to be worse than 90% of possible future cutcomes, the
Upside scenano has been set to be better than 90% of possible future cutcormes These assumptions are
considered sufficient to capture any matenal nonlingarities.

A simuiation process was designed to determine the weighting to apply to each scenario based on the severity
of each scenaro and the range of pessible scenanaos for which that scenano was represeniative

We recognise that applying the above three scenarios will not always be sufficient to deterrmine an appropriate ECL
in al. economic environments. A forth scenaric has been included in the 31 December 2018 ECL, a "Hard Brexit”
scenaro, adding to the result derived using the three scenanos detailled above. This additional scenario reflects
management’s Judgement that the scenarios above do not fully reflect the high degree of uncertainty in estimatirg
the current uncertainty in the UK econormy ahead of the UK's departure from the European Union in 2018 (Brext’)
The Hard Brexit scenaric 15 more severe than the current downside scenano and 1s considered to be in keeping
with some of the more severe outcomes published by UK government departments and industry bodies Ihe Hard
Brexit scenario I1s used as an add-on to the three "business as usua.” scenaros

The weightings applied to each scenario at 3. December 2018 are,
« Baseline - 5/%

» Upside and downside — 28% each

« Hard Brexit — 7%

I his weighting scherme 1s deemed as being appropnate for the computation of unbiased ECL.
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Economic variable assumptions
The pericd-end assumptions Lsed for the ECL estimate as at 31 December 2018 are as follows
2019 2020 2021 2022
Interest rates (%) Base 2 2% Base 2.6% Base  2.8% Base 3 2%
Upside 2 1% Upside. 3.1% Upside: 3.% Upside 5 5%

Downside 0 9%
Brexit0.5%

Downside 1.2%
Brexit Q8%

Downside 14%
Brexit: 0 9%

Downside 16%
Brexit 1 3%

UK unemployment (%)

Base: 4 6%
Upside 3 3%
Downside 6.2%
Brexit 6 /%

Base 4 8%
Upside' 3.4%
Downside 72%
Brexit 8.4%

Base 5.0%
Upside 3 6%
Downside /3%
Brexit: 8.5%

Base. 5 0%
Upside 30%
Downside 6.9%
Brexit 8.1%

UK house price index
- % change year-on-

year

Base 1.9%
Upside 76%
Downside (5.31%
Brexit (8.5)%

Base 0 5%
Upside 4 5%

Base 1 2%
Upside 1.9%

Downside (6.4)% Downside 0 0%

Brexit (12.1)%

Brexit (2 7)%

Base 19%
Upside: 0.9%
Downside 3.7%
Brexit (4.3)%

UK GDIPP - % change

year-an-year

Base 16%
Upside 4 0%
Downside. (2 9)%
Brexit (56)%

Base 4%
Upside 2 1%

Base 19%
Upside 1.9%

Downside 0 8% Downside 2.6%

Brexit. {0 21%

Brexit 2 6%

Base: 1.8%
Upside. 1.6%
Downside: 2 0%
Brexit 2.5%

The assumptions used for the LCL estimate as at 1 January 2018 are as foliows

2018

2015

2020

2021

2022

Interest rates (%)

Base 17%
Upside 1 8%
Downside 1.5%
Brexit n/a

Base' 2.3%
Upside: 2 6%
Downside 10%
Brexit n/a

Base 2 /%
Upside 2.5%
Downside 1 0%
Brexit n/a

Base 2 6%
Upside: 3.0%
Downside 1 5%
Brexit: n/a

Base 50%
Upside 3 3%
Downside 1.8%
Brexit n/a

UK unemployment (%)

Base 4 6%
Upside 4 0%

Base' 4.8%
Upside' 3.5%

Downside (5 7% Downside: 7 1%

Base 5 0%
Upside: 4 6%
Downside 7 5%

Base 5 1%
Upside 39%
Downside, 7.3%

Base 5 1%
Upside 4 1%
Downside 6 9%

Brexit n/a Brexit: n/a Brexit: nfa Brexit' n/a Brexit nfa
UK house price index Base 2 9% Base: 1.5% Base: 0.9% Base: 1 8% Base 24%
- % change year-on-  Upside 5 8% Upside 72% Upside: 3 2% Upside: 1.6% Upside: 2 0%
year Downside (0 9% Downside (7.3)% Downside. (2 7)% Downside. 1.8%  Downside 4.3%
Brexit n/a Brexit: n/a Brexit: n/a Brexit: n/a Brexit: nfa
LK GDP - % change  Base. 1.6% Base: 16% Base 18% Base: 19% Base 1.8%

yedr-on-year

Upside 35.4%

Downside (1.1)% Downside: (0 8)%

Brexit n/a

Upside. 3 2%

Brexit: n/a

Upside 2.1%
LDownside: 1 9%
Brexit: n/fa

Upside 17%
Downside 2.5%
Brexit n/a

Upside: 1 6%
Downside 2 0%
Brexit: n/fa

Following the initial four year projection penod, the Upside and Downside scenarios converge to the Basetline
scenana The rate of convergence varies based on the macrc economic factor, but at a mirnmum convergence
takes place three years from the initial four year projecuon penod.

We note that the scenarios applied comprise our best estimate of economic impacts on the ECL, and the actual
outcome may be sigrificantly differert,

Investment securities and other financial assets
Impairment provisions have been calculated based on our best estimate of expected credit losses on other assets
classified and measured at amortised cast and fair value through other comprehensive income. These include
investment securities, cash held at barks and other financial assets. Impairment provisiors are not material,
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Previous accounting policy
2017 comparative data 1s disclosed under 1AS 38, with principal accounting policies outlined below

Assets carried at amortised cost

We assess at each reporting date whether there 15 objective evidence that a financial asset 1s impaired. The

impairment relating to loans and advances s calculated and assigned i accordance with the accounting standards

for mdividua. and collective impairment:

« Impairrment of ndividual loans 1s designed to recogrise specific risks identified foliowing the accurrence of
a loss event, for examp.e, a commercial customer whose business has gone into admiristration. If .cans are
considered to be at nsk, an individual assessment wiil be performed

« Forloans that are not corsidered to be individually impaired twhether individually significant or not), a collective
rmpairment assessment 1s pe-formed. Collective provisions are intended to reflect the estimated amount of
losses iIncurred on a coleclve basis, but which have yet to be individually 1dentfied. Tne lending exposare
subject to colective impairment s assessed for each group of loans with similar credit risk characteristics

Collective impairment models are based on analysis of historical arrears data and estimated .oss rates, in order

to derive the expected loss net of the recoverable value. For the purposes of a cotlective evaluation of imparrment,
financia: assets are grouped on the basis of the product risk profile residential mortgage lending. comm™orcial
ending and consumer lending | he carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recogrised in the income staternent.

When a loan is uncollectable, it 1s written off against the related allowance for loan impairment, Such loans

are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amaount of the loss has been
determmed. The maximum tirme a loan can remam in past due without being written off 1s 24 months. Impairment
charges relating to loans and advances to banks and customers are classified in credit iImpairment charges wh le
impairment charges relating to investment secunties (held to matunty} are classihed in ‘Net ga ns/losses on
investment secunties’

If. in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment .0ss decreases and the decrease can be re.ated
objectively to an event occurnng after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed by adjusting the allowance account The amount of the reversa. is recognised In the income staternent.

Assets classified as available-for-sale

We assess at each date of the balance sheet whether there s olbjective evidence that a linancial asset or a group of
financial assets is imparred. Impairment lesses or avallable-for-sale assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses
accurnulated m the fair value reserve 1IN equity to profit or loss. 1 he cumulative loss thalss reclass fied from eguity
to profit or loss 15 the difference between the acguisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amaortisation,
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recogrised in profit or loss,

Credit sk is the nsk of inancial loss to usIf a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 1o meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from our loans and advances to customers and other banks, and investment debt securities
Given our main income generating activity 1s lending money to customers, credit risk is one of our princroal risks.

Credit risk management
Details of how we manage our credit nsk can be found on pages 32 to 33.

Collateral

The principal method by which we mitigate credit nisk is through requesting collateral and guarantees against our retail mortgage
and commercial lending. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are.

« Mortgages over residential properties,

= Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts recervable,

Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally securea; revolving individual credit facilties are generally
unsecured. In addition, in crder to minimise credit loss, we will seek additionas collateral from the counterparty as soon as a
significant increase in credit risk is identified for the relevant individual loans and acvances.
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Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances depeands on the nature of the instrument. Qur nvestmert
secLrities are generally unsecured with the exception of asset-backed secunties and simnar instrurments, which are secured by

portfolios of inancial instruments,

We prepare a valuation of the collatera: obtained as part of the loan originaticn process |hus assessment s reviewed penodically for

longer-term hnancing or when a s.gnificant increase in credit nsk has been identified.

Our policies regarding obtaining collateral have 1ot significantly changed dunng the reportng penod and there has been no sigmificant

change in the overall quality of the collateral heid by the Group

Investment securities

We invest in high-quality lquid debt instruments as required by our Securities Trading and Investment policy [he analysis below details

the credit rating of the securities as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

£'million £'million
Investment Avallable-
Investment Investment securities for-sale
securities held at  securities held at held to nvestment
Credit rating amortised cost FvOC! maturity securities
AAA 3113 230 2,924 181
AA- 10 AAT 306 319 381 175
A-t0 At 39 28 108 26
Lower than A- - 97 141 29
Total 3,458 674 3,554 61

All investment securiies heid at FvOQC] are deemed to be in Stage 1 Any credit loss allowance 15, however, Included as part of the
revaluation amountin the FYOCH reserve At 31 December 2018 the loss allowance 1s included within the £VOCI reserve 1s £0 3 million

{31 December 201/ N/A).

All investment securities heud at amortised cost are deemed to be in Stage & The total expected credit :0ss recognised for these assets
at 51 December 2018 15 £0 2 milion (31 Decernber 201/, allowance forimpairment nil}

Retail mortgage lending

The table below stratifies credit exposures from retail mortgages by ranges of debt-to-value {DTV') ratio. The average CTV of the
residential mortgage loan book s 61% {201/ 60%)

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

E'million £'million

Retail Retail Total retail Retarl Retas| Total retail
Group and comparny owner occupied buy-to-let mortgages cowner occupled buy-to-let mortgages
DTV ratio
Less than 50% 2,124 458 2,582 1,404 316 1,720
51-60% 1,195 493 1688 771 342 1,113
61-70% 1,374 553 1927 1.010 415 1.425
/1-80% 1,362 596 1,958 716 420 1.136
81-90% 1,205 129 1,334 H38 130 668
91-100% 8O 33 113 80 35 115
Mare than 100% 11 12 23 39 15 54
Total retait mortgage lending 7351 2,274 9,625 4558 1673 6231

METRO BANK PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2018 141



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTINUED

23. Credit risk continued

A gecgraphic analysis of the .ocation of retall mortgage co.atera. s set out be.ow

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

E'million E'miliion

Retail Retail Total retail Retail Retail Totat retall
Group and company owner occupied buy-to-let mortgages  owner occupled buy-to-tet mortgages
Region
Greater London 3,034 1,231 4,265 1,988 811 2900
South east 1,797 283 2,180 1,115 280 1,395
South west 616 122 738 342 B2 424
East of England 492 91 583 289 66 255
North west 405 138 543 236 105 391
West Midlands 293 81 374 164 5] 215
Yorkshire and the Humber 207 73 280 131 57 188
Last Mid.ands 241 57 298 138 39 177
Wales 141 36 177 81 24 105
North east 83 31 114 51 27 78
Northern Ireland 4 27 21 4 28 32
Scotland 38 4 42 18 3 21
Total retail mortgage lending 7,351 2,274 9,625 4,558 1673 6,731
An analysis of cur retail mortgage book by repayrent type 1s set out below:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
£ million £'million

Retail Retail Totai retait Retail Retail Total retad
Group and company owner occupied buy-to-let martgages owner occupied buy-to-let mortgages
Repayment
Interest 2,242 2,166 4,408 1.413 1,597 3010
Capital and interest 5,109 108 5,217 3,145 76 3221
Total retail mortgage lending 7351 2.274 9,625 4558 1.673 6,231

Commercial

The table below stratifies credit exposures from commercial term loans by ranges of debt-to-value DTV ratio

lending

value ((OTV7) of the commercia term loan book is 59% (2017 58%)

31 December

The average debt-to-

31 December

2018 2017
Group and company £'million £'million
DTV ratio
Less than 0% 1,277 1,011
51-60% 936 610
61-70% 791 485
/1-80% 249 209
81-90% 100 116
91-100% 51 32
More than 100% 424 343
Total commercial term lending 3,828 2,816
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23. Credit risk continued
A geographic ana.ysis by location of customers who hod commercial term loans s set out below:

31 Cecember 31 December
2018 2017
Group and company £'mullion £'million
Region
Greater London 2,465 1514
South east 677 457
South west 229 167
East of England 151 93
North west 145 g6
West Midlands 50 21
Yorkshire and the Humber 26 16
fast Midlands 33 16
Wales 29 272
North east 16 8
Northern Ireland I 2
Scotland 4 4
Total commercial term loans 3,828 2816
An analysis of our commercial term loan book by repayrment type is set out below
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Group and company £'million £'million
Repayment
Interest 1,592 111
Capital and interest 2,236 1,705
Total commercial term loans 3,828 2,816
A sector analysis of our commercial term loan book 1s set out below
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Group and company £'millicn £'million
Industry sector
Rea: estate (rent, buy and seli) 2,547 1704
Legal, accountancy and consultancy 384 504
Health and social work 217 214
Hospitality 235 185
Real estate (Imanagement of) 72 104
Retait 99 84
Construction 60 69
Investrment and unit trusts 1 21
Recreation, cultural and sport 19 18
Real estate {developrnent) 52 26
Education 15 4
Other 127 83
Total commercial term loans 3,828 2816

The remainder of commercial lending consists of overdraft and crecdit cards which are generally unsecured a:ongside asset and invoice
finance lending.
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Credit risk exposure

We assess the credit guality of al. financial instruments that are subject to credit risk. 7he credit quality of financial instruments 1s a point
N time assessment of the probability of default of inancial instruments, whereas IFRS G Stages 1 and 2 are determined pased on relative
deterioration of credit quality since initial recognition. We consider that the arrears status of custormer lending is an appropriate method
of assessing the credit quality of that lending The stage of customer lending is also influenced by other metrics as descnbed in our
accounting policy above 1he tables below set out the distribution of customer lending by credit quality and stage alocation The ECL
on odr nvestment secunities and other financial assets is irtumaterial and therefore no analysis has been provigea.

Retail mortgages
31 December 2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 PQCI
E'miilion 12 month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Up to date 9,242 275 19 2
1 to 29 days past due 3 14 4 1
50 to 89 days past due - 47 7 1
90+ days past due - - 9 1
Gross carrying amount 9,245 336 39 5

Consumer lending
31 December 2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 PQCI
E'milhon 12 month ECL Lifetime ECL Litetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Up to date 272 - - -
1to 29 days past due 3 3 - -
30 ta 89 days past due - 5 - -
90+ days past due - - 5 -
Gross carrying amount 275 8 5 -

Commercial lending {excluding asset and invoice finance)
31 Becember 2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI
£'milhen 12 month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Up to date 3,918 6 2 -
1to 29 days past due 52 44 - . -
30 to 89 days past due - 27 1 -
90+ days past due - - 7 -
Gross carrying amount 3,970 77 10 -

Asset and invoice finance
31 December 2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI
E'milicn 12 month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Up to date 295 - - -
1 to 29 days past due - - - -
30 to 89 days past due - - 4 -
90+ days past due - - ~ —
Gross carrying amount 295 - 4 -
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The following tables explain the changes in both the gross carryving amount and 0ss allowances of our loans and advances durng the
penod. Signihicant changes in the gross carrying amount which contributed to changes ir the loss allowance are explained below.
Other movements consists of changes to model assumptions and forward wooking information

Retail mortgages

New lending includes the purchase of a seasoned mortgage book in March 2018 for c.£520 milion All lending in the portfouo Is
secured on property, predominantly in London and the South kast, with the rermainder spread across the UK, and has a similar credit
risk profile to the rest of our book. Approximately 65% of the book 1s classified within retaill mortgages, with the remainder within

commercial lending

Gross carrying amount

Loss allowance

Net carrying amount

E'million

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total Stagel Stage?2 Stage3 POC! Total Stagel Stage2 Stage3 POCI Total

t Jarnuary 2018 5,065 129 35 4 6,231 1 3 ] 11} (10 6084 126 28 3 6,221
Transfers ofifram) stage 17 60 [52) 18 - - 111 1 - - 59 510 ) -
Transters wAfrom] stage 7 222) 223 111 - - 1 i1} - - - 7211 222 [ - -
Transfers wAfrom) stage 3 {16] 7l °3 - - 1 i - {20] 6) 22 - -
Netremegssurernrent due 10

trarisfers? - - 1 12} (1} - {2) 1 (2 ) - {2)
New rending” 3933 76 3 2 4,014 111 (1 (21 3552 rh 3 2 4,012
Repaymeis, additonal

arawdowns ard interest

dccrued {1211 7l 1 1 (160} - 1151 17 il ] 1601
Derecognd ons® 1224) 176) 1) (460} 1 - 1 - 1423 {261 el {458)
Crangpes to mode

assurrplicns® - - - - - - 7 i1 1 A 111 1
31 December 2018 9,245 336 39 5 9625 - {5} 4) (2} (11} 9,245 331 35 3 9614

1 Represents stage transfers prior 1o any LCL remegsurements
Hepresents the remeasurement between the twelve month ang ifetime LC) due to siage transfer inc.uding any changes 1o the model assumol ons and forward

M

loosing nformat on

3 Represents tne increase 0 baidnces resulting from woans and agvances that have been newly onginated, purchased or recewed
4. Fepreserts the decrease = balances resulting from Ioans ann aovances tral have oeer fully tepa d. disposed of ar wr tten of .
5 Represents tne change @ loss allowances resulting rom changes 1o the model assumpt ans, forward laskng informaton and changes n the custormers

-k profile
Consumer lending
Gross carrying amourt Loss allowance Net carrying amount

£'mitlion Stagel Stage2 Stage3l PQCH Tetal Stagel Stage2 Stage3 POCI Total Stagel Stage2 Stagel POCI Total
1 January 2018 191 20 6 - 217 (1} (11} {5) - 17 160 9 1 - 200
Transfers afrom) <tage 1 E 2 - - - - - - - B ! - -
Transfers toffromy stage 2 (3) 3 - - - - - - %) 3 - -
[ransters todifror) stage 3 {1 {11 ? - - - - (1) {11 2 -
MNelremeasurement due Lo

transfers - - - - - {1} O8] {2} - 1 1 {2)
Meew lending 160 2 1 - 163 2 {1 - - {3} “he 1 1 160
Repayments addit.ona

drawdowns and nterest

accrued (27 {1 - (28) - - e th - {28)
Dere g uans 147} (14 4] {64) s 3 13 (47} {4 1] {51)
Changes to mode!

assurnphions - - - - - - - -
31 December 2018 275 8 3 - 288 {3} (3) (3) - 9 272 5 2 - 279
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23. Credit risk continued

Commercial lending {excluding asset and invoice finance)
Qur top 10 commercial exposures totai £347 million (2017 £250 milion) representing 9% (2017, 8%) of our total commercial lending.

Griss carrying amount

Loss allowance

Net carrying amount

'milhon Stagel Stage? Stage3 POC! Total Stagel Stage2 Stageld POCI Total Stagel Stage2 Stage3 POCI Total
1 Janudry 2028 2,855 93 11 1 2.960 (2} {1} {1 - 4) 2853 G2 10 1 2.956
Trarsfers tofifrorm) stage 1 50 57 . - - - - - - S0 150) — -
Trarwfers nfifrom) siage 2 (53] 53 - - - - - 153 53 - - -
Trarsfess icfirraml stage 4 (41 2 - - - - {4) i3 -
Net remeasurament due to

transtars - - - - 2] 1 - (3) (2] [ - {3)
New lerding 1,417 ial 1 - 1,523 m - - 1) 1.511 10 1 1,522
Repayrments additicna

drawd owns ana irerest

accraed 175 {71 {21 - 84) - — 175 (7 s - {84}
Derecogritions 515) 114 i) i} (342) - - - Slh) (W] v 1] (342}
Changes ta mooef

assurnotions - - - - 1} 111 - (2) 1 98] - 2}
31 December 2018 3.970 77 10 - 4,057 4 (3) {3) - (10} 3,966 74 7 - 4,047
Asset and invoice finance

Gross carrying amount Loss allowance Net carrying amount

E'mudlion Stagel Stage2 Stage3 FOCI Total Stagel Stage2 Stage3 POCI Total Stagel Stage2 Stage3 POCH Tatal
1 Jaruary 2018 219 2 5 - 226 {3) - (2} - (5} 216 2 3 - 221
Transfers aftfiom) stage 1 - - - — - _ - - - _ —
Transters woffrom) stage 2 - - - - - -
Transfers tofifrom) stage 3 © i) 3 - - - - 12 ) 3 -
Netremeasuresment due o

lrarsfers - - - 1} - (1} - 1 - n
Mew iernding 147 142 1% - {2} 40 - - 140
Repaymerts, admnhcona

arawdowns and INterest

accied 145] - e - {47y - - - - [45; - i) 147)
Derecogr tions (%) " ) (22} - - s {1} (1 - (21)
Cranges o model

assumpt ons - - - - 5 - - - 3 3 - 3
31 December 2018 295 - 4 - 299 (2} - {2 - (4) 293 - 2 - 295
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23. Credit risk continued

Total
Gross carrying amount Loss allowance Net carrying amount

£million Staged Stage2 Stage3l POCI Total Stagel Stage? Stage3 POCI Jotat Stagel Stage2 Stage3 POCI Total
1 Jaruary 20.8 QzIn PLL 55 i 9,634 17 145 113 {1 (36) 3773 27 4. 4 9,598
Transters Lo frrom: stage 1 s12 1104} HE - - 1} 1 - - - Z1l 03) 8 - -
Transfers todfiom) siage 2 [2/8) _'9 (2} - 1 i - - — ) 278 (1} -
Transfers tofffrom) stage 2 (23 i 35 - — - 1 ) - — (23] 21) 24 -
Net rerneat fement due o

transfary - - 1 15 2) - @ 1 (5) W - (8)
New lenaing LTS HE ) 2 5,842 &) 2 - - (8) h./41 i34 2 5834
Repayrments acdinonal

drawacwns ard Interest

accrued 1254) (14 5 m {319) - - - {298} 114 {b) {1) (319
Derecogait ans 180S) 1539 (23 1) (888) 1 0 5 - 16 804 {42) e ) 872)
Charges to rmodel

assarmpt ons - - - - - 2 1 1} 2 4 i {1) 2
31 December 2018 13,785 421 58 5 14,269 {9} {11) {12} (2) (34} 13776 410 46 3 14,235
Off Balar~or sheat items
Commitments and

qurantecst 1,125 - 1,125

1 Represents urdrawn 'ending fac.lites Further deiails can be found in note 26.

Non-performing loans
Nan-performing loans are loans which have more than three instalments unpaid {90+ days past due) Al non-performing loans are
inciuded within Stage 3 within the credit nisk exposure and loss allowance tables on pages 144 o 147,

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Non-gperforming
Non-performing  Non-performing loans  Non-performing
Group E'million loans ratio £'rmitlion loans ratio
Retail-residential mortgages 9 0.09% G (0.15%
Retall-consumer and other 5 174% & 2.78%
Commercial (including asset and invoice finance) 7 0.16% 11 0.35%
Total 21 0.15% 26 0.27%

Cost of risk
Cost of risk 1s credit impairment charges expressed as a percentage of average gross lending Further details can be found on page 164

Group 2018 2017
Retail-residentiai mortgages 0.01% 0.03%
Retail-consumer and other 1.54% 2.03%
Commercial {including asset and invoice finance) 0.10% 0.13%
Average cost of risk 0.07% 0.11%
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23. Credit risk continued
Write-off policy

We write off financiat assets [either partizlly or fully) when there 1s no realistic expectauon of receving further payment from the
customer. indicators that there 1s no reasonabe expectation of recovery inciude debt sale to a third party and ceasing enforcement

activity. We may write-off financial assets that are s |l subject to enforcement activity.

The outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2018 was £O 2 mullion

Modification of financial assets

We sometimes renegotiate the terms of .0ans provided to customers with a view to maximising recovery

Restructuring activit-es include extended payment arrangements or the modihcation or deferral of payments. Restructuring policies
and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, In the jJudgement of management, indicate that payment wil. most likely
continue These pelicies are kept under continuous review Restructunng 1s mest cormmon.y applied to term loans In the majority
ol cases, restructurirg results in the asset continuing to be cred timpared. Dunng the year only an immatena: amount of loans

were modified and none of the modifications gave rise to 3 modification gain or loss.

2017 Credit risk disclosures

The disclosures below were included m our 2017 financial staternents, however have no direcily comparable equivalent this year owing

to the adoption of IFRS 9 These disclosures have therefore been shown separately rather than adjacent to the 20°8 tables

Loan asset credit quality

All loans and advances are categorised as either neither past due nor impaired’, ‘past due but not impaired’, ‘Individually impared’
or ‘porfolio impaired’. For the purposes of the disclosures in the loan asset credit quality section below:

« Aloanis considered past due when the borrower has falled to make a payment when due under the terms of the wan contract

« Themgparrmen: allowance includes allowances against inancial assets thal have been imdividually impared and those subject

o collective impairment.

« Loans neither past due norimpaired and loans that are past due but not imparred consist predominantly of commercial and retail
.oans that are performmg and whilst not individually impaired, may be subject to a collective impairment allowance.

+ Impaired .0ans that are ndividually assessed consist predorminantly of commercial woans that are past due and for which an

individual allowance has been raised.

« Portfouo impaired loans, which are not included in the categories above, are a subset of cailectively impaired loans and consist

predommantly of retar loans that are 90 days or more past due.

Group 2017 Company 2017

Loans ang Loans and
advances to Loans and advances to Leans and
customers advances to custemers advancesto
E'rmillion banks {'million Ermilion banks C'rmillion
MNeither past due nor imparred G486 100 9,259 g5
Past due but not impared 109 - 109 -
Individually impaired 12 - 10 -
[Portfolic impaired 27 - 27 -
Total 9634 100 9406 95
Less: allowance for impairment {14} - (13) -
Total 9620 100 9,555 95
individually impaired (3) - {2} -
Collectively impaired! (1 - (12 -
Total allowance for impairment (14 - (13) -

1 The coliectively impaired provision includes provisions held against loans winich are included 1n the reither past due nor impaired, the past due but nolmparred

and the portfolo impaired calegores shown above
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Group Company

31 Deceimber 31 December

2017 2017

£ rmillion E'million

Allowance for impairment at 1 January 7 (7
Write-of's 1 1
Balance sheet reclassiication of operational loss provision - -
Increase in iImpairment allowance 8 (8)
Allowance for impairment at 31 December (15) (13)

Credit imparment charges of £8.2 milion in the consolidated staterment of comprehensive iIncome are shown net of recoveries on

previcusly written off lcans

Past due but not impaired

The gross amounts of oans and advances ta custemers that were past due but notimpaired was as follows:

Retail-residential Retail-consumer Total Asset and Total

maortgages Commercial and other (Company) Invoice Finance 1Group)

31 Decernber 2017 E'million L'milien L'millicen E'milhon E'mitlion E'rmillion
Past due less than 7 days 27 37 1 65 - 65
Past due /=50 days 19 19 1 39 - 39
Past due 51-60 days 7’ - 1 3 - 3
Past due 61-90 days 1 - 1 2 - 2
Over 90 days - - - - - -
Total 49 56 4 108 - 109

24, Liquidity risk

Ligwdity risk 15 the risk that do not have sufficient financial resources to meet cur obligations as they fall due, or will have to do se atan

exXCessive cost

Liquidity risk management

Detars of how we manage our liquidity nsk can be found on page 35

Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities

The tables below set out the matunty structure of our financial assets and liabilities by their earliest possible contractual maturity
date, this differs from the behavioural maturity characteristics in both normat and stressed conditions. The behavioural maturity of
customer deposits 15 much longer than their contractual maturnity On a contractual basis these are repayable on demand or at short
notice, however in reality are static in nature and provide long-term stable funding for our operations and liquidity. Equally our
Loans and advances to customers, specifically mortgages, are lent on longer contractual terms however are often redeemed or

remortgaged ear.ier
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24, Liquidity risk continued

The total balances depicted in the analysis do not reconcie with the carrying amounts as disclased in the conso.dated balance sheet
This 1s because the matur ty analysis incorporates all the exopected future cash f.ows, on an undiscountec bags,

No
Repayable Upto 6-12 Cver  contractual
on demand 3 months 3—-6 months months 1-5 years S years maturity Total
Group £million E'million £'million E'million £'million £'miltion E'million £'million
31 December 2018
Cash and balances with the
Bank of Engand 2,286 - - - - - - 2,286
Loans and advances to banks 186 - - - - - - 186
Loans and advances to customers - 313 289 558 4,092 16,886 374 22,512
Investment securities - a8 321 407 3,273 290 - 4,389
Total financial assets 2,472 411 610 965 7.365 17176 374 29,373
Other assets - 113 1 2 379 3 - 498
Total assets 2,472 524 ol1 967 7,744 17179 374 29,871
Deposits from customers {10,818) (964) {686) {1,587) {954} - {700} (15,709}
Deposits from centra: banks - {7) 9) {19) {3,871} - - (3.506}
Debt securities - - (7 {7 {297} - - (311}
Repurchase agreements - - {1) (37) (259} - {58) (355}
Other habilities - {113} - (2) {380) (3 - {498}
Total financial liabilities {10,818) (1,084} (703) (1,652} (5,761} (3) (758) {20,779}
Capital - - - - - - - -
Totat equity and liabilities (10,818} {1,084} (703} (1,652} {5,761 (3} {758} (20.779)
Cumulative liquidity gap (8,346) {8,906} (8.998) {9,683} (7,700} 9476 - -
No
Repayable Up to 6-12 contractual
on demand 3 months  3-6 months morths 1-5years  Over § years matunty Total
Group E'million E'midlion E'rmilhion £'million E'rmilion E'mitlion £'millian f rmidlion
31 December 2017
Cash and balances with the
Bank of Engiang 2,112 - - - - 2112
Loans and advances to banks 100 - - - - - - 100
Loans and advances to customers - 188 173 453 2,720 10,458 295 14,187
Investrment securities - 56 62 459 2.990 611 - 4178
Total financial assets 2,212 244 235 B12 5,710 11,069 295 20,577
Other assets - 116 - - 53 5 2 176
Total assets 2212 360 235 812 5763 11,074 297 20,753
Deposits from customers (8437} {(565) {389) 1,129} (598} - (581 (11,689
Deposits from central banks - {32} {1} (92} - - (125}
Repurchase agreements - (3 (4 (10} {3.39¢6} - - {3413}
Other habilities (n (116} (54} 5 - (176}
Total financial liabilities (8,438) (716) (393} {1,240} (4,140) {5) (h81) (15413)
Capital - - - - - - - -
Total equity and liabilities (8.438) (716} (393} (1,140 (4,140 5 (B8N (15413)
Cumulative liquidity gap {6,226} {6.582) 6,740 (7068) (5,445) 5624 - -
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24. Liquidity risk continued

Financial assets pledged as collateral

We have p.edged £5 768 million (202/ £4.4/8 milion) of assets as encumbered coliateral which can be cal.ed upon in the event of

defauit Of this, £1,/62 miluon (2017 £2.419 mihon) 1s made up of high-quality secunties and £4,006 mulion (2017 £2,059 milion)is
from our own .ean portfolio prepositionad with the Bank of Cngland to support some of the Term Funding Scheme (T1FS] drawings

£5,412 milion (2017 £4,358 rmullicn) of this encumbered col.ateral 1s p.edged to the Bank of England through the Bank's participation
N the TFS to support the £4,801 million (2017 £3,321melion) of cash drawn down

The remaining £356 milion (2017 £120 rmulion) is pledged with the Bank of [ngiand and market participants in the form of
repurchase agreements

While we have drawn down borrowings from the Bank of England’s Term Funding Scheme [TFS). our business model is primarly that
of a depasit-led bank - with more deposits than ioans At the 31 December 2018 our loan-to-depaosit ratio was 91% (31 December 201/
82%) 11 line with our long teon target The closure of the |FS drawdown window in 2018 will not adversety affect us from the
perspective of obtaining future fundirg. We anucipate refinancing cur T0S drawings thiough future deposit growth,

25. Market risk
Market nisk 1s the risk that changes in market prices, such as nterest rates will affect our ncome or the value of our boidings of financial

nstruments

Market risk management
Details of how we manage our market risk can be found on page 36

Interest rate risk

We are exposed to movements In interest rates arnsing from the mismatch between the dates on which :nterest recevable on financia.
assets and interest payable on financial liabilit es are next reset to market rates. We manage this risk within a risk appetite framework
that Is set and approved by the Board

Limits are set for the economic va.ue of equity {LVE) and net interest income {NII') £VE shall not drop more than £25 miluon based on
the worse of a +200bps or -200bps instantaneouws symmetncal paralle: shock to interest rates. and one-year NIl shall not drop more
than £15 millon based on the same shock The CVE and NIl imits are monitored daily by risk Performance against limits are reported
monthly to the ALCO (with exceptions corrymunicated by email) and more regularly to senior management, as weil as being noted by
the Risk Oversight Commuittee and the Board.

Furthermore, a £15 miluon amit s set for a set of asymmetrical movernents between LIBOR and the Bank of England Base Rate
Cur Treasury Risk function runs a series of other interest rate nsk simulations on a monthly basis to ensure that the ALCO is kept

updated of any other risks not captured by the paolicy measures

While we occasionally enter mto hedging arrangements the impact of these arrangements 1s immaterial
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25. Market risk continued

The tables oelow set cut the interest rate nisk repricing gaps of our balarce sheet in the specified tme buckets, indicat ng how much of
each type of asset and liability reprices in the indicated penods

Up to Non-interest

3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months 1-Syears Over 5 years bearing Total
31 December 2018 £'million E'millien £'million E'million £'milicn £'milion £'million
Loans and advances to banks - - - - - 186 186
Loans and advances to customers 5,235 579 1184 7186 51 - 14,235
Other assets 5,644 - 50 751 - 781 7.226
Total assets 10,879 579 1,234 7937 51 967 21,647
Deposits from customers {7,914) {683) {1,565) {929} - (4,570} (15,661}
Other labilities (3,949) - - {445} - {189) {4,583)
Shareholders funds - - - - - (1,403) {1,403}
Total liabilities (11,863} (683) (1,565) {1,374) - {6.162) (21.647)
Interest rate sensitivity gap {984) (104) {331) 6,563 51 (5,195) -
Cumulative gap (984) (1,088) {1.419) 5,144 5,195 - -

Up to Nan-interest

3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months 1-5years Qver 5 years bearing Total
31 December 2017 Emilion £'milion E'milhon E'milion E'million E'mmilion £'milion
Loans and advances to banks - - - - 100 100
Loans and advances to customers 4173 545 /53 4311 37 3 9620
Other assets 5,586 42 137 478 - 362 6,635
Total assets 9./59 385 890 4 /89 37 495 16,355
Deposits from customers (5,853) (596) 1.124} (609; - {3,.487) (11,669}
Other liabilities (3,505 - (1} (52} 5) (26) {3.589)
Shareholders' funds - - - - - {1,097) {1,097}
Total liabilities 8,358 (596) (1,125} 661) (%) (1.610) {16,355)
Interest rate sensitivity gap 401 (211) {235) 4128 32 (4.115) -
Cumulative gap 401 190 {45} 4083 4115 - -

A positive Interest rate sensitivity gap exists when more assets than liabilities reprice during a given period A positive gap position tends
to benefit net interest income in an environment whaere interest rates are rising, howgever, the actual effect will depend en a number of
factors includmg actual repayment dates and interest rate sensitivities within the banding periods The converse Is frue for a negative

interest rate sensitivity gap

The below shows the sensitivity arising from the regulatory scenario of a +200bps and -200bps parallel interest rate shock for a
one-year forecasting period upon projected net interest income

200bps decrease

200bps (not floored
ncregse at zero)
Sensitvity of projected net interest income to parallel interest rate shock for a one-year forecasting pened f'rmilion f'rrullion
At 31 December 2018 (3.4) 2.8
At 31 December 201/ {76) 71

There is no matenal difference between the interest rate risk profile for the Group and that for the Company.
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26. Financial commitments

Accounting policy To meel the financial neads of our customers, we enter Into vanous irevecable commitments. These generally
cons st of inancia: guarantees, letters of credil and other undrawn commitments to lend.

Even though these obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet, they do contain credit nsk and an ECL
1s calcu.ated and recogrised for them (see note 23).

When these commitments are drawn down or caled upon, and meet the recogmition criteria as detailed in note §,
these are recogmsed within our loans and advances to customers.

At 5. December 2018, we had undrawn loan facilities granted to retall and commercial custormers of E883 milion {2017: L688 million)

In addition. as part of our retall and commercial operations, we had commitments of £242 million {2017 £138 miion) in respect of
credit card and overdraft faciities. These commitments represent agreements to lend in the future, subject to certain conditions
Such comrritments are cancellacle. subject to notice reguirements, and given their nature are not expected tc be drawn down to
the full level of excosure.

27. Fair value of financial instruments

Accounting policy Determination of fair value

‘Fair value' is the price that would be recewved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a hability in an order.y transaction

between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous

rnarket to which we have access at that date. The fair value of a hability reflocts its non-performance risk.

[ order to show how fair values have been derived. inancial nstruments are classified based on a hierarchy

of valuation technigues, as summarised below

» Levet 1 financial instruments —-Those where the inputs used in the valuation are unadyusted quoted prices from
active markets for identicai assets or labilities that we have access to at the measurernent date We consider
rmarkets as active anly «f there are sufficient trading activities with regards to the volume and liguidity of the
identical assets or liabilites and when there are binding and exercisable price quotes avaiable on the balance
sheet date

+ Level 2 financial instruments —Those where the inputs that are used for valuation and are significant, are
derived from directly or indirectly observable market data avallable over the entire period of the instrument’s life.
Such inputs -nclude quoted prices for similar assets or babllities in active markets, quoted pnces foridentical
instruments N inactive markets and cbservable inputs other than quoted prices such as interest rates and yield
curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads. In addition, adjustments may be required for the condition or
location of the asset or the extent to which it relates to ttems that are comparable to the valued instrument
However If such adjustments are based on unobservable 1mputs which are sigmficant o the entire
measurement, we will classify the instrurnents as Level 5

« Level 3 financial instruments —Those that include ane or more unchservable nput that s significant to the
measurement as whole.
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27. Fair value of financial instruments continued

With significant

Carrying Quoted market Using observable unobservable Total
value price Level 1 inputs Level 2 inputs Level 3 fair value

Group £ million E'million E'millicn £'million E'millicn
31 December 2018
Assets
Loans and advances to banks 186 - - 186 186
Loans and advances to customers 14,235 - - 14,857 14,857
Investment securities 4,132 1,212 2,891 - 4,103
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 15,661 - - 15,605 15,605
Deposits frorm central bank 3,801 - - 3,801 3,801
Lebt securties 249 219 - - 219
Repurchase agreements 344 - - 344 344
31 December 2017
Assets
Loans and advances to banks 100 - - 100 100
Loans and advances to customers 9620 - - 10,084 10,084
Investment securities 3915 322 3,029 - 3051
Liabilities
Ceposits frem customers 11,665 - - 11,650 11.650
Deposits from central bank 3,321 - - 5,321 3321
Repurchase agreements 121 - - 122 122

For cash and balances with the Bank of England and repurchase agreements, the carrying value approximates to the farr value, and
therefore no pricing level has been identified for them in the above table.

Information on how farr values are calculated for the hnancial assets and liabiuties noted above are explained below:

Cash and balances with the Bank of England/loans and advances to banks
Fair value 1s catculated based on the present value of future pnincipal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of nterest
at the balance sheet date. Fair values approximate carrying arnounts as their balances are genera.ly short-dated

Leoans and advances to customers

Fair value 15 calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at lhe market rate of intercst
at the balance sheet date, adjusted for future credit losses and prepayments, If considered matenai.

Investment securities

The fair value of investment securities is based on either observed market prices for those securities that have an active trading market

(fair value Level 1 assets), or using observable inputs (in the case of fair value Leve. 2 assets)

Deposits from customers

Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying current rates offered for deposts of sim-lar remaining maturiues.
[he fair value of a deposit repayable ort demand is approximated by 1ts carrying value

Debt securities

Fair values are determined using the guoted market price at the balance sheet date.

Deposits from central banks/repurchase agreements
Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying current rates. Fair values approximate carrying amounts as therr

balances are generady short-dated.
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28. Related parties

Key management personnel

Our key management personnel, and persons connected with them, are considered to be re.ated parties for disclosure purposes
Key management persannel are defined as those persons having authonty and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Group The Directors and members of the Executive Leadership Team are considered to be the key management
personne. for disclosure purposes

Key management cormpensation
Totai compensation cos: for key rmanagement personnel for the year by category of benefit was as foliows

2018 2017
Group E'million E'million
Short-term benefits 6.0 48
Share-based payment Costs 31 2.4
Total compensation for key management personnel 9.1 7.2

Short-term employee benefits include salary, medical insurance, bonuses and cash allowances paio to key management personnel.
The share-based payment cost inciudes the IFRS 2 charge for the year associated with isting awards awarded in previous years.

lhe cost includes the In-year IFRS 2 costs for Listing Share Awards granted to selected key management personnel in recognition
of their significant contribution to the successful private placement and admission of Metro Bank 1o the London Stock Exchange.

Banking transactions with key management personnel
We provide banking services to Directors and other key management personnel and persons connected to them Loan transactions
during the year and the palances outstanding at 31 December were as follows

2018 2017
Group £'million £ million
Loans outstanding at 1 January 3.0 32
Loans relating to persons and companies newly considered related parties 0.1 -
Loans relating to persons and companies no longer considered related parties - 0.3)
Loans outstanding as at 1 january for current key management personnel and their connected persons 31 29
Loans issued during the year 08 0.4
Loan repayments during the year (0.1) 03
Loans outstanding as at 31 December 3.8 30
Interest expense on loans payable to the Group (E'000) 82 80

Fhere were ten (31 December 201/ seven) .oans outstanding at 31 Decernper 2018 totalling £3 8 million (31 December 201/
£5 0 mitlion). Of these, nine are residential mortgages secured on praperty and one 15 an unsecured loan; all lcans were provided
on our standard commercia: terms

In addition to the loans detailed above, the bank has issued credit cards and granted overdraft facilities on current accounts to Directors
and key rmanagement personnel

Credit card balances outstanding at 31 December were as follows

2018 2017
Group £:000 £000
Credit cards outstanding as at 31 December 24 27
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28. Related parties continued
Depaosit balances outstanding at 31 Decermber were as follows

2018 2017
Group E'million E'rmillion
Deposits held at 1 January 34 te
Deposits re.ating to persons and companies newly considered related parties 03 -
Deposits re.ating to persons and compantes no longer considered relaled parties (0.2) (3.0)
Deposits held as at 1 January for current key managernent personnel and their connected persons 35 2.2
Net amounts deposited 10 1.2
Deposits outstanding as at 3 December 45 54
Other transactions with related parties
The folowing transactions were carried out with related parties

2018 2017
Group £000 E£000
Architectural design services 4,084 4,135
Creative and brand services 498 513
iotal purchase of services with entities connected to key rmanagement personnel 4,582 4648
Amounts outstanding as at 31 December owed oy Metro Bank 51 23

Architecture, desian, creative and brand services are provided by InterArch, Inc. (InterArch’), a firm which s owned by Shirley Hill,
the wife of Vernaon W Hill, Il the Chairrman.

In order to ensure that the terms of the InterArch arrangements are consistent with those that could be obtained from an independent
third party. and in accordance with the Articles, the contractual arrangements with InterArch are subject to an annual review by our
Audit Commiittee using benchmarking reviews conducted by independent third parties For the architectura: design contract, which
covers the build and design of our stores, a big four prefessicnal services firms carnes out the benchmarking review, The creative and
brand services contract which covers branding, marketing and advertising services is reviewed by the largest independent guobat
rnarketing audit firm. For 2018, having reviewaed the output from the independent audit of cach cortract, the Audit Commuttee has
concluded that the contracts for services with InterArch are at arm’s length and are at least as beneficial as those which could be
obtained in the market from an alternative supplier.

In crder to expand the suppliers used, the management intends to run a competitive tender in 2019 to identfy an addiionae alternative
supplier of architecture services

Further detalls of the review conducted by the Audit Committee can be found on page 71

Architectural design services

interArch provide various architectural design services, including pre-design, architectural design, intenior design, construction
managerment, landscape architectural, signage, security design and layout and procurement services The fee structure for each
project Is based on a fixed percentage of firal construction costs. Certain additional services are provided on ar hourly basis.
The contract for architectural design services has recently been renegotiated As part of the renegotiation, any recommendations
of the independent audit have been picked up and included in the contract.

Creative and brand services

InterArch aiso provide branding, marketing and advertising services The contract for crealive and brand services has recently been
renegotiated As part of the renegotiation, any recommendations of the independent audit have been picked up and INcluded in
the contract.

For 2019, both the architectural design services and creative and brand services contracts have been aligned to be effective from

28 February 2019, for one year. In addition, both contracts have been subjected to the bank’s recently adopted supplier risk
management process
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29. Capital management

Captta. 1s held to protect our depositors, cover our inherent risks, provide a cushion for stress events and to support our business
strategy. In assessing the adequacy of our capital resources, we consider our business p.an. nsk appetite, the material risks to which

we are exposed and the appropnate strategies required to manage those nisks We prepare an annual Interna. Capital Adeguacy
Assessment Process document that sets out how we identify and manage the key risks to which we are exposed and detans our capita,
reguirements, capita: resources and capital adequacy over the planning period, ncluding under stress scenarios. This process 1s used
to ensure that we apply appropnate management buffers to requlatory capital reguirements in line with nsk appetite.

In arder to approprately monitor and manage the Bank’s capital resources, we progduce regular reports on the current and forecasted
level of caprital for the Board and the Executive Leadership Team {chaired by the Chief Executive Officer). The key assumptions and nisk
drivers used to create the stress tests are regulariy monitored and reported, and are used in determining how we will evolve our capital
resources and ensure they are approprate for growth,

We manage capital in accordance with prudential rules issued by the PRA and FCA, in iine with the CU Capita. Requirements Direclive
In June 2013 the Eurcpean Parliament approved new capital reforms (referred to as "CRD V), which implements Basel Il in Curope.
CRD IV legislation has been effoctive from 1 January 2014, Woe are caommitted to maintaining a strong cagital base under both existing
and future regulatory reguirements.

The strength of our capital base 1s dependent upon the size of our capital relative to Risk Weighted Assets. In January 2019, we
anncunced that we had adjusted the nisk weighting of certain commercial loans secured on commercial property and centain specalist
buy-to-let loans that had the combined effect of increasing our RWAs by £300 million. Whulst the nisk weightings have been adjusted,
there is no deterioration in the credit quality of the affected assets. We are learning the lessons from this and wilt contirue to Improve
our systems and controls around capitat and risk-weighted assets

2018 2017
Group E'million £'rllion
Ordinary share capital - -
Share premium 1,605 1,304
Retained earnings (209) [219)
Intangib e assets (197) {148)
Deferred tax asset (CLT1 ecernent) (54) {57}
Deferred tax lability {CLT1 element) 7 °
Other reserves 7 12
IFRS 9 transitional adjustment 12 -
Total Tier 1 capital (CET1) 1171 897
Debt securities 249 -
Total Tier 2 capital 249 _
Total regulatory capital 1,420 89/
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30. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attnbutable o cordinary equity holders of Metro Bank by the weighted
average nurnber of ardinary shares in issue during the year

2018 2017
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders of Metro Bank (£ million) 271 108
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue - basic (000) 92,964 84,412
Basic earnings per share {pence) 29.1 128

Diluted earnings per share has been calculaled by dividing the earnings attnbutable to ordinary equily holders of Metro Bank by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year pius the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would
be issued on the conversion to shares of options granted to colleagues. For the year to 31 December 2018 1.7 mikion share options
were anti-dilutive and excluded from the weighted average number of shares {year 1o 31 December 2017 ni}

2018 2017
Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders of Metro Bank {E'mitlion) 271 108
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue — diluted ("000) 95,853 85,92/
Diluted earnings per share {pence) 28.2 1256

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of the
completion of these financial statements which would reguire the restaterment of EPS.

31. Investment in subsidiary undertakings

Accounting policy We apply the acquision method to account for basiness combinations, The financal statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases Inter-Company transactions and balances are edmimated upon consoudation. All subsidiaries
follow the same accounting policies as the Group.

The Group had the following subsidiaries at 33 December 2018

Proportion of Proportion of

ordinary shares ordinary shares

Country of incorporation directly held by directly held by

Narne and place of business Nature of business the Parent %) the Group (%)
SME Invoice Finance Limited UK Invorce financing and factering 100 -
SME Asset Finance Limited UK Asset finance - 100
RDM factors Limited UK Dormant - 100

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The proportion of the voting nights in the subsidiary undertakings held
directly by the Parent Company do not differ frem the proportior of ordinary shares held

Transactions between the Company and Group subsidiaries

2018 2017

£'million £'millron

Interest on inter-Company toan with SME Asset/Invoice Finance 6.1 4.1
Amounts outstanding as at 31 December owed by SME Asset/Invoice Finance 305 215

Details of the reqistered offices of all our Group companies can be found on page 166,
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32. Post balance sheet events

Risk weighted asset restatement

On 23 January 2019 we announced that we had adjusted the risk weighting of certain commercial loans secured on commercia.
property and certain specialist buy-to-let loans that had the combined effect of increasing our RWAs by £300 million. Whist the risk
weightings have been adjusted, there s no detenioration in the credit quality of the affected assets We are learning the lessors from
this and will continue to Improve our systems and controls around capital and nisk-weighted assets

There is no wmpact to any of the financial information disclosed N these or prior years' financial statements as a result of this
adjustment.

RBS alternative remedies package application outcome
On 22 February 2019 we were awarded £120 millon from the RBS alternative remedies package-capability and innaovation fund,
the largest award available.

The hinancal ellects of this award have not been recognised al 31 Decernber 2018, This transaction will reflected in our results from
lhe date we are canlractually entitled to the funds.

Equity raise
On 26 February 2019 we announced our intentions to raise ¢ £350 milion in additional equity As part of this we have a commutted
standby underwrite in place to support this raise

The financal effects of th.s equity raise have not been recogmsed at 31 December 2018, but will reflected -n our results from the date
any raise is undertaken

PRA and FCA investigation
On 26 February 2019 we received notification that the PRA and FCA are investigating the circumstances and events that lad to the RWA

adjustment announced on 23 January 2019.

No adjustments have been made to these financial statements in respect of these Investigations,
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COUNTRY-BY-COUNTRY REPORTING

Metro Bank end its subsidiaries only cperate with the United Kingdom {UK') and are all UK registered entities. The Parent Company,
Metro Bank, s a credit institution for the purposes of CRD IV and 1s therefcre w thin the scape of CBCR Qur activizes are disclosea

within note 1 to the financial statements.

For the purposes of CBCR. the appropriate disc.osures required are summarised below.

UK
Number of employees (average full-time equivalent) 3,552
Turnover (£'miliion) 404.1
Profit before tax (E'rmillion) 40.6
Tax expense (E'million) 135
36

Corporation tax paid {E'milion)

No pubuc subsidies were receved dunng the year
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TO THE DIRECTORS OF METRO BANK PLC
ON COUNTRY-BY-COUNTRY INFORMATION

Report on the audit of the country-by-country information

Opinion

In our opinion, Metro Bank PLC's country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2018 has been properly
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country
Reporting) Regulations 2013.

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2018 in the Annual Report and
Accounts.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("I1SAs (UK)"), including ISA (UK) 800 and
ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under I1SAs {(UK) are further described in the Auditors' respensibilities for
the audit of the country-by-country information section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
country-by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation

In ferming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to the relevant
note of the country-by-country information which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-country information
is prepared for the directors for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Capital Requirements {Country-by-
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. The country-by-country information has therefore been prepared in accordance with
a special purpose framework and, as a result, the country-by-country information may not be suitable for another purpose.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which 1SAs (UK) require us to report to you when:

» thedirectors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the country-by-country information is
not appropriate; or

» thedirectors have not disclosed in the country-by-country information any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of
at least twelve months from the date when the country-by-country information is authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report and Accounts other than the country-by-
country information and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other infermation. Our opinicn
on the country-by-country information does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the country-by-country information, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the country-by-country information or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material
misstatement of the country-by-country information or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.
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TO THE DIRECTORS OF METRO BANK PLC
ON COUNTRY-BY-COUNTRY INFORMATION CONTINUED

Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the
requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis of
preparation and accounting policies in note 1, and for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are
acceptable in the circumstances. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of country-by-country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liguidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to de so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information
It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements {Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

Qur cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this country-by-country information.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located on the FRC's
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report

Use of this report

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s directors in accordance with the
Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person té whom this report is shown
or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

The engagement parther responsible for this audit is Darren Meek
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London
10 Aprit 2019
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Application programming
interface (API')

Common equity tier 1 capital
('CET1)

Debt-to-value ratio DTV
Expected credit loss {'ECL)
Exposure at default (‘'EAD")
Encumbered assets

Forbearance

Financial services

compensation scheme ('FSCS’)

Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process ('ICAAP)

Internal Ratings-Based
approach ('IRB’)

Loss given default ('LGD’)
Partiatly Exemption Special

Method ('PESM’}
Probability of default {'PD’}

Regulatory leverage ratio
Risk weighted assets ((RWA')

Term funding scheme ('TFS')
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The protocols, routines, functions and/or commands that programmers use to develop
software or facilitate interaction between distinct systems.

The highest quality form of regutatory capital under CRD IV that comprises common
shares issued and related share premium, retained earnings and other reserves less
specified regulatory adjustments. A breakdown of our CETL capital can be found in
note 29.

The ratio of the gross cutstanding amount to the indexed value of the collateral.
The present value of the amount expected to be lost on a financial asset,
The amount that we expect to be owed at the point of default.

Assets recognised on the balance sheet which have been pledged as collateral against an
existing liability, and as a result are assets which are unavailable for us to secure funding
or be sold to reduce potential future funding requirements.

Forbearance takes place when a concession is made on the contractual terms of a loanin
response to an borrowers financial difficulties.

The statutory deposit insurance and investors compensation scheme for customers of UK
authorised banks, building societies and credit unions. The scheme protects up to £85,000
per depasitor in the event of the firms insolvency.

Our own assessment, based on Basel Il requirements, of the levels of capital that we need
to hold in respect of our regulatory capital requirements.

A methodology of estimating the credit risk within a portfolio by utilising internal risk
parameters to calculate credit risk regulatory capital requirements. There are two
approaches to IRB: Foundation IRB and Advanced IRB.

The estimated loss which will arise if a customer defaults. |t is expressed as a percentage
considering expected recoveries on defaulted accounts.

A special method is a calcutation agreed with HMRC which is different to their standard
method. It enables us to calculate how much input value added tax {'VAT') we may recover.

The likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation either over the next
12 months {for Stage 1 accounts), or over the remaining lifetime of the loan (for Stage 2
and 3 accounts).

The ratio of our common equity tier 1 capital (see above) compared to our total assets.

A measure of our assets adjusted for their associated risk. Risk weightings are applied in
accordance with the Basel Capital Accord as implemented by the Prudential Regulation
Authority (PRA’).

A scheme implemented by the Bank of England which provides funding to banks and
building societies at rates close to Base Rate. Itis designed to encourage lenders to reflect
cuts in Base Rate in the interest rates faced by households and businesses.
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE
MEASURES wunaupiTED)

In the reporting of financial Informaticn, we use certain measures that are not required under [FRS, the Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles { GAAF) under which we report. These measures are consistent with those used by management to assess underlying

performance In addiion, a number of non-IFRS metrics are calcuiated which are common.y used within the banking industry.

These a'ternative performance measures have been definec below

Cost of risk

Cost of deposits

Loan-to-deposit
ratio

Net interest
margin (‘NIM’)

Impairment charges net of debt recovenies divided by simple average gross wans for the year

2018 2017

£'million £'erullion

Credit impairment charges n/a 8.2
Expected credit loss expense 80 n/a
Average gross lending 12,005 7,587
Cost of risk 0.07% 011%

Interest expense {excluding interest on FLS, TFS and repos) divided by the average deposits from customers for

the year
2018 2017
£'million E'milion
Interest expense 1143 61.0
Interest on FLS, TFS and repos (23.4} {70
Interest on debt securities (7.2) -
Customer interest expense 837 540
Average depaosits from customer 13,610 9785
Cost of deposits 0.61% 0.54%

Leans and advances to customer expressed as a percentage of total deposits Itis a commonly used ratio within

the banking industry to assess liquidity.

2018 2017

£'million E'rrullion

Loans and advances to custormers 14,235 9620

Deposits from customer 15,661 11688

Loan-to-deposit ratio 91% 82%
MNet interest income as a percentage of average interest-earning assets.

2018 2017

£'miltion £'million

Net interest income 3301 2410

Average Interest-earning assets 18.279 12.466

Net interest margin {'NIM’) 1.81% 1.93%
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deposit net
interest margin
{'Customer NIM'}

Underlying profit
before tax

Underlying
earnings per
share (basic
and diluted)

STRATEGIC REPORT
GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Refiecting the interest return from the investment of our custemer deposits.

2018 2017

£million L'miltion
Net interest Income 330.1 241.0
Adjustments for customer netinterest income
Plus interest expense on lerm Funding Scheme (1S 22.7 5.4
Plus interest expense on repurchase agreements 0.7 16
Plus interest expense on debt secunties 7.2 -
Less interest iIncome on nvestment securiies (79.2) (56.9)
Plus return on deposits not lent! 18.9 257
Net customer interest income 3004 2148
Average deposits from customers 13,610 9785
Customer net interest margin (‘Customer NIM’) 2.21% 2.19%
1 Calcuiated as Treasary Lqu.aity y eld ® [average custormer deposis less average loanst
Underlying profit before tax represents an adjusted measure, excluding the effect of certain iterms that are
considered to distort year-on-year comparisons in order to provide readers with a better and more relevant
understanding of the underlying trends in e business. A reconcilialion from statutory profit before tax to
underlying profit before tax is set cut below.
Whete undoertying orofit before tax s reported for a quarter, the undertying profit belore lax also excludes the
impact of the FSCS levy due to the timings of this charge

2018 2017

£'million £'milhon
Statutory profit before tax 40.6 18/
Add back
listing Share Awards 0.8 14
Costs relating to RBS alternative remedies package application 3.8 Gl
Impairment of property, plant and eguipment and intangib.e assets 4.8 06
Underlying profit before tax 50.0 239

Underlying profit dwided by the weighted average number of basic/diluted shareholders as d sclosed i note 30,

We also disclose a number of capital and liguidity metnics which are required by the PRA and FCA  The basis of calculation of those
metncsas defined within the relevant legislation.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Registered and other offices
The Company’s registered office and head office is:

One Southampton Row
London
WC1B SHA

Telephone: 0345 08 08 500/0345 08 08 508
Website: www.metrobankonline.co.uk

Other subsidiaries of the Company are also registered at the same registered office and head office of the Company.

Registrars
The Company has appointed Equiniti Limited to maintain its register of members. Shareholders should contact Equiniti using
the details below in relation to all general enquiries concerning their shareholding:

Equiniti Limited®

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA
Telephone: 0371 384 2030?
International callers: +44 121 415 7047

1.Equiniti Limited and Equiniti Financial Services Limited are part of the Equiniti group of companies. Company share registration, employee scheme and pension administration
services are provided through Equiniti Limited, which is registered in England and Wales with No. 6226088 Investment and general insurance services are provided through
Equiniti Financial Services Limited, which is registered in Engtand and Wales with No. 6208699 and is authorised and regulated by the UK Financial Conduct Authority.

2.Lines are open from 8.30 to 5.30pm (UK time) Monday to Friday. excluding public holidays in England and Wales.

2019 Financial Calendar

Annual General Meeting — 21 May 2019
First quarter results - 1 May 2019

Half year results — 24 July 2019

Third quarter results — 23 October 2019

These are preliminary dates and may be subject to change.

Unsolicited mail

The Company is required by law to make its share register available on request to unconnected organisations.

As a consequence, shareholders may receive unsolicited mail, including mail from unauthorised investrment firms,
If you wish to limit the amount of unsolicited mail received, please contact the Mailing Preference Service,

an independent organisation whose services are free for consumers.

Further details can be obtained from:
Mailing Preference Service

MPS Freepost LON 20771

London

WI1E OZT

Website: www.mpsonline.org.uk
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Annual General Meeting

The Company’s next Annual General Meeting will take place on 21 May 2019 at the Bank’s registered office address at One
Southampton Row, London WC1B 5HA, at 1:30pm. The Chairmen of each of the Board's Committees will be present to

answer questions put to them by shareholders.

The Annual General Meeting gives shareholders an opportunity to hear about the general development of the business and
to ask questions of the Chairman and the Chairmen of the various Committees.

Foreward looking statements

This annual report contains statements that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-locking statements. Forward-looking
statements typically use terms such as 'believes’, ‘projects’, ‘anticipates’, ‘'expects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘may’, ‘will’, ‘would’, ‘could’
or ‘should’ or similar terminology. Any forward-looking statements in this annual report are based on the Company's current
expectations and, by their nature, forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of
which are beyond the Company's control, that could cause the Company’s actual results and performance to differ
materialty from any expected future results or performance expressed or implied by any forward-locoking statements. As a
result, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. Past performance should not be
taken as an indication or guarantee of future results, and no representation or warranty, expressed or implied, is made

regarding future performance.

No assurances can be given that the forward-looking statements in this annual report will be realised. The Company
undertakes no obligation to release the results of any revisions to any forward-looking statements in this annual report that
may occur due to any change in its expectations or to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this announcement

and the Company disclaims any such obligation.

Shareholder profile by size of holding as at 31 December 2018

Total number
Total of shares held at

number of Percentage 31 December Percentage

Range hoidings of holders 2018 af total

1-1.000 194 36.00% 56,002 0.06%

1.001-5,000 82 15.30% 195,174 0.20%

5.001-10.000 53 9.89% 398,606 0.41%

10,001-50,000 104 19.40% 2,355,770 242%

50,001-100,000 34 6.34% 2,470,508 2.54%

100,002-500,000 42 7.84% 9,959.403 10.22%

500.001-1,000.,000 12 2.24% 8,145,602 B.36%

1.000.001 and above 16 2.99% 73,833,372 75.79%

Total 537 100.00% 97,418,437 100.00%
Shareholder profile by category as at 31 December 2018

Percentage of Shares held at Percentage of

Number of holders within 31 December issued share

Category halders type 2018 capital

Private shareholders 142 26.44% 2,243,515 2.30%

Banks 3 0.56% 10,210 0.01%

Nominees and other institutiona investors 392 73.00% 95,164,712 97.69%

Total 537 100.00% 97,418,437 100.00%

It should be noted that many private investors hold their shares through nominee companies and therefore the percentage
of shares held by private shareholders may be higher than that shown.
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10 NEW LOCATIONS

IN 2018

Piccadilly Northampton
Bristol Crawley
Watford Bath
Putney Oxford

Ashford

Southampton



